il

Tewkesbury
Borough Council

11 March 2024

Committee Planning

Date Tuesday, 19 March 2024

Time of Meeting 9:30 am

Venue Tewkesbury Borough Council Offices,
Severn Room

ALL MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE ARE REQUESTED
TO ATTEND

Agenda

1. ELECTION OF CHAIR
To elect a Chair for the remainder of the Municipal Year.
2. ANNOUNCEMENTS

When the continuous alarm sounds you must evacuate the building by the
nearest available fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the
visitors’ car park at the front of the building and await further instructions
(during office hours staff should proceed to their usual assembly point;
outside of office hours proceed to the visitors’ car park). Please do not re-
enter the building unless instructed to do so.

In the event of a fire any person with a disability should be assisted in
leaving the building.

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

To receive apologies for absence and advise of any substitutions.

Gloucester Road Tewkesbury Glos GL20 5TT Democratic Services Tel: (01684) 272021
Email: democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk Website: www.tewkesbury.gov.uk



mailto:democraticservices@tewkesbury.gov.uk

ltem Page(s)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Pursuant to the adoption by the Council on 24 January 2023 of the
Tewkesbury Borough Council Code of Conduct, effective from 1 February
2023, as set out in Minute No. CL.72, Members are invited to declare any
interest they may have in the business set out on the Agenda to which the
approved Code applies.

MINUTES 5-32
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 February 2024.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH
COUNCIL

(a) 23/00930/0UT - Part Parcel 4256, Homedowns, Tewkesbury 33-62
PROPOSAL: Residential development of up to 30 residential
dwellings, associated works (including demolition), open space,
infrastructure and landscaping with vehicular access from the A46(T).

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Delegated permit.

(b) 23/00964/FUL - Land Adjacent Shurdington House Stables, Main 63 - 102
Road, Shurdington

PROPOSAL.: Erection of five detached dwellings with associated
infrastructure including detached single storey garages, landscaping
and construction of two new accesses from Shurdington Road.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.

(c) 22/01220/FUL - Land Off Old Gloucester Road and South Part 103 -122
Parcel 5800, Old Gloucester Road, Boddington

PROPOSAL: Change of use of land to private Gypsy/Traveller site.
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.
(d) 23/01132/FUL - 12A Beverley Gardens , Woodmancote 123 -136

PROPOSAL.: First floor extension and single storey rear and side
extension.

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: Permit.
CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE 137 - 138

To consider current planning and enforcement appeals and Department
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities appeal decisions.



ltem Page(s)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
TUESDAY, 23 APRIL 2024
COUNCILLORS CONSTITUTING COMMITTEE

Councillors: M Dimond-Brown, M A Gore, S Hands (Vice-Chair), D J Harwood, M L Jordan,
G C Madle, J R Mason, G M Porter, P E Smith (Chair), R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman
and | Yates

Substitution Arrangements

The Council has a substitution procedure and any substitutions will be announced at the
beginning of the meeting.

Recording of Meetings

In accordance with the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, please be
aware that the proceedings of this meeting may be recorded and this may include recording of
persons seated in the public gallery or speaking at the meeting. Please notify the Democratic
Services Officer if you have any objections to this practice and the Chair will take reasonable
steps to ensure that any request not to be recorded is complied with.

Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, Officers,
the public and press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or additional lighting
will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in advance of the meeting.







Agenda Iltem 5

TEWKESBURY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning Committee held at the Council Offices,
Gloucester Road, Tewkesbury on Tuesday, 20 February 2024 commencing

at 9:30 am
Present:
Chair Councillor P E Smith
Vice Chair Councillor S Hands

and Councillors:

M Dimond-Brown, M A Gore, D J Harwood, M L Jordan, G C Madle, J R Mason, G M Porter,

PL.59

59.1
59.2

PL.60

60.1

60.2

R J G Smith, R J E Vines, P N Workman and | Yates

ANNOUNCEMENTS

The evacuation procedure, as noted on the Agenda, was advised to those present.

The Chair gave a brief outline of the procedure for Planning Committee meetings,
including public speaking.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Tewkesbury Borough Code of Conduct
which was adopted by the Council on 24 January 2023 and took effect on 1
February 2023.

The following declarations were made:

Councillor Application Nature of Interest Declared
No./Agenda Item (where disclosed) Action in
respect of
Disclosure
M A Gore Item 5b — Had received letters ~ Would speak
22/00898/0OUT — and emails and had and vote.
Retained Land at direct contact with
Brickhampton the applicant in
Court, Greenfields, relation to the
Churchdown. application but had
not expressed an
opinion.
S Hands Item 5b — Had received Would speak
22/00898/0OUT — correspondence from and vote.
Retained Land at the applicant in
Brickhampton relation to the
Court, Greenfields, application but had
Churchdown. not expressed an
opinion.



D J Harwood

M L Jordan

G C Madle

J R Mason

P D Smith

P D Smith

R J G Smith

R J E Vines

Item 5¢ —
23/00275/APP —
Plots 3 & 4
Gloucester
Business Park.

Item 5b —
22/00898/0OUT —
Retained Land at
Brickhampton
Court, Greenfields,
Churchdown.

Item 5b —
22/00898/0OUT —
Retained Land at
Brickhampton
Court, Greenfields,
Churchdown.

Item 5b —
22/00898/0OUT —
Retained Land at
Brickhampton
Court, Greenfields,
Churchdown.

Item 5b —
22/00898/0OUT —
Retained Land at
Brickhampton
Court, Greenfields,
Churchdown.

Item 5c -
23/00275/APP —
Plots 3 & 4
Gloucester
Business Park.

Item 5b —
22/00898/0OUT —
Retained Land at
Brickhampton
Court, Greenfields,
Churchdown.

Item 5¢ —
23/00275/APP —
Plots 3 & 4
Gloucester
Business Park.

Is a Member of
Brockworth Parish
Council but does not
participate in
planning matters.

Is a Borough
Councillor for the
area.

Is a Member of
Churchdown Parish
Council but does not
participate in
planning matters.

Had received
correspondence from
the applicant in
relation to the
application but had
not expressed an
opinion.

Had received
correspondence from
the applicant in
relation to the
application but had
not expressed an
opinion.

Is a Member of
Churchdown Parish
Council but does not
participate in
planning matters.

Is a Member of
Hucclecote Parish
Council but does not
participate in
planning matters.

Is a Member of
Churchdown Parish
Council but does not
participate in
planning matters.

Is a Gloucestershire
County Councillor for
the area.

PL.20.02.24

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.

Would speak
and vote.



60.3

PL.61

61.1

PL.62

62.1

62.3

62.4

PL.20.02.24

P N Workman Item 5b — Had received Would speak
22/00898/0OUT — correspondence from and vote.
Retained Land at the applicant in
Brickhampton relation to the
Court, Greenfields, application but had
Churchdown. not expressed an

opinion.

| Yates Item 5b — Is a Member of Would speak
22/00898/0OUT — Churchdown Parish and vote.
Retained Land at Council but does not
Brickhampton participate in
Court, Greenfields, planning matters.
Churchdown.

| Yates Item 5c — Is a Borough Would speak
23/00275/APP — Councillor for the and vote.
Plots 3 & 4 area.
Gloucester

Business Park.

There were no further declarations made on this occasion.

MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2024, copies of which had been
circulated, were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL - APPLICATIONS TO THE BOROUGH COUNCIL

The objections to, support for, and observations upon the various applications as
referred to in Appendix 1 attached to these Minutes were presented to the
Committee and duly taken into consideration by Members prior to decisions being
made on those applications.

22/01337/0OUT - Land off Lawn Road, Ashleworth

This was an outline application for the erection of up to 11 dwellings and associated
works, with all other matters reserved for future determination except access
(amended description).

The Senior Planning Officer advised that the Additional Representations Sheet,
attached at Appendix 1, set out that Severn Trent Water had not confirmed its
acceptance of a surface water connection to the drain on Sawyers Rise, therefore,
the recommendation had been amended to seek delegated authority to impose any
conditions pertinent to the connection. He explained that Ashleworth was not
designated as a Rural Service Centre or a designated Service Village in the
Tewkesbury Borough Plan and was not within the development boundary; however,
given the backdrop of the five year housing land supply position, the application was
recommended for permission. In terms of the site itself, the northern boundary was
to the edge of Lawn Road with Grade Il listed buildings of Lynchgate Cottage, St
Michael’s and Nupend House on the north side immediately opposite and the
Conservation Officer had objected to the proposal. Land to the east of the site had
been approved for four dwellings as set out in the Committee report and, beyond
that to the east was a development of 35 dwellings which had been built-out.
Immediately to the south was land approved for development of 42 dwellings. Due



62.5

PL.20.02.24

to the development surrounding the site, the existing services within the village and
the proximity to settlements for additional services, it was considered by Officers to
be a sustainable location for development. It was an unusual application in terms of
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) as grassland was classified as an urban meadow and
was high value, requiring additional mitigation not all of which could be provided on
site, therefore, the application included an off-site mitigation proposal in order to
provide 10% BNG which would be secured via a Section 106 Agreement. As set
out within the Committee report, Severn Trent Water had not confirmed the
development could connect to the surface water drain — the original proposal was
for surface water to be disposed via the highway drain and then into the Severn
Trent surface water drain on Sawyer’s Rise; however, the Lead Local Flood
Authority had not been satisfied with that proposal and a revised proposal had been
put forward to install a separate pipeline which bypassed the highways drain and
formed a new connection to the same Severn Trent surface water drain - it was that
new connection which Severn Trent had not yet agreed to. Officers were requesting
a delegated permission, subject to agreement being reached with Severn Trent to
dispose of foul water. The Senior Planning Officer went on to explain that, late the
previous evening, it had transpired there was a footpath connection to Ashleworth
which only extended as far as the top right of the application site and it was
proposed to install a footpath directly into Ashleworth which would take up the
highway verge but would not encroach on any private land. County Highways had
no objection to the condition already in the report which required details of the
footpath to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to
commencement of development. This had not been covered in the Committee
report but it would provide a betterment as previously pedestrians had to walk down
the road. Whilst the Conservation Officer had objected to the proposal, as
explained in the Committee report, the harm was less than substantial and these
comments were not sufficient to outweigh the benefits of the proposal. In summary,
given the five year housing land supply position, Ashleworth was considered by
Officers to be a sustainable settlement and, where the harms of development were
considered against the benefits of new housing, with on and offsite mitigation and
contributions, Officers believed the tilted balance lay in favour of development.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee. The applicant’s
agent indicated that this application had been pending determination for over 12
months, during which time they had worked hard with their consultant team, client
and Officers to address the initial concerns raised which had ultimately resulted in
reducing the scheme from 17 to 11 new homes to provide a scheme deemed
acceptable and policy compliant. Ashleworth was a suitable location for a
development of this scale with public transport accessibility to Gloucester and
Tewkesbury and a good range of services and facilities for meeting day to day
needs including a primary school, general store, cafe and community centre.
Delivering a range of small sites such as this would assist the Council with
demonstrating a rolling five year housing land supply and would ultimately help to
ensure the vitality of the borough’s rural communities. The site was not subject to
any designations, was well-related to the built-up area of the village and contained
within the landscape because of the strong landscaped boundary to the southwest
of the site. It would represent a natural ‘rounding off’ of the village and an ideal
location for its sustainable growth. The new homes provided would include four
much needed affordable homes. As correctly noted within the Committee report, the
development would not result in any harms that would warrant refusal. The
applicant’s agent recognised that some concerns had been expressed by the Parish
Council and local residents, although none were received from residents following
the reduction of the scheme by six units. Some concerns related to highway safety
and those had been thoroughly assessed by County Highways with no objections
raised subject to conditions. In terms of drainage, the proposal had been designed
thoroughly by the consultant team and the Lead Local Flood Authority had no
objection. Severn Trent Water had previously raised no objection in connection to

8



62.6

PL.20.02.24

its assets as part of the proposals and the current proposals did not change that.
They had worked closely with both their ecologist and the Council’s Ecological
Adviser as well as Enviro Bank - a company that supported the provision of off-site
biodiversity enhancement measures - and, whilst there would be some habitat loss
on site, a bespoke mitigation and BNG strategy was proposed resulting in the
delivery of some off-site provision in the form of new lowland meadow creation
within BNG trading rules and regulations. Overall, as the Committee report set out,
the development would result in more than 10% BNG which was over and above
what presently existed on site. The heritage assessment was correct in their view
and any limited harm would be outweighed by the benefits which involved 11 new
dwellings, including affordable homes and off-site affordable contributions; 10%
BNG; education contributions towards primary school provision; Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments, 25% of which would go to the Parish; and
provision of publicly accessible open space. On that basis, the applicant’s agent
hoped that Members would support the Officer recommendation for a delegated
permission.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to delegate authority to
the Associate Director: Planning to permit the application, subject to completion of a
Section 106 Agreement with the obligations set out in the Committee report and
Severn Trent Water confirming that a connection to its surface water drain was
acceptable, and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member questioned the
assertion this was a truly sustainable development given that, if agreed, there would
be an increase of 90 houses to a village of approximately 200 properties since 2017
and the new properties would be largely reliant on cars due to the limited bus
service. In response, the Senior Planning Officer confirmed that Ashleworth was
not designated in the settlement hierarchy but the National Planning Policy
Framework stated that, without a five year housing land supply, the titled balance
must be considered, therefore, Officers were required to weigh up the harms of the
development against the benefits. Ashleworth did have a number of local services
which added weight to the application and other proposals for residential
development had recently been approved at appeal establishing the principle of
Ashleworth being able to accommodate additional development. The harm in terms
of heritage assets would be less than substantial and insufficient to warrant refusal.
He appreciated the highway concerns but those applied to many of this type of
scheme, Lawn Road was lightly trafficked and the development was considered
sustainable in terms of the tilted balance. The County Highways representative
explained that, by nature, a village was not as sustainable as a city location but the
sustainability of Ashleworth had been tested on appeal. There was a school, a
coffee shop and a Memorial Hall within the village and a bus service operating
between Gloucester and Tewkesbury ran every two hours so public transport was
available, albeit limited. In terms of traffic flow, it was a narrow lane but was
extremely lightly trafficked with 600 vehicles in a two way flow over a whole day
period and less than one vehicle per minute even during peak hours; traffic
generation from this site would be five to six vehicles in peak hours. The Member
indicated that he genuinely did not believe the cumulative effect of development in
the village had been thought through — the bus service was extremely limited with
no evening service at all so there would inevitably be an increase in car usage as a
result of this development. Another Member asked if accident statistics were
available for the A417 as the representations received alluded to it being notorious
for serious accidents. In terms of sustainability, she pointed out the village shops
were often not economical to use and she asked if there was any way to improve
the facilities within the village via the Section 106 Agreement. In response, the
County Highways representative advised there were no reported accidents in the
last five years within the village itself which accorded with the low speed of the road.
In terms of the A417, there had been two accidents at the junction with Lawn Road,
one involving a fatality due to a driver error, and three accidents at the junction with
the B4211. The County Council Road Safety Team was looking at mitigation



62.7

62.8

62.9

62.10

PL.20.02.24

measures for the A417; however, that was a separate issue and, in terms of this
development which would generate an additional five vehicles in the peak hours, it
would be difficult to say there would be a further negative impact in terms of
accidents. In respect of the Section 106 Agreement, the Senior Planning Officer’s
view was that any additional dwellings in Ashleworth that could support the village
shop would be a positive thing; that said, due to the scale of the development, the
Council could not reasonably insist on a Section 106 contribution to support local
services and this had not been requested by the Parish Council.

A Member asked what would happen if Severn Trent Water deemed the connection
to its surface water drain unacceptable. She pointed out that the issue of drainage
was a major concern for Ashleworth Parish Council and no improvements had been
made since new developments had come online so she asked why this would be
any different. In response, the Senior Planning Officer explained that, if there was
no solution for the surface water drainage the application would be brought back to
the Committee with a recommendation for refusal. A Member noted that the
Committee report stated that the Head of Service: Housing was yet to confirm that
the tenure mix was acceptable and an update would be provided at Committee.
The Senior Planning Officer advised that the Housing team had been consulted and
no response had been received, therefore, the tenure mix set out in the report was
deemed to be acceptable. In response to a query regarding the Tree Preservation
Order, Members were informed this was a group of TPOs along the frontage of the
houses on the north side of Lawn Road and not within the application site itself.

It was proposed and seconded that authority be delegated to the Associate Director:
Planning to permit the application in accordance with the Officer recommendation
and, upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That authority be DELEGATED to the Assaociate Director:
Planning to PERMIT subject to completion of a Section 106
Agreement with the obligations set out in the Committee report
and to Severn Trent Water confirming that a connection to its
surface water drain was acceptable, in accordance with the
Officer recommendation.

22/00898/0UT - Retained Land at Brickhampton Court, Greenfields,
Churchdown

This was a hybrid planning application seeking full permission for the use of land as
public amenity space (including community woodland, pedestrian access, play
space and biodiversity enhancements); outline planning permission for seven
affordable (discounted market) dwellings with all matters reserved for future
consideration; and outline planning permission for eight market dwellings with all
matters reserved for future consideration. The Planning Committee had visited the
application site on Friday 16 February 2024.

The Principal Planner advised that the application site comprised 2.4 hectares of
land retained by the applicants after the farm was developed into Brickhampton Golf
Club, club house and driving range in 1990. In 1994, eight new houses were built on
the original footprint of the farmhouse and buildings at Greenfields and Fairways
Drive. The site was not located within the settlement boundary of Churchdown and
Innsworth but the settlement boundary ran along the southern boundary of the site,
Highgrove Estate. To the west, the site was bound by the Nato Allied Force Base
and the majority of the site was bound to the north and east by Brickhampton Golf
Club with the middle portion of the site bound by the residential development at
Greenfields and Fairways Drive. The application site was physically separated from
Highrove Estate by a small watercourse and a strong line of trees and hedges which
provided a high degree of physical separation between the site and the settlement
boundary. In relation to site designations, the site was located within the Green Belt

10



62.11

62.12

PL.20.02.24

and a Public Right of Way ran along the eastern boundary. In terms of consultees,
there were objections from Churchdown Parish Council due to Green Belt policy
and highway safety, and from the Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer due to
physical separation of the affordable units from the market sale units and the
proposed tenure type not meeting the identified need for the borough. Having
assessed the scheme, Officers believed the application should be refused as it was
not an appropriate location for new residential development; the proposal would
result in harmful encroachment into open countryside and would appear as an
unacceptable intrusion, diminishing the existing sense of transition between the
settlement and the open countryside; it would be inappropriate development in the
Green Belt and would unacceptably reduce its openness and conflict with the
purposes of the Green Belt; the applicant had failed to demonstrate how the
affordable housing would be provided in a seamless and integrated manner and the
proposed tenure type did not meet the identified need for the borough; the applicant
had failed to demonstrate that the pedestrian connections shown on the illustrative
masterplan could be achieved; and, in the absence of a completed planning
obligation, the proposed development did not adequately provide for education and
affordable housing contributions or refuse and recycling facilities.

The Chair invited a local resident speaking in objection to the application to address
the Committee. The local resident advised that he was speaking on behalf of
residents who had set out clear and significant policy-based conflicts in their written
submissions dated from November 2022 to September 2023; they endorsed the
Officer’'s recommended reasons for refusal. The main issue in the determination of
this application was the Green Belt and the proposal was, without any doubt or
guestion, inappropriate development in the Green Belt. It did not constitute any of
the permissible exceptions for allowing development in the Green Belt. It would
seriously and significantly reduce openness and conflict with the purposes of the
designated land. Moreover, this harm would occur in a segment of the Green Belt
where the expert evidence assessed land to be of the highest value in terms of its
contribution to Green Belt purposes. As a result, the proposal would cause very
significant harm to the Green Belt. The applicant had singularly failed to
demonstrate any credible evidence that very special circumstances existed that
would outweigh that considerable harm. The current absence of a five year housing
land supply did not trigger the tilted balance in this case and Green Belt protection
prevailed. The Council would undoubtedly need to approve greenfield
developments on unallocated sites in the coming years but they did not need to do
so on Green Belt land, and doing so would drive a coach and horses through
national and local planning policies. Local residents had pointed out in 2022 that
the claimed affordable housing content was an illusion and provided no sound basis
for allowing this application - the scheme did not include any affordable housing by
any meaningful definition. They had also set out that, irrespective of the Green Belt
designation, this was an unsustainable location for new housing. The nearest shop
was the Tesco store at Churchdown, which was a walked route of 1.75 kilometres -
the notion of walking a round trip of 3.5 kilometres for basic provisions was
unrealistic. Overall, the proposal was in serious conflict with national policy and
clearly not in accordance with the development plan. There were no material
considerations that would direct a determination other than in accordance with the
plan. The local resident urged Members to make a sound planning decision and
refuse this unacceptable development and protect the Green Belt which national
and local policy said was of ‘great importance’.

The Chair invited the applicant to address the Committee. The applicant explained
that he was born in Churchdown and had been involved in the development of the
golf course and its residential houses since 1969. He was not a property developer
but, as with the golf course and houses, had looked to ensure the retained land was
developed in a sustainable manner with a balanced mix of community assets,
affordable and market houses for local residents and their families. The application

11



62.13

PL.20.02.24

had been with the Council for 18 months and appeared before the Planning
Committee today with a recommendation to refuse based on a few key points which
Members were not obliged to follow. He intended to set out how and why Members
could make their own decision to grant planning permission in a way that would
respect the integrity of the development plan policies and not weaken its protection
over other land in the borough. Firstly, the site was in the Green Belt but a perfectly
legitimate conclusion could be reached that the housing element of the site was infill
to the neighbouring developed areas of the golf centre, the residential houses, the
Highgrove Estate, Nato base and Churchdown. Officers had recommended against
this because of the existing trees and hedges bordering the site but had not
provided any landscape advice for making such an objection or that infill would
significantly harm the openness of the remaining Green Belt. They also omitted to
mention the Council’'s 2017 Green Belt Report on the site which said that its
removal from the Green Belt was unlikely to constitute a significant loss of the
physical or perceptual gap between areas of urban development and would have
minimal impact. Those arguments were reassurance that, although it was Green
Belt, it was land that would not fundamentally weaken that protection and should be
considered for housing given that the Council could not demonstrate a five year
housing land supply and due to the urgent need for more affordable housing which
this site would deliver. If there was a real concern regarding the type of affordable
housing being offered, that could be negotiated as part of the Section 106 terms and
should not be a reason for refusal. The need for affordable housing in Churchdown
and Innsworth was supported by Gloucester Homes and the Council’'s own data
stated that 471 local residents were actively looking for this type of accommodation.
In terms of footpath connection, nobody was arguing pedestrian connection was
inadequate to allow development to take place and they were offering to improve
the quality of that provision through cooperation with adjoining landowners. Finally,
Officers stated that the application’s potential harms to the Green Belt outweighed
its many positive benefits, and the principle of very special circumstances could not
be made for approving it, but then offered no balanced explanation for that.
Members could make a decision today to approve the application to help
Tewkesbury Borough get back on track with its housing shortfall and help local
people in Churchdown and Innsworth who needed homes and he urged them to
take it.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to refuse the application
and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member advised that he had walked home
from the Planning Committee Site Visit along the access road to the golf club which
was the sole means of access to the site from the main road and had found it very
difficult with it being necessary to duck, or move out of the way whilst a vehicle
passed, due to the height of the land. He questioned whether the safety of that
access had been assessed. In response, the County Highways representative
advised that no objection had been raised by County Highways on safety grounds
but he did take this point — the access was narrow and not an ideal surface. Whilst
it was necessary for pedestrians to move out of the way if a vehicle approached,
there were passing places; however, the road was neither ideal or convenient for
walkers, especially people with disabilities. In terms of accidents, there had been
two near the site in the last five years, one of which was now outside of the five year
period. The junction itself had a good accident record and, in terms of sustainability,
it was possible to walk from Cheltenham Road East to the site until reaching this
particular road. The Principal Planner confirmed there was one pedestrian route
with the possibility of the Public Right of Way for those residents who chose to be
car-free. A Member noted that the applicant had referenced the removal of the site
from the Green Belt in the Council’s Green Belt Report in 2017 and he asked why
this was perceived differently now. In response, the Principal Planner clarified that,
as set out in the Additional Representations Sheet attached at Appendix 1, the
quotation in relation to the Green Belt Review related to purpose two of the Green
Belt which sought to prevent the merging of neighbouring towns and the Council’s

12



62.14

62.15

PL.20.02.24

view was that it continued to conflict with purposes one and three in relation to
checking the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas and safeguarding the
countryside from encroachment — the Green Belt Report had stated that it conflicted
with those two purposes and there had been no change from that position. Another
Member questioned whether all three aspects of this proposal should be determined
together and confirmation was provided that it was essentially three applications in
one; Officers had assessed them individually and cumulatively and, in the event the
application was refused and went to appeal, the Inspector would consider all three
parts.

It was proposed and seconded that the application be refused in accordance with
the Officer recommendation. The proposer of the motion expressed the view it was
a comprehensive Committee report and nothing had changed in terms of the Green
Belt position. The seconder of the motion felt there were numerous reasons to
refuse the application, all of which were set out in the Committee report. A Member
agreed that the application must be refused on the basis it was in the Green Belt
but, if that was not the case, the proposal would provide sustainable housing in the
area with connectivity to Cheltenham and Gloucester for businesses and amenities,
therefore, it was far more sustainable than the previous Agenda Item which had
been permitted and was a good proposal. Sadly, the application must be
determined within the constraints of the Green Belt assessment and she could see
no very special circumstances which would allow Members to permit the application.
There may be a case for removing the site from the Green Belt via the Strategic and
Local Plan but Green Belt outweighed all other considerations in her view, therefore,
she supported the motion to refuse the application. The seconder of the motion
indicated that she agreed to a certain extent and could see no way the application
could be approved, particularly in light of the previous application on the golf course
site which had been refused for the same reasons. She felt there were issues with
some of the elements put forward as benefits, for instance, she did not see the
community woodland and play area being a significant benefit to the community
given other facilities in the vicinity and the tenure mix being proposed would result in
two distinct areas of private and affordable housing which went against planning
policy. She questioned how affordable three to four bedroom houses on a golf
course in the Green Belt would actually be. Another Member shared this view and
noted the applicant had referenced over 400 people on the housing register looking
for this type of housing; however, they were actually looking for social housing, not
very expensive houses reduced by 20%. The applicant had also suggested there
could be a link to Imjin Barracks and she felt there were several reasons why this
would not be an option, not least security. She did not feel that such “benefits”
could be taken into account as they were not realistic options.

A Member expressed the view that very special circumstances existed as outlined at
Page No. 49, Paragraph 8.19 of the Committee report which set out exceptions to
the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt including limited infilling in
villages. Whilst Page No. 52, Paragraph 8.35 of the Committee report stated that
Officers did not consider the site to be infill development, the Member pointed out
that decision lay with the Planning Committee as decision-makers. Page No. 52,
Paragraph 8.37 of the Committee report set out that points 1, 2, 3 and 4 as outlined
at the top of Page No. 52 were considered by Officers to be benefits which had the
potential to amount to very special circumstances and the proposal would provide
affordable housing and contribute to housing land supply. Case law established that
very special circumstances did not have to be unique or unusual and a number of
elements could combine to give a cumulative and positive set of circumstances. In
his view, there would be very little potential harm to the Green Belt which would be
outweighed by very special circumstances and he would not like to see the
application be refused and go to appeal given that the Inspector had previously
approved 1,500 houses on Green Belt land at Brockworth; he pointed out that the
Council had also recently approved 49 dwellings at Badgeworth which was in both

13



62.16

62.17

62.18

62.19

PL.20.02.24

the Green Belt and Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Another Member
shared this view given that the site was surrounded by housing, the golf course and
the Ministry of Defence site so he felt housing would sit well in that location. Green
Belt was a very strong issue but a common sense approach was needed and, in this
case, he felt any harm would be limited. The seconder of the motion expressed the
view that the Green Belt was very important and needed to be preserved; permitting
the application would set a dangerous precedent. Officers clearly considered that
no very special circumstances had been advanced by the applicant and, based on
the evidence before them, she was inclined to agree. The proposer of the motion
indicated that, whilst on the Planning Committee Site Visit, he had reflected on the
view that the proposal constituted infilling and agreed with Planning Officers who
had identified there was a strong boundary between the site and the Highgrove
Estate with outlying dwellings around the golf course — infilling was a red herring in
his opinion. In terms of the public open space constituting a community woodland
and play area, he pointed out there was a recreation ground not a significant
distance from the site and he did not think an additional playground would be used
except by the residents of the affordable housing and the separation of tenure types
was contrary to policy. In terms of the bigger picture, this was a major section of
land preventing the sprawl of Gloucester and should be treated as sacrosanct.
Consideration had been given to removing the land from the Green Belt in 2017 but
the fact was that it remained and to put any stock in the arguments for taking it out
when they were not substantiated at the time would be foolhardy. As such, he
remained of the opinion the application should be refused.

In response to a Member query, the Principal Planner advised that very special
circumstances were not required if the proposal was considered to be limited
infilling; however, Officers believed it was inappropriate development as set out in
Paragraph 152 of the National Planning Policy Framework and should not be
approved except in very special circumstances. A Member asked whether it was
acceptable for the play area and attenuation pond to be in such close proximity and
was advised it was not unheard of and, should the application be permitted, there
would be a requirement for additional detailed information regarding the attenuation
basin. The Development Management Team Manager (South) advised that
attenuation basis were designed with safety aspects, such as ledges, in mind.

The Development Management Team Manager (East) advised that affordable
housing provision had been omitted from proposed refusal reason 6 within the
Committee report and the proposer and seconder of the motion to refuse the
application indicated they would be happy to amend the motion to include that.
Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be REFUSED in accordance with the Officer
recommendation, subject to an amendment to refusal reason 6 to
refer to affordable housing provision in relation to the absence of
a completed planning obligation.

23/00275/APP - Plots 3 & 4 Gloucester Business Park

This was a reserved matters application in relation to plots 3 and 4 for the erection
of employment development of 16,481sgm (GIA), access arrangements, servicing,
parking including cycle provisions, electric vehicle charging and landscape provision
comprising of Class B2 and B8 development with ancillary offices, alongside
discharge of pre-commencement conditions 8 and 11 to planning permission
reference 11/01155/FUL.

The Principal Planner advised that outline consent had been granted for the
business park in March 1992 and the permission had been renewed in 2001 to
allow a further 10 years for the submission of the reserved matters. In 2012, a
further permission was granted for the reserved matters for the remainder of the

14



62.20

62.21

PL.20.02.24

plots to be submitted by 2026 and the current application was for the reserved
matters for plots 3 and 4 on the outskirts of the business park adjacent to residential
properties and required a Committee determination due to objections from the
Parish Councils and local residents. The original approval had no set parameters in
terms of the size or height of the units with heights across the business park ranging
from 16m to 24m; the elevations for this application had a proposed overall height of
15.5m. The applicant had confirmed that the units would be BREEAM Excellent.
Comments were still awaited from the Land Drainage Officer in relation to drainage
condition 8 and the Lead Local Flood Authority had no comment given that it had
not been established when the original application was approved and County
Highways had requested an additional condition. It was therefore recommended
that authority be delegated to the Associate Director: Planning to approve the
application, subject to no adverse observations from County Highways and the Land
Drainage Officer and any additional or amended conditions.

The Chair invited a local resident speaking in objection to the application to address
the Committee. The local resident explained that the application had received over
30 objections from the public giving a wide range of valid points to consider. The
Statement of Community Involvement run by Gloucester Business Park sampled 75
responses with 50% answering no to “Does the scale of development feel
appropriate for Plots 3 and 4?”; however, she and her partner had run a separate
poll on Facebook via Cooper’s Edge Noticeboard Community Group, attracting 315
votes, with only 4% agreeing with the warehouse use. Remaining votes were for
uses such as affordable housing, small retail or other non-imposing structures which
could bring employment to the area and also enhance the business park as well as
Cooper’s Edge. Housing on plots 3 and 4 had previously been considered and the
poll marked it as a more favoured solution by the community so she encouraged the
Council to think of the benefits of more housing in the area during the current
housing crisis. Given the location of the plots so close to Cooper’s Edge, local
residents had significant objection to the scale, aesthetic and location within the plot
and the use of the proposed units. There would be no transition within the current
proposal from the residential area to the business park and they felt the design
should be closer in style to residential areas with use of traditional brick and render
and an appropriate height, not 15m which was visually imposing and would greatly
detract from the beauty of Cooper’s Edge. Other commercial units bordering the
residential areas, such as Benefact and Javelin House, were much better examples
and were significantly smaller in size with more green buffer space. Approving the
disproportionately large warehouse units at plots 3 and 4 would increase Heavy
Goods Vehicle (HGV) traffic in an area very close to residential properties and a
busy primary school. This caused significant pedestrian safety concerns within
Cooper’s Edge and leaving Cooper’s Edge for Whittle Square; particular safety
concerns should be considered due to the extensive use of bikes in the area by
commuters and families. The added traffic would further increase pollution in an
area which already became congested at peak times, as well as causing
considerable noise with traffic leaving the site at all hours of the night. For those
reasons, the application was not suitable and a more favoured use of the plots
would be houses or added amenities to enhance existing residential areas. This
could help meet the Council’s targets and provide long term employment to
Cooper’s Edge residents whilst also benefiting Gloucester Business Park.

The Chair invited the applicant’s agent to address the Committee. The applicant’s
agent advised that Gloucester Business Park was a successful employment
destination in a high quality location, acting as a driver for employment opportunities
and economic benefit to the area. The reserved matters application for these plots
was part of the final pieces of the jigsaw to complete the Business Park and
provided a high level of alternative retail and leisure uses which were
complementary to the existing and planned employment uses which benefited the
wider community. They considered the proposed employment uses were the right

15



62.22

PL.20.02.24

ones and in the right location for Tewkesbury Borough and Gloucestershire. They
had listened to residents and stakeholders throughout the development process and
had provided a comprehensive range of surveys to support the planning application.
Those surveys had confirmed the proposed development was compatible with the
location and resulted in no demonstrable impact upon neighbours. The buildings
had been designed to complement the existing buildings within the park and
provided a transition between the employment and residential area. They were of a
scale and height that was suited and attractive to a modern occupier, making an
efficient use of land. The relationship between the proposed buildings and the
adjacent residential area had been a key consideration throughout the design
process. Sustainability at the Business Park was important for the applicant and the
proposed buildings had all been designed to achieved BREEAM Excellent
demonstrating a commitment to delivering high quality sustainable buildings. They
had consulted widely with the community and stakeholders prior to the application
being submitted and one of the key asks from the community was improved
transport links. They had engaged with Stagecoach and, shortly after, a new and
improved bus service to the Business Park had been introduced with the intention it
would help reduce individual car journeys. They had been made aware there were
local concerns regarding traffic, in particular HGVs leaving the Business Park via
Lobleys Drive. Whilst no objection had been raised by County Highways, the
applicant had noted the importance of resolving the HGV issue and, as a priority,
additional signage had been put up at key locations to direct HGV drivers as soon
as they left service yards to exit the Business Park via Hurricane Road or Pioneer
Avenue and that would also be applied for the new development plots. To reiterate,
the applicant’s agent advised that the development of these final employment plots
would contribute to the economic growth of the area and was considered to be the
right use in the right location. The applicant had listened to the community and
stakeholders as they developed the final employment plots and continued to
manage the success of the Business Park. As a final point, it was important to note
that the proposed development was deliverable and the applicant was already in
advanced discussions with potential occupiers and ready to begin delivering further
jobs for Tewkesbury Borough and Gloucestershire.

The Chair indicated that the Officer recommendation was to delegate authority to
the Associate Director: Planning to approve the application, subject to no adverse
observations from County Highways and the Land Drainage Officer and any
additional or amended conditions, and he sought a motion from the floor. A Member
drew attention to Page No. 82, Paragraph 8.5 of the Committee report which set out
that Policy EMP5 of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan stated that development must
respect the character, scale and proportion of the proposal and the surrounding
development’s character and she asked whether the proposal met that requirement
in terms of the opposite side of the road which was residential. In response, the
Principal Planner confirmed that the buildings were slightly smaller than the existing
buildings on the Business Park and there was a landscape buffer which acted as a
transition between the existing warehouse employment use and residential
dwellings. Another Member expressed the view that it was a shame the site could
not be used for housing but he understood the reasons why not. He asked if it was
possible to apply a condition to reflect the findings of the external lighting report, as
set out at Page No. 85, Paragraph 8.25 of the Committee report, in order to address
residential amenity concerns and ensure nighttime pollution was kept to an absolute
minimum. In response, the Principle Planner confirmed there was a condition
proposed in relation to ecology and biodiversity but there was no reason why an
additional condition could not be added in relation to the lighting being switched off
at nighttime. In response to a query, Members were informed the distance between
the warehouses and residential properties was approximately 40m. A Member
asked if the proposal would include secure cycle storage with facilities for cyclists to
shower and the County Highways representative advised that County Highways had
requested additional conditions, which had not reached the Officer prior to the

16



62.23

62.24

PL.63

63.1

63.2

63.3

PL.20.02.24

meeting, which required secure cycle storage and staff shower facilities. A travel
plan had been approved for the overall site as part of the outline application and a
further condition was suggested asking for details. Whilst electric vehicle charging
points were shown on the plans, County Highways had also requested a further
condition requiring up to 10% of the total provision to be electric vehicle charging
points.

A Member expressed the view that it was difficult to visualise the buildings in the
context of the existing Business Park and therefore the impact it would have on
neighbouring residents. Another Member indicated that she was very concerned
about the height of the units. The Development Management Team Manager
(South) advised that Officers were satisfied that the development would have an
acceptable impact in terms of its scale and relationship to nearby dwellings. It was
proposed and seconded that the application be deferred for a Planning Committee
Site Visit to assess to size and scale of the proposal and the impact on residential
amenity. The proposer of the motion acknowledged that a site visit could have been
requested prior to the meeting but she continued to have concerns about the size
and scale and felt it was important to take a look at the site to put this into
perspective. A Member asked if it was possible to negotiate a reduction in the
height of the units and the Development Management Team Manager (South)
advised that he suspected these modern industrial units needed to be a particular
size to accommodate machinery but he could ask the question of the applicant.
Another Member indicated that he would support a site visit as, although the size
may be in line with the norm for industrial units, it was their proximity to housing
which was the concern in this case. Whilst he understood the reasons for
requesting a site visit, another Member indicated that he did not believe he had
heard anything new today which had not been set out in the Committee report.

Upon being put to the vote, it was

RESOLVED That the application be DEFERRED for a Planning Committee
Site Visit to assess the size and scale of the proposal and the
impact on residential amenity.

CURRENT APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS UPDATE

Attention was drawn to the current appeals and appeal decisions update,
circulated at Pages No. 101-102. Members were asked to consider the current
planning and enforcement appeals received and the Department for Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities appeal decisions issued.

A Member expressed the view that it was disappointing for both the Council and
local residents to lose the appeal in relation to Land Off Ruby Land, Bishop’s
Cleeve which suggested that the Inspector favoured residential development over
much needed infrastructure.

It was

RESOLVED That the current appeals and appeal decisions update be
NOTED.

The meeting closed at 11:35 am

17



PL.20.02.24
Appendix 1

ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS SHEET

Date: 20 February 2024

The following is a list of the additional representations received since the Planning Committee
Agenda was published and includes background papers received up to and including the
Monday before the meeting.

A general indication of the content is given but it may be necessary to elaborate at the meeting.

Agenda
Item
No.

ba 22/01337/0UT
Land Off Lawn Road, Ashleworth

Since the Committee report was published, Severn Trent Water has not
confirmed acceptance of a surface water connection to the drain on Sawyers
Rise.

The recommendation at Paragraph 11.1 of the Committee report should be
changed to:

It is recommended that authority be DELEGATED to the Associate Director:
Planning, to PERMIT the application, subject to the completion of a Section 106
legal agreement with obligations as set out above, and subject to Severn Trent
Water confirmation that a connection to its surface water drain is acceptable.

5b 22/00898/0UT
The Retained Land At Brickhampton Court , Greenfields, Churchdown
Additional Representations

Since writing the Committee report, it has been brought to the attention of the
Case Officer that a letter of support from Gloucester City Homes (uploaded to
Council website 1 February 2023) was not included within Section 5.4 of the
Committee report.

Furthermore, an additional letter of support (attached) has been received from
a Parish Councillor on Churchdown Parish Council. The Councillor believes the
proposal would contribute to the five year housing land supply shortage, the
shortfall in open market affordable homes and the new footbridge would provide
immediate and safe access to residents living at the Innsworth end of
Churchdown. It should be noted these are the Councillor’'s own personal views
and not those of the Parish Council which objected to the application.

The points raised by the additional letter of support are addressed throughout
the Committee report therefore no further comments are made in this regard.

Additional Comments from the Applicant to a Member of the Planning
Committee

Since writing the Committee report, the applicant has provided representations
to a local Ward Councillor ahead of the Committee Site Visit. This email
contains eight key points which the applicant asked the Councillor to take into
consideration. Full details are in the attachment and the Council has
commented on each point as detailed below:

18



PL.20.02.24

1. The Council has assessed the existing infrastructure on the site and within
the wider site context. Details are set out within the Committee report.

2. A full assessment of the site’s context is provided in the Committee report.

3. The Council's assessment of the scheme’s connectivity is set out in detail
within the Committee report.

4. It should be noted that the Council's Strategic Housing and Enabling Officer
objects to the affordable housing contribution as detailed within the Committee
report and as shown by refusal reason 4.

5. The Council acknowledges the potential benefits of the scheme and has
assessed the benefits against the harms as detailed throughout the Committee
report and, in particular, within the conclusions under Section 9.

6. A Section 106 Heads of Terms has been provided by the applicant but this
has not been progressed any further due to the Council recommending the
application be refused - see Refusal Reason 6.

7. Whilst letters of support have been received, petitions and letters of objection
have also been received including from members of Brickhampton Golf Club
and seven properties within Greenfields and Fairfields as detailed within
Section 5 of the Committee report.

8. As per point 5 above, the Council has assessed the proposal in relation to
the Green Belt as detailed within the Committee report. In relation to the
guotation from the Green Belt Review, this quote relates to Purpose 2 which
seeks to prevent the merging of neighbouring towns. This Council considers the
proposal to be in conflict with Purpose 1, Checking the unrestricted sprawl! of
large built up areas, and Purpose 3, Safeguarding the countryside from
encroachment as detailed at Paragraph 8.28 of the Committee report. Despite
the comments within the Green Belt Review, the site was not released from the
Green Belt and remains part of the Green Belt. This factor should be given
considerable weight over comments on the Green Belt Review.

Additional Comments from the Agent related to Affordable Housing

The agent sent a copy of an appeal decision to the Case Officer in relation to
Land at Ruby Avenue, Bishops Cleeve (21/01173/FUL and appeal ref 3325421)
which has been attached. Case Officers have reviewed the comments from the
agent and have responded explaining that the sites are not comparable as the
appeal decision was for a site within a wider site context of circa 600 homes.
Furthermore, refusal reason four for Brickhampton also relates to the mix of
dwellings being provided as the tenure type does not meet the identified need
for the borough.

19



PL.20.02.24

Agenda Item No. 5b — 22/00898/OUT - The Retained Land At Brickhampton Court,
Greenfields, Churchdown

I
|
13" February 2024

Outline Application: (22/00898/0UT): Tewkesbury Borough Council Plannin
Committee: Confirmed Date: Tuesday 20 February 2024:

I | 2 a Parish Councillor on Churchdown Parish Council and
live at | Churchdown very close to where the application is located at

Brickhampton.

| wish to support this application as I, and many others, believe it is well balanced and has
much to offer the future residential, environmental and lifestyle needs of local residents and
their families in Churchdown and Innsworth. While also making an immediate contribution to
the Council’s lack of a Five-Year Housing Land Supply and current shortfall of open market
and affordable houses across the Borough.

The affordable housing element is an essential requirement for those not yet on the housing
ladder to have the opportunity to stay in their own locality. We know from the council’s
Housing Officer that there are over 472 local people in Churchdown and Innsworth actively
looking for this type of accommodation.

As a local resident myself, | regularly use the foot-paths that criss-cross the golf course
connecting to the local foot-paths leading to Down Hatherley, Twigworth, Staverton and
Norton. As an active member of the local walking groups, | am aware that the Churchdown
Medical Centre, through its Social Prescriber, advise and recommend that patients join local
walking groups to enhance both their physical and mental well-being. I'm aware that these
groups have expanded since the end of Covid restrictions through these recommendations.

The new footbridge proposed on the southern part of the site connecting it to the Highgrove
Estate provides immediate and safe access for those residents living at the Innsworth end of
Churchdown. Their families will then be able to take full advantage of the application’s “green
benefits” created by the New Community Woodland, its Public Open Spaces and Outdoor Play
Area. At present people would have to walk along Innsworth Lane and Cheltenham Road

East to access these walks which isn’t ideal for the elderly and young families.

When you take into account the application’s overall mix of housing, public open spaces, and
connectivity | hope you will agree that the benefits far outweigh any concerns regarding extra
propetties in this location.

Thank you.

20



PL.20.02.24

Jonny Martin

From: Jonny Martin

Sent: 16 February 2024 12:13

To: Jonny Martin

Subject: FW: Hybrid Outline Application 22/00898/0UT: Retained Land: Brickhampton Court,
Cheltenham Road East, Churchdown, Gloucester (Applicants: J Evans & S. Price):
Number 5b:

Attachments: 22.00898.0UT - Plans.pdf

From: Jeremy Evans

Sent: Thursday, February 15, 2024 2:54:58 PM

To: Councillor Gore <councillor.gore@tewkesbury.gov.uk>

Subject: Hybrid Outline Application 22/00898/0UT: Retained Land: Brickhampton Court, Cheltenham Road East,
Churchdown, Gloucester (Applicants: J Evans & S. Price): Number 5b:

CAUTION: This message originated outside of Tewkesbury Borough Council's network.

THINK TWICE before clicking links or attachments.

Good afternoon, Councillor Gore

Hybrid Outline Application 22/00898/OUT: Retained Land: Brickhampton Court, Cheltenham Road
East, Churchdown, Gloucester (Applicants: J Evans & S. Price): Number 5§b:

| trust you are and your colleagues on the Planning Committee are keeping well.

Further to the above information about the application that was delivered to you on Sunday 4" February 2024
relating to the Committee’s Site Visit to Brickhampton on Friday 16" February and appearance before the
Committee on Tuesday 20" February.

Please find attached a file containing three plans to assist with your Site Visit tomorrow.

The first one shows the application’s red line boundaries of its 2.4 hectares (five acres). The second plan
shows the design and layout of the application’s three component parts, featuring the community woodland
and public open spaces , the 7 affordable houses and the 8 open market houses.The third plan shows their
different colour schemes, green, yellow, blue.

Set out below is a summary of the application’s key points that you might like to consider when visiting it
tomorrow.

1. Its 35-year planning history (1987/2022) and built infrastructure incorporating the golf centre, club house,
car parks, floodlit driving range, greenkeepers maintenance store, established road access (B4063), the 8
residential houses (Fairways/Greenfields) and their private roads.

2. lts enclosed location featuring all the above infrastructure plus the Highgrove Estate to the south and the
NATO Forces Base (Innsworth) to the west.

3. Its accessibility and connectivity to local transport and community services featuring the new cycleway,
and bus stops on the B4063, existing and proposed new footpaths and bridges connecting to the Highgrove
Estate to the south.

4. Its balanced mix of 7 Affordable Houses (35% Market Discount) and 8 Open Market Houses to offset

Tewkesbury not having a Five-Year Housing Land Supply and its Settlement Boundaries for Housing
development being out of date.

21



PL.20.02.24

5. lts Environmental, Ecological and Recreational benefits for local residents and schools in Churchdown
and Innsworth featuring the hew Community Woodland, Public Open Space, New Footpaths & Bridges,
Outdoor Play Area, culminating in a Biodiversity Net Gain of 15%.

6. Its submitted Section 106 Agreements for the Community Woodland, Public Open Spaces, New Footpaths
& Bridges, Outdoor Play Area, PROW, Education and Library Services.

7. lts level of support from local residents in Churchdown and Innsworth (12 Letters), the Highgrove Estate
(60 residents), Gloucester City Homes and local Parish Councillor.

8. lts balanced package of housing, environmental and recreational “benefits” for Churchdown and
Innsworth and how they outweigh any potential harms to its “moderate” Green Belt status.

This important point was noted in Tewkesbury’s 2017 Green Belt Report on the Site (PO2) which said, “ its
removal from the Green Belt was unlikely to constitute a significant loss of the physical or perceptual gap
between areas of urban development!”

Kind regards

Jeremy Evans ( Joint Applicant/Owner Retained Land )

This e-mail is intended for the addressee only. It may contain information that is confidential, copyright material
and/or subject to legal privilege.

If you are not the intended addressee this e-mail has been sent to you in error and you must not copy, distribute or
use it in any way whatsoever. Please inform the sender of the error immediately.

The content of this email and any related emails do not constitute a legally binding agreement and we do not accept
service of court proceedings or any other formal notices by email unless specifically agreed by us in writing.

This e-mail is believed to be free of viruses but it is your responsibility to carry out all necessary checks and the
Council does not accept any liability in connection therewith.

If you are contacting me as your Councillor, please be aware that | may need to share your personal information
with Council Officers, other Councillors, other agencies/organisations to help me answer your query. For more
information on how | use personal data, please visit https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/councillors-mps-and-meps

This e-mail is intended for the addressee only. It may contain information that is confidential, copyright material
and/or subject to legal privilege.

If you are not the intended addressee this e-mail has been sent to you in error and you must not copy, distribute or
use it in any way whatsoever. Please inform the sender of the error immediately.

The content of this email and any related emails do not constitute a legally binding agreement and we do not accept
service of court proceedings or any other formal notices by email unless specifically agreed by us in writing.

22



u The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 2 November 2023

by C Rafferty LLB (Hons), Solicitor
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 31 ] y 2024

Appeal Ref: APP/G1630/W/23/3325421
Land off Ruby Avenue, Bishops Cleeve GL52 7ZN

e The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

¢ The appeal is made by Rooftop Housing Association Ltd against the decision of
Tewkesbury Borough Council.

e The application Ref 21/01173/FUL, dated 25 September 2021, was refused by notice
dated 21 March 2023.

« The development proposed is proposed residential development to erect 22 units with
associated car parking; development 100% affordable

Decision

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the proposed
residential development to erect 22 units with associated car parking; development
100% affordable at Land off Ruby Avenue, Bishops Cleeve GL52 7ZN in accordance
with application Ref 21/01173/FUL, dated 25 September 2021 subject to the
conditions set out in Schedule 1 of this decision.

Application for Costs

2. An application for costs was made by Rooftop Housing Association Ltd against the
Council. This application is the subject of a separate decision.

Preliminary Matters

3. The appeal was originally to be determined via a hearing. However, during the
course of the appeal and having considered representations from the main parties,
I deemed the written representations procedure to be appropriate for this case.

4. Since the determination of this application, the Government published a
revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) on 19 December
2023. The main parties have been given the opportunity to provide comments
on the updated Framework, which have been taken into account in preparing
this decision.

Background and Main Issues
5. The main issues are whether the proposal would:
o comply with paragraph 97 of the Framework regarding services and facilities;

o provide affordable housing in a seamless and integrated manner in accordance
with Policy SD12 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core
Strategy 2011-2031 (the JCS); and

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

23

PL.20.02.24



PL.20.02.24

Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

¢ make adequate provision for education, affordable housing and waste and
recycling facilities through a planning obligation.

Reasons

Provision of Facilities and Services

6.

10.

The site is a parcel of open land off Ruby Avenue. The surrounding area is primarily
residential in nature, with a range of commercial uses and services also present,
such as a medical practice, a shop and a gym. The proposal seeks planning
permission for the erection of 22 residential units of affordable housing.

Paragraph 97 of the Framework states that in order to provide the social,
recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs, planning
policies and decisions should, among other things, plan positively for the provision
and use of shared spaces, community facilities and other local services to enhance
the sustainability of communities; guard against the unnecessary loss of valued
facilities and services; ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able
to develop and modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community; and
ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic
uses and community facilities and services. The proposal would make provision for
22 affordable housing units, but would not provide additional facilities or services.

The appeal site forms part of the wider mixed-use Cleevelands development, for
which outline planning permission was granted in July 2012 for up to 550 dwellings
with associated facilities, to include a high street, community facility and open
space!. The masterplan for this development designated the appeal site as part of
‘High Street’ being an area of retail and employment class uses, including 16
live/work units, and comments from interested parties indicate a strong local
preference for such a use at the site. However, no reserved matters application was
submitted in respect of this outline planning permission within the required
timeframe. Accordingly, the site does not benefit from any such designation at the
time of this appeal either within local policy or as a result of this permission.

Planning permission was later granted in February 2020 for the erection of a pub
and restaurant with ancillary accommodation, community amenity areas and
associated access, parking and landscaping at the site?. Based on the evidence
before me and my observations on site, this planning permission remains
implementable but the development has not yet come forward. In granting
permission for the scheme before me, it is therefore reasonable to conclude that
the permitted pub and restaurant use would not be developed.

However, it remains that this use has not commenced such that no existing or
established service or facility would be lost. The main parties also agree that the
original applicant has no intention to implement the permission believing that there
is no sufficient demand for the use in this location and following a 6 month
marketing exercise in 2019 that resulted in no bids. A later marketing exercise in
2020 similarly resulted in no bids. While concerns have been raised that these
marketing exercises were not long enough, given that the proposal does not involve
the change of use of an existing public house, there is no policy requirement setting
out how long the marketing periods should have been, and I note that the Officer’s
Report did not find issue with these periods. On this basis, notwithstanding that the

110/01216/0UT
218/01031/FUL

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 2

24



Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

11.

12.

13.

permission for the pub and restaurant use could still be lawfully implemented at
present, the existence of this fallback position carries little weight.

The site is located within the residential development boundary of Bishops Cleeve,
defined as a Rural Service Centre within the JCS and recognised as a settlement
that contains a higher range of services and facilities. In addition, I noted on my
visit that the immediate area comprises a range of facilities to serve the local
community, including a shop, a medical centre, and a gym. There is nothing
substantive before me to suggest that the facilities both local and within the wider
area would be unable to continue to effectively serve the needs of the community if
the proposal were to be granted planning permission.

As such, while the proposal would not provide for any services and facilities, it
would not result in the loss of existing services and facilities or prevent established
services and facilities from further modernising or developing. Future occupiers of
the development would have the opportunity to make use of the existing services
located in close proximity as part of their daily routines and in meeting their day to
day needs, ensuing an integrated approach in the proposed location of this housing
proposal and the nearby community facilities and services.

For the reasons given, the proposal would comply with paragraph 97 of the
Framework insofar as it relates to the provision of services and facilities.

Affordable Housing

14.

15.

16.

Policy SD12 of the JCS outlines the approach to the provision of affordable housing
in new development. In particular, it states that, where possible, affordable housing
should be provided on site and should be seamlessly integrated and distributed
throughout the development scheme. The proposal relates to the provision of 22
affordable housing units. The Council raises no objection to the provision of a 100%
affordable housing scheme, but has expressed concerns that the proposal would
result in a cluster of affordable housing at the site, rather than the affordable
housing provision being integrated and sitting among market dwellings. I note that
interested parties have expressed similar concerns.

I have been provided with the planning layout of the wider Cleevelands
development, within which the appeal site is located. This demonstrates that,
although clusters of affordable housing are provided as part of that wider scheme,
in each phase of development these clusters are spread among and alongside the
market dwellings. The Council contends that this complies with the definition of
Affordable Dwellings within the section 106 agreement relating to that
development, which refers to such dwellings ‘to be built across the whole site’, and
lists clustering requirements for each phase of affordable housing provision, with
limits of clusters of 8, 12 and 16 dwellings depending on the housing type and mix
to be provided.

Nevertheless, this section 106 agreement is not directly applicable to the scheme
that I have before me, and the relevant part of Policy SD12 is not an absolute
requirement, but is to be followed ‘where possible’. Given that the proposal relates
wholly to affordable units, such distribution among the completed market housing
of the Cleevelands development is not possible in this instance. I note a reserved
matters approval for the erection of 30 dwellings, all of which are affordable units
at a site directly to the north of the appeal site, resulting in a combined 52
affordable units in close proximity. However, I do not consider that this would
prevent the proposal from being integrated within the wider residential setting.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 3

25

PL.20.02.24



Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

17.

18.

The proposal would introduce residential development that would sit among the
housing of the wider Cleevelands development scheme, which the main parties
agree would be of a sympathetic scale and complementary design. Set back from
Sapphire Road and facing the commercial development that serves the immediate
community, it would create an avenue style approach to the wider residential area
to the north, visible from and alongside multiple elements of the Cleevelands
scheme. Even acknowledging that it would be immediately to the south of other
affordable units and not dispersed among market dwellings, it remains that the
proposal would be experienced as part of the overall residential use and setting of
the immediate vicinity.

For the reasons given, the proposal would provide affordable housing in a seamless
and integrated manner in accordance with Policy SD12 of the JCS.

Planning obligation

19.

20.

21.

The Council’s reasons for refusal stated that the proposal would fail to secure a
planning obligation in relation to education contributions as requested by the
County Council pursuant to policies INF6 and INF7 of the JCS. However, having
updated its independent planning viability report concerning the impact of the
education contributions on the viability of the proposal, the Council has withdrawn
this reason for refusal as set out in the submitted Statement of Common Ground.

Furthermore, the Council is clear that its reason for refusal relating to the absence
of a completed planning obligation to secure a minimum of 40% affordable housing
or provide for recycling/waste bin facilities could be overcome by the provision of a
suitably worded section 106 agreement in this respect. The main parties have
supplied a completed planning agreement during the course of the appeal. Among
other things, this secures the delivery of 100% affordable housing units on the site,
being 22 units in total, and the payment of a refuse and recycling contribution to
Council prior to first occupation of any dwelling.

For the reasons given, the proposal would make adequate provision for education,
affordable housing and waste and recycling facilities through the completed
planning obligation. In this regard, it would comply with Policies INF6, INF7 and
SD12 of the JCS insofar as they seek to ensure new development delivers
affordable housing, is served and supported by adequate and appropriate
infrastructure and services, and that financial contribution towards the provision of
infrastructure and services are sought through a planning obligation.

Other Matters

22.

23.

I note concerns from interested parties on a number of issues, namely: parking
provision, highway safety, flood risk, living conditions, over supply of housing,
character and appearance through the loss of open space, emergency vehicle
access and sanitation.

With regard to highways and parking, the proposal would increase the amount of
vehicular traffic in the vicinity. However, it would provide ample parking spaces
prior to occupation of the dwellings. It would also utilise an existing junction off
Ruby Avenue that based on my observations would provide good visibility. Taken
together with the existing speed limits in the area, even acknowledging the
additional traffic movements I do not consider that concerns regarding highway
safety or parking provision would arise. There is also nothing substantive before me
to suggest that emergency vehicles would be unable to access the site.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 4

26

PL.20.02.24



PL.20.02.24

Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

24.

25.

26.

The precise positioning, layout and separation of the proposed dwellings in relation
to both the surrounding commercial and residential uses, and the other dwellings
proposed as part of the scheme, is such that the living conditions of both future and
existing residents would not be compromised. The largely residential nature of the
surrounds would also ensure the increase level of activity and movements
associated with further dwellings would not create undue noise and disturbance.

While the proposal would result in the loss of an open area of space, it has been
sensitively designed with a range of landscaping measures and planting that would
ensure an effective visual integration within the immediate area. Although it would
result in additional housing, combined with the other surrounding residential uses,
it would not appear out of place or create undue visual harm and, as discussed
below, would assist the Council in meeting its required housing land supply.

With regard to concerns regarding flooding and sanitation, the proposal is located in
Flood Risk Zone 1 and has been accompanied by a flood risk assessment and
drainage strategy that the Council deemed acceptable in its Officer’s Report. Based
on my observations, I have no reason to disagree. A condition would also ensure
that the surface water and foul water drainage scheme is to be completed prior to
occupation of the dwellings.

Planning Balance

27.

28.

29.

30.

Paragraph 11(d) of the Framework states that where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining
the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless any
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.
This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations where
the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply (or a four year
supply, if applicable) of deliverable housing sites (with a buffer, if applicable) and
does not benefit from the provisions of paragraph 76 of the Framework.

The main parties agree that the Council cannot demonstrate the required supply of
housing. There is nothing substantive in the evidence before me to suggest that
the provisions of paragraphs 76 or 77 of the Framework alter this position in this
instance. The Statement of Common Ground sets out that the main parties agree
that there are no adverse impacts of granting permission for the proposal that
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.

On the basis of my observations, I have no reason to disagree. The proposal would
provide for 22 affordable housing units, a clear benefit of the scheme that carries
significant weight. I have also found that the proposal would not cause harm in
respect of any of the main issues. I have also addressed the other matters raised
by interested parties above and, while I recognise the fallback position of the
extant pub use permission at the site, for the reasons given above I have attributed
this limited weight.

Accordingly, I find that there are no adverse impacts of granting permission for the
proposal that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and that
planning permission should therefore be granted subject to the imposition of
suitably worded conditions.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 5

27



Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

Conditions

3

32.

33.

34.

35.

I have had regard to the conditions suggested by the Council, and have provided
the appellant with an opportunity to provide comments on these, including those
which are pre-commencement conditions.

I have attached the standard timeframe condition, as well as a condition specifying
the relevant plans in accordance with which the development is to be carried out in
the interests of certainty and proper planning. As the plans condition contains
reference to Site Layout Plan D20 RevN, a separate condition that the development
be carried out in accordance with the site levels noted thereon is not necessary. A
condition that the development be in accordance with the agreed waste strategy is
also necessary to ensure effective implementation of waste minimisation.

A condition that no development shall take place until a Construction Method
Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing is necessary in the
interests of highway safety. A further pre-commencement condition is also
necessary in the interests of protection for existing trees. A condition that no
development above plate level shall take place prior to approval of external
materials has been attached in the interests of the surrounding character and
appearance.

I have attached various conditions that are to be discharged prior to first
occupation. These relate to: drainage scheme completion; installation of bird boxes
and hedgehog fencing; submission of a noise assessment relating to the pumping
station; layout of access, parking and turning; and provision of a dropped kerb.
These are necessary in the interests of: flood risk; ecology; living conditions of
occupiers; highway safety and parking provision, respectively. I further attach a
condition relating to the approval of a residential welcome pack in the interests of
promoting sustainable transport.

I have attached a condition that planting shall be carried out in the first planting
season following the occupation of any building or the completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner, in the interests of surrounding character and
appearance. A condition restricting the hours of demolition and construction works
is necessary in the interests of the living conditions of surrounding residents. I have
also attached a condition outlining the approach should contamination be found
during the course of construction of the development to ensure there are no
unacceptable impacts with regard to land contamination. Finally, a condition that no
external lighting is to be installed without approval is required in the interests of
character and appearance and the living conditions of surrounding residents.

Conclusion

36.

For the reasons given, the appeal should be allowed subject to the conditions at
Schedule 1.

C Rafferty

INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 6

28

PL.20.02.24



PL.20.02.24

Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

SCHEDULE 1 - CONDITIONS

1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from the
date of this decision.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans and documents:

Site Location Plan D100 Rev A;

Site Layout Plan D20 Rev N;

Floor Plans and Elevations House Types C Plots 1-2, 21-22 D14 Rev A;
Floor Plans and Elevations House Types B/D Plots 3-4 D12 Rev B;
Floor Plans and Elevations House Types B/D Plots 5-6 D11 Rev B;
Floor Plans and Elevations House Types Al Plots 7-12 D10 Rev A;
Floor Plans and Elevations House Types F/F1 Plots 13-16 D16 Rev B;
Floor Plans and Elevations House Types E Plots 17-18 D15 Rev A;
Floor Plans and Elevations House Types C Plots 19-20 D13 Rev A;
Detail Planting Plan D900 Rev B;

Bin Strategy Plan D95;

Amenity Areas and POS figures D20;

Wastewater Plan 506148-2;

Clean water plan 506148-1;

Gas Plan 21306639 dated 15 February 2021;

Landscape and Habitat Management and Maintenance plan dated August 2021;
Storm Water Calculations dated 30 November 2022;

Drainage Strategy 21-063/502a DS;

Drainage Catchment Plan 21-063/523;

Tree Survey and AIA dated February 2021;

Lighting Assessment prepared by Dwd dated 15 June 2021;

Flood Risk Assessment dated August 2021;

Parking Court and Open Space Management Plan;

Transport Statement dated 2021; and

Energy Statement dated 22nd October 2021

W

. The development hereby approved shall be implemented in accordance with the
waste strategy, Bin Collection Strategy and the SWMP document as received by
the local planning authority on 2 February 2023.

4. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by the local planning authority. The Statement shall provide for:

¢ Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to
ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring
properties during construction);

o Advisory routes for construction traffic;

e Any temporary access to the site;

o Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction
materials;

e Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

e Arrangements for turning vehicles;

e Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 7

29



PL.20.02.24

Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

¢ Highway Condition survey; and
¢ Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors
and neighbouring residents and businesses.

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the
construction period for the development.

5. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, site
clearance, materials delivery or erection of site buildings, until the erection of
tree protection measures of any retained tree are undertaken in accordance with
the approved details specified in the tree protection plan Drawing No D17270-
before any development. The approved tree protection measures shall remain in
place until the completion of development or unless otherwise agreed in writing
with the local planning authority. Excavations of any kind, alterations in soil
levels, storage of any materials, soil, equipment, fuel, machinery or plant, site
compounds, latrines, vehicle parking and delivery areas, fires and any other
activities liable to be harmful to trees and hedgerows are prohibited within any
area fenced, unless agreed in writing with the local planning authority.

6. No development above floor plate level shall take place until samples or a precise
specification of all external facing materials, including hard landscaping, have
been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. The
relevant works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved sample
details.

7. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the surface water and foul
water drainage scheme for the site shall have been completed in accordance with
the submitted details. The sustainable drainage system shall be managed and
maintained thereafter in accordance with the agreed management and
maintenance plan.

8. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until bird nesting sites/boxes and
hedgehog fencing has been installed in accordance with details, including a plan
showing locations, height and orientation of the boxes and fencing, that have
been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing.

9. No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a noise assessment report
relating to any potential noise arising from the adjacent pumping station has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
report shall include any required noise attenuation measures and a timetable for
their implementation. All measurements shall be made in accordance with the
methodology of BS4142:2014+A1:2019 Methods for rating and assessing
industrial and commercial sound.

10.No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the access, parking and
turning facilities have been implemented as detailed on approved drawing Site
Layout Plan D20 Rev N. These areas as detailed on the approved drawing Site
Layout Plan D20 Rev N, shall thereafter be kept available at all times for the
access, parking and turning of vehicles.

11.No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a dropped kerb tactile
crossing has been provided at the site access junction and made available for
public use.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 8

30



PL.20.02.24

Appeal Decision APP/G1630/W/23/3325421

12.No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a residential welcome pack
promoting sustainable forms of access to the development has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved pack shall
be provided to each resident at the point of the first occupation of their dwelling.

13.Demolition or construction works, including the receipt or despatching of
deliveries during the construction or demolition phase, shall take place only
between 0800 hours and 1800 hours on Monday - Friday inclusive, 0800 hours
and 1300 hours on Saturday, and shall not take place at any time on Sundays or
on Bank or Public Holidays.

14.Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the
approved development that was not previously identified shall be reported
immediately to the local planning authority. Development on the part of the site
affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment carried out and submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Where unacceptable
risks are found remediation and verification schemes shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. These approved schemes
shall be carried out before the development is resumed or continued.

15.All planting comprised in the approved details of tree/hedgerow planting shall be
carried out in the first planting season following the occupation of any building or
the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or
hedgerows which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall
be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species,
unless the local planning authority gives written consent to any variation. If any
trees or hedgerows fail more than once they shall continue to be replaced on an
annual basis until the end of the 5 year period.

16.No external lighting/floodlighting is to be installed on the site prior to details
having been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 9

31






Agenda Iltem 6a

Planning Committee

Date 19 March 2024

Case Officer Sarah Smith

Application No. 23/00930/0UT

Site Location Part Parcel 4256, Homedowns, Tewkesbury

Proposal Residential development of up to 30 residential dwellings, associated

works (including demolition), open space, infrastructure and
landscaping with vehicular access from the A46(T).

Ward Isbourne
Parish Ashchurch Rural
Appendices Site location plan

Illustrative Masterplan

Reason for Referral | Outline application for the erection of 10 or more residential units
to Committee

Recommendation Delegated Permit

Site Location

33



1. The Proposal

Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=summary&keyVal=S20GLRODL8U00

1.1 The application proposes the development of up to 30 dwellings and associated works, open
space infrastructure and landscaping with vehicular access proposed from the A46(T). The
red line location plan shows access would be taken through the adjoining residential
development to the south and then north westwards to the A46 through the proposed estate
road. The application is made in Outline with all matters reserved.

2. Site Description

2.1 The site lies mainly to the west of Fiddington Lane and includes land through the adjacent
consented residential mixed use development (17/00520/0UT) and the retail development to
the north of this (17/01203/FUL), both of which are under construction, in order to achieve
access from the public highway (A46T) as noted above. Additionally the site includes land to
the east of Fiddington Lane required for surface water drainage and also as stated in the
Planning Statement submitted by the applicant ‘land running northward on the west side of
Fiddington Lane should a pedestrian/cycle link be required’.

2.2 The part of the overall site on which the residential development is proposed comprises some
1.0ha of agricultural land. The proposed residential site is currently used for the grazing of
horses and is bounded by hedgerows with an access lane along the northern boundary and
consented residential sites to the south and west, Fiddington Lane to the east (although with
the area for the SUDs basin on the eastern side of the lane). Outline consent has also been
granted on appeal in December 2023 for a larger residential development for up to 120
dwellings on the eastern, opposite side of Fiddington Lane to this application site
(22/01320/0UT). This latter site also includes the large SUDs basin proposed with this current
application.

3. Relevant Planning History

None on site itself

Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date
22/00439/APP Reserved matters application for Parcel H2 for APPROV | 09.05.2023

appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for the
erection of 209 no. Dwellings and associated
works and infrastructure pursuant to outline
permission 17/00520/0OUT. (Adjacent site to
south)

4. Consultation Responses

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

34



http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

412

4.13

Ashchurch Rural Parish Council — Object on the following grounds:-

- Not in accordance with ARPNDP Policy V1 - Protection of intrinsic value of the
countryside due to loss of open countryside, negative impact on PROW AAS8 and
cycle access to the north of site will conflict with vehicles entering / exiting the
permitted development at Tyn y Cae.

- Increased use of pedestrian level crossing over railway line at Homedowns and
associated dangers

Sustainable Drainage Engineer (LLFA) — No objections subject to condition.
County Highways Officer — No objections subject to conditions.

Housing Enabling Officer- No representations received at the time of writing.
Public Rights of Way (Gloucestershire) — Recommend Informatives.

Ecologist- No objections following revision to Ecological Assessment and clarification
over BNG extent. Recommend prior to commencement conditions in relation to CEMP,
LEMP and external lighting.

Environmental Health Officer- Further detailed assessment in respect of noise levels
would be required with a Reserved Matters application and recommend conditions with
regard to hours of construction, CEMP and potential contaminated land.

County Archaeologist- There is no significant archaeology known at this location and
low risk that archaeological remains would be adversely affected.

Conservation Officer- No objections.

County Education S106 Infrastructure Team- Financial contributions required to make
the development acceptable in relation to Primary Education and Libraries. An update on
this position will be provided verbally to Members at Planning Committee.

Community Infrastructure Team- Need for contributions towards Ashchurch village hall
improvements and off site open space contributions.

Building Control- Will require Building Regulations approval.

Network Rail- Object on the basis that an increase in residential development within the
Homedown area will cause an increase in use of the nearby railway level crossing to a
level that is considered unacceptable in terms of highway safety. Despite evidence being
submitted to respond to this objection Network Rail remain concerned about the
cumulative impact of developments within walking distance of the Homedowns level
crossing and note that such developments will increase risk at the crossing due to the
increase in use of the crossing and the introduction of vulnerable users where currently
there are none.

35



4.14

4.15

Minerals and Waste — Further information should be provided relating to waste
minimisation and the development’s build phase and also for waste minimisation during
the development’s occupation phase. Conditions recommended in respect of waste
generated during site preparation/demolition/construction and for occupation waste and
recycling management. The application has also not demonstrated that consideration has
been given to alternative secondary and/or recycled aggregate use in the proposed
development’s construction and recommend that further information should be submitted
prior to determination.

Cleeve Ramblers- The Design and Access Statement is incorrect to state that there are
no PROW routing through the site- AAS8 crosses through the western North-South
corridor of the redlined area and passes through the southern East-West Corridor.
Continuity of the PROWS across the wider development must be maintained.

Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days.

One letter of objection on the following grounds:-

- Overdevelopment

- The existing Community value

- What green space can be retained considering the land to the west is being
developed with 850 houses

- Landscape harm when viewed in conjunction with other permitted development
creating an urbanisation

- Visual harm from PROW AAS8

- The harm of losing this green space will outweigh the benefit of 30 houses
considering the permitted 1650 houses

- The deliverability of this site should be questioned and whether it will delay existing
builds

- SOL (Save Our Lanes) do appreciate that this development does not access
Fiddington Lane with motorised vehicles. However, SOL consider the route to the
A46 from this site via the permitted development will become extremely
congested, including the A46 itself with the additional traffic light activations.

One letter of objection in respect of the lack of reference to self build and custom houses
in the proposal.

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in

accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

36


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

6.2  National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

6.3 Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

— Policy SP1 (The Need for New Development)

— Policy SP2 (The Distribution of New Development)
— Policy SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction)
— Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)

— Policy SD6 (Landscape)

— Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)

— Policy SD10 (Residential Development)

— Policy SD11 (Housing Mix and Standards)

— Policy SD12 (Affordable Housing)

— Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)

— Policy INF1 (Transport Network)

— Policy INF2 (Flood Risk and Management)

— Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

— Policy INF4 (Social and Community Infrastructure)
— Policy INF6 (Infrastructure Contributions)

— Policy INF7 (Developer Contributions)

— Policy REV1 (Gloucester and Tewkesbury Housing Supply Review)

6.4 Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022

- Policy RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)

- Policy RES3 (New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries)

- Policy RES5 (New Housing Developments)

- Policy RES12 (Affordable Housing)

- Policy RES13 (Housing Mix)

- Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards)

- Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character)

- Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features)
- Policy NAT3 (Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature)

- Policy NAT5 (Cotswold Beechwoods)

- Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)

- Policy HEA1 (Healthy and Active Communities)

- Policy RCN1 (Public Outdoor Space, Sports Pitch and Sports Facility Provision)
- Policy COM2 (Broadband Provision)

- Policy TRAC1 (Pedestrian Accessibility)

- Policy TRAC2 (Cycle Network and Infrastructure)

- Policy TRACS (Bus Infrastructure)

- Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision)

37



6.5 Neighbourhood Plan
Ashchurch Rural Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan 2020-2031
- Policy T1 (Modal Shift for Major Development Proposals)
- Policy T2 (Road Safety For Walking and Cycling)
- Policy C1 (Community Infrastructure)
- Policy C2 (Broadband)
- Policy W1 (Water Management)
- Policy V1 (Protection of the Intrinsic Value of the Countryside)
- Policy H1 (Housing in Rural Areas)
- Policy H2 (Design of housing in the countryside and Fiddington, Pamington and
Walton Cardiff)
Other relevant policies/legislation
- Human Rights Act 1998
- Article 8 (Right to Respect for Private and Family Life)
- The First Protocol — Article 1 (Protection of Property)

7. Policy Context

7.1  Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

7.2  The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), policies
of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number
of 'made' Neighbourhood Development Plans.

7.3  The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

7.4  Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and its associated Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

8. Evaluation
Five Year Housing Supply

8.1  The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year
supply of deliverable housing sites (or a four year supply if applicable). Where local
authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, paragraph
11 of the NPPF sets out that housing policies contained within development plans should
not be considered up-to-date.

8.2  Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL),

and subsequently published Tewkesbury Borough Five Year Housing Land Supply
Statement October 2023, the Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate a
five year supply of deliverable housing land. The published position is that the Council’s
five year supply of deliverable housing sites is 3.24 years supply of housing land. Officers
consider this shortfall is significant. The Council’s policies for the provision of housing are

38



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

therefore out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.

Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that where policies which are
most important for determining the application are out of date, permission should be
granted unless: i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or ii) any
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits,
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole

Principle of development

In order to further sustainability objectives and in the interests of protecting the
countryside, the housing policies of the JCS set out a development strategy for the
Borough. Strategic Policies SP1 and SP2 of the JCS set out the scale and distribution of
development to be delivered across the JCS area in the period to 2031.

Tewkesbury is identified as a Market town in the JCS and Policy SP2 sets out that to meet
the needs of Tewkesbury Borough, none of which is being met by the urban extensions to
Gloucester and Cheltenham, the JCS will make provision for at least 9,899 new homes. At
least 7,445 dwellings will be provided through existing commitments, development at
Tewkesbury town in line with its role as a market town, smaller-scale development
meeting local needs at Rural Service Centres and Service Villages.

The application site is located outside of the defined settlement boundary for Tewkesbury
as defined in TBLP Proposals Map. The Site Location Plan shows that the proposed
housing would be located less than 0.3km of the defined settlement boundary and is
separated from the existing built up area of Tewkesbury by some individual established
residential curtilages, the flood plain of the Tirle Brook and the retail outlet development
currently under construction. However as noted earlier it is material that the site is largely
surrounded by approved and partly under construction residential development sites.

Policy SD10 confirms that housing development on other sites will only be permitted
where it is previously developed land in the existing built-up areas of Tewkesbury town,
service centres and service villages, or :

i. It is for affordable housing on a rural exception site in accordance with Policy
SD12, or;

ii. It is infilling within the existing built up areas of the City of Gloucester, the Principal
Urban Area of Cheltenham or Tewkesbury Borough's towns and villages except
where otherwise restricted by policies within District plans, or;

iii. It is brought forward through Community Right to Build Orders, or;

iv. There are other specific exceptions / circumstances defined in district or
neighbourhood plans.

TBLP Policy RES3 states that outside of the defined settlement boundaries, the principle
of new residential development will only be considered acceptable where development
being proposed consists of one of the exceptions. None of the exceptions apply to the
proposed development.

39



8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not meet any of
the exceptions of Policy SD10 of the JCS or Policy RES3 of the TBLP. The application
therefore conflicts with Policy SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policy RES3 of the TBLP
and the conflict with these adopted development plan policies are the starting point for
decision making. The proposal is therefore unacceptable in principle due to its location
outside of any defined settlement boundaries on undeveloped land. However, it is also the
case that a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites cannot currently be demonstrated.
The NPPF states at paragraph 11 and footnote 8, that if a local authority cannot
demonstrate that a 5-year housing land supply exists, then the policies which are most
important for determining the application are deemed out of date. It is also notable that the
site is immediately adjacent to sites on 3 sides having the benefit of planning permission
for residential development (to the west, south and across Fiddington Lane to the east).
The site would also be accessed by the main estate road running through the wider
development area to the south and west.

The correct course of the NPPF to be followed is clear as Paragraph 11d sets out that in
circumstances where the most important policies for determining an application are out of
date (and this includes circumstances where the local planning authority cannot
demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites, as is the case here) there is a
presumption that planning permission be granted unless:

i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed; or

i) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework
taken as a whole.

Landscape impact

Paragraph 180a of the NPPF sets out that the planning system should contribute to and
enhance the local environment by, inter alia, protecting and enhancing Valued
Landscapes in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in
the Development Plan. The Council considers that the site cannot be classified as a
‘Valued Landscape’ although it is recognised for passers by using the lane for informal
recreation which allows views into the site, albeit limited due to existing hedgerows, it may
be considered important locally.

JCS Policy SDA4(i) states that new development should respond positively to, and respect
the character of, the site and its surroundings. Policy SD4(iv) states that new development
should ensure that the design of landscaped areas, open space and public realm are of
high quality, provide a clear structure and constitute an integral and cohesive element
within the design.

JCS Policy SD6 states that development will seek to protect landscape character for its
own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, environmental and social well-being.
Proposals will have regard to local distinctiveness and historic character of different
landscapes and proposals are required to demonstrate how the development will protect
landscape character and avoid detrimental effects on types, patterns and features which
make a significant contribution to the character, history and setting of a settlement area.

40



8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

Policy LAN2 of the TBP states that all development must, through sensitive design, siting,
and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into, their existing landscape setting.

The landscape here will change if the site is developed but it is considered by officers that
a suitable landscaping scheme is capable of being provided which is attractive for the
potential occupiers and allows the development site to be integrated into the nearby
proposed residential development and therefore it will be seen as part of the wider
development approved in this area. In this context it is concluded that the development
would be acceptable in principle with regard to its impact on landscape.

Highway Matters

The site red line includes vehicular access from the land to the south, then west and
northwest from and to the A46 through land within other development sites for housing
and mixed-use development. The indicative masterplan illustrates this would provide the
site vehicular access to the A46. The vehicular access route is accepted in principle by
the Highways Officer but would require details at reserved matters stage of suitable two-
way swept paths allowing for service vehicles, cars and emergency vehicles with suitable
visibility. This access would also require suitable footway connections to the approved bus
route from the C87 / Fiddington Lane south past the site using the vehicular access route
west and northwest back to the A46 towards Tewkesbury. This access would need to
include suitable footways and cycle connections to the approved pedestrian/cycle route
from the C87 and through the development land south and west to access amenities as
approved and back along the vehicular route northwest to the A46.

The trip rates estimated for the proposed 30 dwellings in the Transport Assessment are
considered reasonable by the Highways Officer and although will add to existing traffic
congestion on the local and trunk road network around the A46 it is not considered that,
with suitable sustainable travel links, the proposed development would be detrimental to
highway movements.

The red line of the application site extends north along the west side of the C87 /
Fiddington lane from the residential site itself up to the recently constructed roundabout
south of the A46 where the nearest off-road shared cycle/pedestrian paths end. A
pedestrian and cycle link has been recommended by condition for the adjacent residential
site (22/01320/0OUT allowed on appeal APP/G1630/W/23/332453). A suitably designed
LTN 1/20 compliant pedestrian and cycle link through the application site from alongside
the existing C87 lane through the application site north to the A46 would be sought via
condition.

There is an existing public right of way footpath AASS8, connecting the class 5 lane west
towards the M5 across the under-construction estate road to the A46 within the red line.
This path would need to be safeguarded and improved with suitable crossings. The
indicatively proposed vehicle access route also crosses public right of way footpath AAS7
extending from footpath AAS8 south crossing the vehicle access route which would also
need to be safeguarded and improved with suitable crossings. The public rights of way
officer has commented on the public footpaths affected by the site red line area and would
need to be consulted to agree any changes to the existing footpaths.

The illustrative masterplan does not illustrate direct pedestrian and cycle links via the
northeast corner of the site onto the pedestrian and cycle route approved on the west side
of the existing lane north to the A46, included in the neighbouring site with approval
22/01320/0OUT. This would be sought to establish a suitable connection north of the

41



8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

application site.

The illustrative masterplan does illustrate a pedestrian / cycle link in the northwest corner
of the site onto the class 5 lane (road number 500268) which runs along the northern
boundary of the site. This would provide a useful link to public footpath AAS8 west from
the lane onto the under-construction road through the neighbouring development sites.
However, this link would require suitable emerging visibility splays commensurate with
recorded speeds. Safe and suitable pedestrian and cycle separation from traffic along the
narrow class 5 lane to the northwest site corner with visibility has been requested by the
Highways Officer although the applicant considers this unnecessary given the likely
limited use of the lane by vehicular traffic. The pedestrian / cycle link between the site and
the 500268 lane appears as a narrow footway which should be widened for use by
pedestrians and cyclists according to LTN 1/20 guidance and provide safe entrance
features onto the class 5 lane to the north. The Highways Officer also states that a
pedestrian and cycle link should be made from the southeast corner of the site via the
residential roads south of the site to provide for direct links to the bus stops proposed
within the proposed housing to the south from the class 3 Fiddington Lane.

The inclusion of street trees on the illustrative masterplan is welcomed and supported by
the Highways Officer subject to suitable location, species and siting to ensure safe and
suitable access with management provision and a commuted sum to would be required by
the County Council for any trees within highway space proposed for adoption — this
provided through technical approval with the County Council.

In summary the Highways Officer has no objections subject to Conditions.
Pedestrian safety in relation to the railway crossing

For those pedestrians leaving the proposed site who wish to travel east the closest means
of traversing the railway line to the east is to take the lane which goes under the railway
line to Natton. However, Network Rail have raised concern about the increased risk of
occupiers of this site using the Homedown Level Crossing to the southeast in order to
access public rights of way and countryside to the east.

The Homedown level crossing is situated some distance from the site southeast of
Fiddington Lane. It comprises of a ‘User Worked Crossing with Telephones (UWCT) but
also a ‘Footpath with Wicket gates (FPW). It is understood that the UWCT can only be
used by a known list of authorised users who have a private right to use the crossing with
vehicles.” Both vehicular gates are padlocked with access requiring a key and permission
to cross. However, the pedestrian wicket gates are unlocked and provide 24 hours access
over the crossing. The lane either side of the level crossing forms part of a public right of
way and the Gloucestershire Way.

A recent appeal decision for an outline application for 120 dwellings opposite the
application site which is immediately adjacent to the railway line and close to the
pedestrian crossing discussed in some detail the issue of pedestrian risk in relation to the
railway line (APP/G1630/W/23/3324253 planning application 22/01320/0UT). Whilst not
objecting to the principle of development in that case Network Rail sought a Grampian
condition to prevent the occupation of the dwellings until the Homedown level crossing is
closed. The Appeal Inspector considered the evidence submitted in that case and
considered that the context of both the proposed development and the level crossing
needed to be given due consideration in determining whether there would be any impacts
on safety and risk. In his view the crossing had excellent visibility but also the

42



8.27

8.28

8.29

development the subject of the appeal would provide a pedestrian link northward to the
lane to encourage use of the alternative Natton Lane underpass route. The Inspector
considered that this route would be an attractive route for development on the opposite
side of Fiddington Lane too.

The issue of potential flooding of the Natton lane route was raised at the Inquiry but it was
considered that there was insufficient evidence to demonstrate that this was so significant
that it would prevent use of the route on a regular basis. The Inspector concluded that the
Natton Lane underpass provided an alternative route to access the PROW and
countryside to the east without needing to cross the railway line. In addition, there would
be little reason for future residents of the scheme to use the level crossing to access
everyday local services as these are/will be located to the north and west. In the
Inspector’s view the appeal scheme would be unlikely to result in a significant increase in
the FPW from residents of the appeal scheme and concluded that the proposal would not
result in unacceptable harm to the public safety of the level crossing. The appeal decision
is a material consideration.

The proposed development, the subject of this report, is further away from the level
crossing and is of a smaller scale than the appeal site and, in addition, well located in
terms of the proposed pedestrian/cycle link being provided to the north and close to the
quiet lane ( Natton Lane) which leads under the railway line to the countryside in the east.
The distance from the northern boundary of the application site to the subway under the
railway is 280 metres. If future residents were to alternatively route south through the
consented scheme, along Fiddington Lane (without footpaths) then east past the
Homedown Business Park to cross the level crossing this would be a journey of over 630
metres. The applicant has provided a rebuttal to the comments of Network Rail and notes
that pedestrian movement in that particular direction is unlikely in any event since there
are no key trip attractors east of the railway - although officers consider that it may be
attractive for dog walkers and hikers for example. However, based on ‘just walking’ trips
alone the applicant considers the figure of 2 trips dalily is likely but also that these trips
would be mostly made by people using the lane to Natton to traverse the railway rather
than the level crossing route. Taking into account the appeal Inspector’s views officers
consider that an objection on highway safety grounds in respect of increased use and
therefore risk of the level crossing by pedestrians cannot be sustained.

Design and layout

Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve. It continues by stating that good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities. Planning decisions should, amongst other
things, ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the
area and should be sympathetic to the local character, including the surrounding built
environment. Paragraph 139 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning permission should
be refused for development of poor design that fails to reflect local design policies and
government guidance on design contained in the National Design Guide and National
Model Design Code.

43



8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

The National Design Guide (NDG) addresses the question of how we recognise well-
designed places, by outlining and illustrating the government priorities for well-designed
places in the form of ten characteristics; one of which is the context. The NDG provides
that well-designed development should respond positively to the features of the site itself
and the surrounding context beyond the site boundary and that well-designed new
development needs to be integrated into its wider surroundings, physically, socially, and
visually.

JCS Policy SD4 provides that new development should respond positively to, and respect
the character of, the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, and
addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, layout,
mass and form. It should be of a scale, type, density, and materials appropriate to the site
and its setting. Criterion 6 of Policy SD10 of the JCS states that residential development
should seek to achieve maximum density compatible with good design, the protection of
heritage assets, local amenity, the character and quality of the local environment, and the
safety and convenience of the local and strategic road network.

The applicant has submitted an illustrative masterplan with the application that
demonstrates how a layout could be achieved around the proposed access point.
However, all matters relating to design and layout are reserved for future consideration.

Residential amenity

In respect of the impact of the development upon residential amenity, paragraph 135 of
the NPPF specifies that planning decisions should ensure development creates places
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. This advice is reflected in
JCS policies SD4 and SD14 which require development to enhance comfort, convenience
and enjoyment through assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy and external
space. Development should have no detrimental impact on the amenity of existing or new
residents or occupants.

Policy RES5S of the TBLP also sets out that proposals should provide an acceptable level
of amenity for the future occupiers of the proposed dwellings and cause no unacceptable
harm to the amenity of existing dwellings.

Policy DES1 of the TBLP requires all new residential development to meet the
Government’s national space standards as a minimum, to ensure that high quality homes
are delivered that provide a sufficient amount of internal space appropriate for occupancy
of the dwelling. These space standards will be secured as part of any future reserved
matters application.

The application is in outline and therefore the specific internal relationship of the
dwellings, as well as the relationship of the proposed development with any surrounding
built form on the site boundaries will need careful consideration as part of any future
reserved matters application. However, officers consider that, subject to the approval of
details at reserved matters stage, the residential amenity of existing and future occupiers
is capable of being achieved.

44



8.37

8.38

8.39

8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

Housing mix

Policy SD11 of the JCS and RES13 of the TBLP requires all new housing development to
provide an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes, types and tenures in order to contribute to
mixed and balanced communities and a balanced housing market. Housing mix should be
based on the most up to date evidence of local housing need and market demand.

The Gloucestershire Local Housing Needs Assessment 2019 — Final Report and
Summary (September 2020) (LHNA) provides the most up to date evidence base to
inform the housing mix on residential applications. This report states that in Tewkesbury
3% of new market dwellings should be one bedroom properties, with 13% having two
bedrooms, 54% containing three bedrooms and 29% having four bedrooms or more.

The DAS sets out the proposals allow for a range of dwellings across the site with varying
sizes and tenures to accommodate a variety of household types. It is proposed that there
would be differing densities across the site including higher densities in the centre and
lower densities at the edges of the scheme, particularly that fronting Fiddington Lane.
Given the proposal is in outline, should planning permission be granted, a condition is
recommended to secure the market housing mix so that the schedule of accommodation
would be in broad accordance with the most up to date evidence of the local housing
market need and market demand at the time any reserved matters application for the
development is submitted.

A representation has been received in respect of the lack of self build/custom land within
the proposal. This has been drawn to the attention of the applicant and an update will be
verbally provided to Members at Planning Committee.

Affordable housing

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that the planning system needs to perform a number of
roles, including a social role in supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
providing a supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future
generations.

Policy SD12 of the JCS and Policy RES12 of the TBLP requires 40% of the proposed
houses to be secured as affordable housing.

The Design and Access Statement within the application states that a policy compliant
level of affordable housing will be provided. The precise mix of unit types, sizes and
details of tenure arrangements would be subject to consultation and agreement with the
LPA and would be set out in the Section 106 Agreement. Detailed design information
regarding affordable housing provision would be required at the Reserved Matters Stage.

Surface Water Drainage and flood risk

JCS Policy INF2 advises that development proposals must avoid areas at risk of flooding
and must not increase the level of risk to the safety of occupiers of a site and that the risk
of flooding should be minimised by providing resilience and taking into account climate
change. It also requires new development to incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage
Systems (SuDS) where appropriate to manage surface water drainage. This is reflected in
Policy ENV2 of the TBP and the NPPF.

45



8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

8.52

The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 and has a low probability of fluvial flooding.

The application proposes an attenuation basin on the other side of Fiddington Lane which
would provide an area for surface water from severe storms to be accommodated and
released at a controlled rate. The attenuation basin is larger than required by this
development since it would also provide attenuation for a larger residential development
scheme for 120 dwellings on the east side of Fiddington Lane recently allowed on appeal.
The Sustainable Drainage Officer (LLFA) has no objections to the proposal subject to
condition.

Foul Drainage

The nearest foul sewerage network, which is owned and managed by Severn Trent
Water, is located approximately 1.5Km to the north in Ashchurch.

Planning permission has been granted for a residential development of up to 850
dwellings and is under construction located immediately to the south and

west of the application site. It is proposed to connect the foul drainage from the application
site to the proposed foul drainage for this approved residential development. It is
understood that a contractual agreement between the applicant and the developer is in
place for foul drainage connections to be provided. Due to the topography of the site, in
order to drain the application site by gravity to point U, the raising of ground levels is
proposed between 15 and 90 centimetres in parts of the site.

The proposed foul drainage for this application site has also been designed to cater for
the pumped flows from the proposed residential development for 120 dwellings east of
Fiddington Lane as allowed on appeal (22/01320/0OUT).

Biodiversity and Trees

The NPPF sets out, inter alia, that when determining planning applications, Local Planning
Authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by encouraging opportunities
to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments, especially where this can secure
measurable gains for biodiversity. Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks to protect and, wherever
possible enhance biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats. Policy NAT1 of the TBLP
states that development proposals that will conserve, and where possible restore and/or
enhance biodiversity will be permitted.

A desk study was carried out along with various ecological surveys by the applicant in
2020, 2021 and 2023.The main part of site where the 30 dwellings are proposed
comprises the northern part of a field of species-poor semi-improved grassland bordered
by hedgerows with trees to the east and west.

The field to the east where the sustainable drainage system (SuDS) basin is proposed
comprises species-poor semi-improved grassland with a hedgerow along the western
boundary. The area to the north where a cycle / pedestrian link will be implemented
through this proposal (or provided under application 23/1320/0UT) comprises a woodland
belt, species-rich grassland, and a group of horse chestnut trees. There is a hedgerow
along the eastern boundary.

46



8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

The Council’s Ecologist notes that there is potential for nesting and foraging birds in the
hedgerows, trees, scrub and buildings. The development would result in the loss of the
majority of the species-poor grassland in the main site to housing. A small area of
species-poor grassland in the eastern field would be affected by construction of the SuDS
basin although this has been considered previously under the allowed appeal scheme. All
of the existing hedgerows and trees in the main site and eastern site would be retained.

The mitigation set out in the Ecological Assessment, as amended, is considered
acceptable by the Council’s Ecologist. These include the provision of Public Open Space
with wildflower meadow; new native and locally sourced tree, shrub and hedgerow
planting; planting up gaps in retained hedgerows; a sensitive operational phase lighting
scheme to minimise impacts on bats; installation of bat and bird boxes on trees; provision
of log piles for invertebrates; and long-term favourable management of all habitats on site.
Bat roosting and bird nesting features are also proposed to be incorporated into the new
dwellings and measures for hedgehogs incorporated into the development including gaps
at the base of permanent fencing and the provision of hedgehog houses and insect
houses.

The Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) calculation shows that the habitat mitigation and
enhancements proposed would result in a net gain in biodiversity of approximately 13%
for habitats and 40% for hedgerows. The development as indicated in the Illustrative
Masterplan would therefore meet the BNG requirements. The BNG assessment only
covers the main site, and not the areas to the east (SuDS basin) or north (cycle /
pedestrian link) but this would be potential ‘double counting’ since these areas are
considered with the allowed appeal scheme to the east. The BNG assessment would
need to be revised when more detailed landscape plans are developed at future planning
stages.

Archaeology

The NPPF states that where a site on which development is proposed includes or has the
potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities
should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where
necessary, a field evaluation. Policy SD8 of the adopted JCS seeks to protect Heritage
Assets and Policy HER4 of the TBLP also seek to ensure that new development will have
no adverse impact on archaeological remains of interest.

The County Archaeologist has advised that a Geophysical Survey and Trench Evaluation
has previously been undertaken at the site and identified no significant archaeological
remains. Therefore, there is a very low risk that archaeological remains would be
adversely affected by the development proposal. As a consequence, the County
Archaeologist recommends that no archaeological or recording needs to be undertaken in
connection with the scheme.

Open Space
The NPPF sets out that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and
safe communities including promoting social interaction. Planning decisions should enable

and support healthy lifestyles including through the provision of safe and accessible green
infrastructure and sports facilities.

a7



8.59

8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

JCS Policy INF4 states that where new residential development will create or add to, a
need for community facilities, it will be fully met as on-site provision and/or as a
contribution to facilities or services off-site. JCS Policies INF6 and INF7 support this
requirement.

Policy RCNL1 of the TBP requires that new development shall provide appropriate public
open space, sports pitches and built sports facilities to meet the needs of local
communities and that provision should be informed by the most up to date evidence base.

The application proposes a Local Area of Play (LAP) within the site as part of the provided
open space on the site of .22ha. Given the relatively small scale of the site contributions to
off-site open space provision will be sought through the completion of a S106 Agreement.
There are a number of identified improvements to existing public sports and recreation
facilities in the Tewkesbury area that could benefit. No agreement on the details of this
has been reached with the applicant at this stage. A verbal update will be provided to
Members at Planning Committee.

Education, Libraries and Community Provision

Gloucestershire County Council as Local Education Authority (LEA) has been consulted
on the application and originally requested contributions to primary school places in the
area but following further information being provided by the applicant has now not sought
to require such a contribution. The County Council has requested a Library contribution of
5,880 (£196 pre dwelling) in order to mitigate the impact of increasing library users arising
from the development. This would be utilised for improvements to Tewkesbury library. The
applicant has agreed this planning obligation.

The Communities team have noted that the development would generate a need for 9
square metres of community hall provision at a cost of £14,551 and Ashchurch Village
Hall have identified plans in order to extend their facility. However, the applicant contends
this as they consider that the proposal aligns with the community provision already
identified within the adjacent development. A verbal update will be provided to Members
on this aspect at Planning Committee.

Section 106 obligations

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations allow local authorities to raise funds
from developers undertaking new building projects in their area. Whilst the Council does
have a CIL in place, infrastructure requirements specifically related to the impact of the
development will continue to be secured via a Section 106 legal agreement. The CIL
regulations stipulate that, where planning obligations do not meet the tests, it is ‘unlawful’
for those obligations to be taken into account when determining an application.

These tests are as follows:
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.

b) directly related to the development; and
c) fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development.

48



8.66

8.67

8.68

JCS Policy INF6 relates directly to infrastructure delivery and states that any infrastructure
requirements generated as a result of individual site proposals and/or having regard to the
cumulative impacts, should be served and supported by adequate and appropriate on/off-
site infrastructure and services. The Local Planning Authority will seek to secure
appropriate infrastructure, which is necessary, directly related, and fairly and reasonably
related to the scale and kind of the development proposal. Policy INF4 of the JCS requires
appropriate social and community infrastructure to be delivered where development
creates a need for it. JCS Policy INF7 states the arrangements for direct implementation
or financial contributions towards the provision of infrastructure and services should be
negotiated with developers before the grant of planning permission. Financial
contributions will be sought through S106 and CIL mechanisms as appropriate.

Requests have been made by consultees to secure the following obligations/
contributions:

Affordable Housing (policy compliant)

Libraries:- £5,800

Community Centre Contribution:- £14,551

Off site Open Space £69,539

Refuse and Recycling £2,190 (£73 per dwelling)

There is currently no signed agreement to secure these contribution requests, but they are
capable of being resolved through the signing of an appropriate planning obligation and
legal agreement. A verbal update on progress to resolve the outstanding matters will be
provided to Members at Planning Committee.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70(2)
of the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of
the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not meet any of
the exceptions of Policy SD10 of the JCS or Policy RES3 of the TBLP. The application
therefore conflicts with Policy SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policy RES3 of the TBLP
and the conflict with these adopted development plan policies is the starting point for
decision making.

However, on the basis that the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five-year supply
of deliverable housing sites, having a significant shortfall at 3.24 years of deliverable
supply, the most important policies for determining the application are deemed to be out of
date and less weight can be given to them. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore
applies.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development
indicates that permission should be granted unless policies for protecting areas or assets
of particular importance in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed, or any adverse impacts of permitting the development would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a
whole.

49



9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

Benefits
The application would give rise to a number of benefits.

The development would contribute towards the supply of housing, both market and
affordable housing to help meet the need for housing in the Borough. The provision of
affordable housing is considered to be a significant benefit of the proposals to be weighed
in the planning balance.

Further economic benefits that would arise from the proposal both during and post
construction, including the economic benefits arising from additional residents, supporting
local businesses.

The provision of a new cycle route and pedestrian access to the north is also a benefit of
the proposal as well as securing biodiversity net gain and the proposed tree planting
although the proposed cycle/pedestrian link is to be provided by the nearby development
too if that Permission were to be implemented.

There are also benefits arising directly from the proposals including the provision of
publicly accessible open space and off-site planning obligations. Given that these
benefits are directly related to the development, to make the proposal acceptable in
planning terms, officers afford these benefits limited weight.

Harms

Harm arises from the conflict with development plan policies and the spatial strategy
relating to housing, particularly Policies SP2 and SD10 of the JCS and Policy RES3 of the
TBLP.

The proposal would also result in the loss of agricultural land/equine land and this is
considered a modest harm arising from the proposal.

At this stage there is no signed S106 Agreement to secure affordable housing; nor is there
a signed Agreement to provide for financial contributions required towards libraries, off-
site recreational facilities, recycling facilities, or community facilities. Albeit these matters
are capable of being resolved in terms of the planning balance.

Neutral

It has been established through the submission documents that subject to securing
satisfactory measures as part of any future reserved matters, and the imposition of
appropriate planning conditions, the development would not give rise to unacceptable
impacts in terms of, design and layout, highway safety, ecology, residential amenity and
archaeology.

Overall Conclusion

This is a case where the 'tilted balance' is engaged through the provisions of the NPPF.
Having carefully considered all of the submitted comments and representations, and
reviewed the relevant policy and material planning considerations, officers consider that
whilst planning harms have been identified, as set out above, these harms, would not
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the proposed development in the
overall planning balance.

50



9.15 For these reasons officers recommend that authority be delegated to the Associate
Director: Planning to PERMIT the application subject to appropriate conditions and
planning obligations.

10. Recommendation

10.1 It is therefore recommended:

A. That the Associate Director of Planning is given delegated authority to GRANT
planning

permission subject to the conditions set out below, and any additional or amended
conditions, and subject to completion of S106 legal agreements securing the requirements
specified in the S106 Obligations section of the report subject to any amendments arising
from ongoing discussions. Where the S106 agreements have not been concluded prior to
the Committee, a period not exceeding twelve weeks after the date of the Committee shall
be set for the completion of the obligations.

B. In the event that the agreement has not been concluded within the twelve-week period
and where, in the opinion of the Associate Director of Planning, there are no extenuating
circumstances which would justify a further extension of time, the Associate Director of
Planning is given Delegated Authority to REFUSE planning permission for the following
reason on the basis that the necessary criteria essential to make what would otherwise be
unacceptable development acceptable have not been forthcoming:

1. The applicant has failed to agree to planning obligations to secure the necessary
infrastructure contributions, affordable housing and required on site open space contrary
to JCS Policies INF4, INF6 and INF7 and TBLP Policy RCNL1.

11. Conditions

1. The development for which permission is hereby granted shall not be begun before
detailed plans thereof showing the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale
(hereinafter referred to as "the reserved matters") have been submitted to and approved
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The application is in outline only and the reserved matters referred to in the
foregoing condition will require further consideration.

2. Applications for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

3. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before:
0] the expiration of three years from the date of this permission; or
(i) before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the

reserved matters to be approved,
whichever is the later

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

51



The details to be submitted as part of the Reserved Matters application pursuant to
Condition 1 shall include a plan indicating the positions, design, materials and type of
boundary treatments to be erected to the boundaries of the proposed dwellings. The
boundary treatments shall be completed in accordance with the approved plan/details
before the dwellings are occupied.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and the amenities of the
occupiers of neighbouring properties.

The details to be submitted as part of the Reserved Matters application pursuant to
Condition 1 shall include precise details and/or samples of all walling and roofing
materials to be used externally, and all surface materials within their curtilages, proposed
to be used. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details/samples.

Reason: To ensure that the materials and exterior building components harmonise with
their surroundings.

The details to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 1
shall include the layout and internal access roads within the site, and the development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. No dwelling on the
development shall be occupied until the carriageway(s) (including surface water
drainage/disposal and vehicular turning head(s)) providing access from the nearest public
highway to that dwelling have been completed to at least binder course level and the
footway(s) to surface course level.

Reason: To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the development by
ensuring that there is a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that
minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians.

The details to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 1
shall include vehicular parking and turning facilities within the site, and the dwellings shall
not be occupied until those facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved
plans and shall be maintained available for those purposes for the duration of the
development.

Reason: To ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that
minimises the conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians is provided.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a Construction
(and demolition) Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered
to throughout the demolition/construction period. The plan/statement shall include but not
be restricted to:

- Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to

ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring
properties during construction).

- Advisory routes for construction traffic.

- Any temporary access/exit to the site.

- Staff/contractor facilities and travel arrangements.

- Dust mitigation.

- Noise and vibration mitigation (Including whether piling or power floating is required.
White noise sounders will be required for plant operating onsite to minimise noise when in

52



10.

11.

12.

operation/moving/ reversing).

- Mitigation of the impacts of lighting proposed for the construction phase.

- Measures for controlling leaks and spillages, managing silt and pollutants.

- Plans for the disposal and recycling of waste.

- Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction
materials.

- Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway.

- Arrangements for turning vehicles.

- Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles.

- Highway Condition survey.

- Methods of communicating the CEMP to staff, visitors and neighbouring residents and
businesses.

The mitigation measures set out in the updated Ecological Assessment that apply to the
site

clearance and construction phase of the development shall also be included in the CEMP
with detailed Method Statements.

Reason: To protect existing and proposed properties from the impacts of short-term
exposure to noise, vibration, light and dust nuisance, the protection of wildlife and in the
interests of safe operation of the adopted highway.

The Development hereby approved shall not commence until detailed drawings of
highway improvements works comprising:

- An active travel corridor for pedestrians and cyclists shall be provided from the
site to the A46 via the C87/Fiddington Lane.

has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; and
no dwelling shall be occupied until those works have been constructed in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic onto the highway.

Vehicle and cycle parking shall be provided prior to first occupation of each dwelling

in accordance with details to be contained within the approval of any reserved

matters permission. The approved details shall be maintained for this purpose thereatfter.
Reason: To promote sustainable travel and healthy communities.

The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the applicant has
submitted to and had approval in writing from the Local Planning Authority for a
residential welcome pack promoting sustainable forms of access to the development.
The pack shall be provided to each resident at the point of the first occupation of the
dwelling.

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable access.

No works or development shall take place until full details of all proposed street tree
planting, root protection systems, future management plan, and the proposed times

of planting, have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and all tree
planting shall be carried out in accordance with those details and at those times.

Reason: To ensure the continued wellbeing of the trees in the interests of the amenity,
safety of road users and environmental quality of the locality.

53



13.

14.

15.

No building works hereby permitted shall be commenced until surface water drainage
works have been implemented in accordance with details that have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The information submitted shall be in
accordance with the principles set out in the approved drainage strategy. Before these
details are submitted an assessment shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of
surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system in accordance with the
principles set out in The SuDS Manual, CIRIA C753 (or any subsequent version), and the
results of the assessment provided to the Local Planning Authority. Where a sustainable
drainage scheme is to be provided, the submitted details shall:

i. include a timetable for its implementation; and

ii. Provide a full risk assessment for flooding during the groundworks and building phases
with mitigation measures specified for identified flood risks; and

iii. provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker
and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of
drainage as well as to reduce the risk of creating or exacerbating a flooding problem and
to minimise the risk of pollution for the lifetime of the development.

No below or above ground development shall commence until a detailed site waste
management plan or equivalent has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The detailed site waste management plan must identify: - the
specific types and amount of waste materials forecast to be generated from the
development during site preparation & demolition and construction phases; and the
specific measures that will be employed for dealing with this material so as to: - minimise
its creation, maximise the amount of re-use and recycling on-site; maximise the amount of
off-site recycling of any wastes that are unusable on-site; and reduce the overall amount
of waste sent to landfill. In addition, the detailed site waste management plan must also
set out the

proposed proportions of recycled content that will be used in construction materials. The
detailed site waste management plan shall be fully implemented as approved unless the
Local Planning Authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Reason: To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and resource
efficiency measures.

The details to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 1
shall include the location of the storage space for waste and recycling facilities associated
with each dwelling and a refuse and recycling bin collection management plan. The
approved scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to
the first occupation of the development and thereafter maintained for the life of the
development.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the visual
amenities of the built environment.

54



16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

The details to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 1
shall include details of noise levels within the dwellings hereby permitted, to demonstrate
that these shall not exceed those set out in BS8233:2014 “Sound Insulation and Noise
Reduction for Buildings”, and details of noise levels measured from enclosed outdoor
private amenity areas (gardens) to demonstrate that these shall attain the 50dB(A)
desirable criteria (Considered to be the LOAEL) and not exceed the upper limit
recommended within BS8233:2014 being 55dB(A) (Considered to be the SOAEL).

Reason: To protect the residential amenity of future occupiers.

The details to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 1
shall include existing and proposed site sections and full details of finished floor and site
levels. All development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and the amenities of the
occupiers of neighbouring properties.

The details to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant to Condition 1
shall include a Housing Mix Statement setting out how an appropriate mix of dwelling
sizes, types and tenures will be provided in order to contribute to a mixed and balanced
housing market to address the needs of the local area, including the needs of older
people, as set out in the local housing evidence base, including the most up-to-date
Strategic Housing Market Assessment for the area at the time of the submission of the
reserved matters. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved Housing Mix Statement.

Reason: To ensure the delivery of a mix of dwelling sizes to meet existing need and the
creation of a mixed and balanced community.

The details of landscaping to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant
to Condition 1 shall include a landscape scheme for the whole site. The submitted design
shall include the proposed new landscaping scheme on scaled drawings accompanied by
a written specification clearly providing full details of proposed tree and hedgerow planting
to include location, species, sizes, densities and planting numbers. Development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details. The submitted drawings shall also
include accurate details of all existing trees and hedgerows with their location, species,
size, condition, any proposed tree surgery and which are to be removed and how those to
be retained are to be protected (a tree protection plan to BS5837:2012 or subsequent
revisions). Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved detalils.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory and well planned development and to preserve and
enhance the quality of the environment.

The details of landscaping to be submitted for the approval of Reserved Matters pursuant
to Condition 1 shall include full details regarding adequate measures to protect trees and
hedgerows. This shall include:

A. Fencing. Protective fencing must be installed around trees and hedgerows to be
retained on site. The protective fencing design must be to specifications provided in
BS5837:2012 or subsequent revisions, unless agreed in writing with the local planning
authority. A scale plan must be submitted and approved in writing by the local planning
authority accurately indicating the position of protective fencing. No development shall be
commenced on site or machinery or material brought onto site until the approved
protective fencing has been installed in the approved positions and this has been

55



21.

22.

23.

24,

inspected on site and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Such fencing
shall be maintained during the course of development,

B. Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) The area around trees and hedgerows enclosed on
site by protective fencing shall be deemed the TPZ. Excavations of any kind, alterations in
soil levels, storage of any materials, soil, equipment, fuel, machinery or plant, citing of site
compounds, latrines, vehicle parking and delivery areas, fires and any other activities
liable to be harmful to trees and hedgerows are prohibited within the TPZ, unless agreed
in writing with the local planning authority. The TPZ shall be maintained during the course
of development.

Reason: To ensure adequate protection to existing trees which are to be retained, in the
interests of the character and amenities of the area.

All planting, seeding or turfing in the approval of reserved matters for landscaping shall be
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the
building(s) or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, and any trees or
plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives
written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory and well planned development and to preserve and
enhance the quality of the environment.

Before the commencement of any building works details of the surfacing treatments to be
used on the approach road and the turning and parking areas shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure adequate off-street parking and
access arrangements are provided.

During the construction phase (including demolition and preparatory groundworks), no
machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out, and no deliveries shall be
taken at or dispatched from the site outside the following times:

Monday-Friday 8.00 am-6.00pm,

Saturday 8.00 am-1.00 pm nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: To protect the noise climate and amenity of local residents.

Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the development that
was not previously identified shall be reported immediately to the local planning authority.
Development on that part of the site affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment
carried out by a competent person and submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Where unacceptable risks are found, remediation and

verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. These approved schemes shall be carried out before the development (or
relevant phase of development) is resumed or continued.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

56



25.

26.

12.

The enhancement measures outlined in the updated Ecological Assessment should be
further expanded on in a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan (LEMP).
Management should be applicable for a minimum period of five years, though in
relation to BNG this should be for 30 years and include a monitoring regime to ensure
habitats establish well and that wildlife features remain in good condition. The LEMP
should include plans showing locations and extent of all habitats and wildlife features,
and a timetable of activities. A Responsible Person / organisation should be stated and
the method by which the protection of retained, enhanced and created habitats

would be secured. The extent and location of removed, retained and newly created
habitats presented in the LEMP should match that set out in the BNG assessment. The
LEMP should demonstrate that the BNG proposed in the BNG assessment would be
achieved. It should be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to
commencement. Details of the mitigation measures in situ shall be provided to the Local
Planning Authority prior to the occupation of each dwelling for approval in writing.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

Prior to commencement of development, details of external lighting should be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Council. The details should clearly demonstrate that
lighting will not cause excessive light pollution of the boundary habitats and areas of open
space. The details should include, but not be limited to, the following:

i) A drawing showing sensitive areas and/or dark corridor safeguarding areas;

i) Description, design or specification of external lighting to be installed including

shields, cowls or blinds where appropriate;

iif) A description of the luminosity of lights and their light colour including a lux

contour map;

iv) A drawing(s) showing the location and where appropriate the elevation of the

light fixings; and

v) Methods to control lighting control (e.g. timer operation, passive infrared

sensor (PIR)).

All external lighting should be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the approved details. These should be maintained thereafter in
accordance with these details. No additional external lighting shall be installed unless
agreed in writing by the LPA.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought
to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

Works on the Public Highway

The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted
highway. The developer is advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway
they must enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980
with the County Council, which would specify the works and the terms and conditions
under which they are to be carried out.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team

57



at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the
preparation and signing of the Agreement. Fees are required to cover the Councils costs in
undertaking the following actions:

Drafting the Agreement

A Monitoring Fee

Approving the highway details

Inspecting the highway works

Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement
under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured
and the Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any
drawings will be considered and approved.

Highway to be adopted

The development hereby approved includes the construction of new highway. To be
considered for adoption and ongoing maintenance at the public expense it must be
constructed to the Highway Authority’s standards and terms for the phasing of the
development. The developer is advised that you must enter into a highway agreement
under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. The development will be bound by Sections
219 to 225 (the Advance Payments Code) of the Highways Act 1980.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team
at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk. Fees are required to cover the
Councils cost's in undertaking the following actions:

- Drafting the Agreement

- Set up costs

- Approving the highway details

- Inspecting the highway works

The developer should enter into discussions with statutory undertakers as soon as possible
to co-ordinate the laying of services under any new highways to be adopted by the
Highway Authority.

The Highway Authority’s technical approval inspection fees must be paid before any
drawings will be considered and approved. Once technical approval has been

granted a Highway Agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 must be
completed and the bond secured.

Street Trees

All new streets must be tree lined as required in the National Planning Policy
Framework. All proposed street trees must be suitable for transport corridors as
defined by Trees and Design Action Group (TDAG). Details should be provided of
what management systems are to be included, this includes root protections,
watering and ongoing management. Street trees are likely to be subject to a
commuted sum.

Public Right of Way Impacted

There is a public right of way running through the site, the applicant will be required

to contact the PROW team to arrange for an official diversion, if the applicant cannot
guarantee the safety of the path users during the construction phase then they must

apply to the PROW department on 08000 514514 or

highways@gloucestershire.gov.uk to arrange a temporary closure of the right of way

for the duration of any works. We advise you to seek your own independent legal advice on
the use of the public right of way for vehicular traffic.

The site is traversed by a public right of way and this permission does not authorise

58



additional use by motor vehicles, or obstruction, or diversion.

Impact on the highway network during construction

The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is
likely to impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and
any demolition required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities
Network Management Team at
Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before undertaking any work,
to discuss any temporary traffic management measures required, such as footway,
Public Right of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking restrictions a
minimum of eight weeks prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary Traffic
Regulation Orders to be prepared and a programme of Temporary Traffic Management
measures to be agreed.

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)

It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors
scheme and comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is
made to “respecting the community” this says:

Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the
public

- Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

- Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

- Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

- Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the

Code.

The CMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the
local community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should
also confirm how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide an
agreed Service Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information shared
with the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact details for
the site coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any relief to
obligations under existing legislation.

The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will consider to how the proposed sustainable

drainage system can incorporate measures to help protect water quality, however pollution
control is the responsibility of the Environment Agency.

59






_——7-"\'\

’*."\
)

- 0
on U
_— — |
\ \ \ ‘
| \ \ weo | 1I(f
| \ \
| \ |
| \ |

|
|
| | | ‘
| |
|
0045 ‘

|
0045

Robert Hitchins

The Complate Development Solution

e v
SITE: DUDFIELD LAND, FIDDINGTON
e

SITE LOCATION PLAN

nnnnn Nomer:

Reviton:
NUMBER: 346.UD.04 REVISION: L
DBy [ Creckeay, o S

LD GRJ |28.02.2023 1/500 @ A2

The Manor, Boddington, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GLS1 OTJ
Tel: 01242 680694
www.robert-hitchins.co.uk

o Rer: REFERENCE
he—

61



D

110 119 ‘2Ays1215n0]9 “WeuayaL U1pPOg “IoueN 4L
¥ ® 005/ €207°L0°LL| YD al
s owo| sapovep | s e
9 :NOISIAZY 10°aN"9vE “¥3AWNN
oy aquny suesy

NV1dY3LSYW JALLYYLSNTII :3TLL

o B

ANV NOLONIAAI4 40 LSIM ANV :3LIS

—

uonnos suswdojeneq sieidoD sy

SUILPUH H3G0Y

>

NISY8 SaNs 3AILYIIANI

~~
MO¥IDAIH g

M3N JALLYIIANI

¥344N8 WOT HLIM dV1 [}

MNIT3TIA2/a3d FAILYIIANI uw

ONILNY1d 3341 JAILVOIANI

Q3NIV13y 38
OL NOILVL13ID3A ONILSIX3 7

ONILNV1d 3dVISANV1 ‘
HLIM 30VdS N3dO TYIWJOANI

(SLINN O£ OL d) %
SLINN TYILN3QIS3Y

311S 3HL OLNI SSIDV ¢
YVINDIHIA A3SOONd

62



Agenda Iltem 6b

Planning Committee

Date

19 March 2024

Case Officer

Jonny Martin

Application No.

23/00964/FUL

Site Location

Land Adjacent Shurdington House Stables, Main Road, Shurdington

Proposal Erection of five detached dwellings with associated infrastructure
including detached single storey garages, landscaping and
construction of two new accesses from Shurdington Road.

Ward Shurdington

Parish Shurdington

Appendices - Site Location Plan 100

- Proposed Site Plan Layout 300 Rev G

- Plot 1 Plans and Elevations 301 Rev C

- Plot 2 Plans and Elevations 302 Rev D

- Plot 3 Plans and Elevations 303 Rev C

- Plot 4 Plans and Elevations 304 Rev F

- Plot 5 Plans and Elevations 305 Rev C

- Proposed Site Sections & Perspective Views 306 Rev B
- Garage Plot 2&3 308

- Garage Plot 4 307 Rev B

- Soft Landscape Proposals ZES1356-11

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Objection from Parish

Recommendation Permit
Site Location
dington
\_:'.h
a
4 )
. '-E-r‘:"
&
\F{}
)
TN
o
a

63




1. The Proposal
Full application details are available to view online at:
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.qgov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=summary&keyVal=REJZ8KQDKU200

1.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 5 No. detached dwellings with
associated infrastructure including detached single storey garages, landscaping and
construction of two new accesses from Shurdington Road.

1.2 The five dwellings are two storey with dual pitched roofs and single storey with green, flat
roofed elements. Solar panels are also proposed to each dwelling. Plots 2,3 and 4 have access
to a garage each and all plots have off street parking for two vehicles and private rear gardens.
Plot one would provide a 3 bedroom dwelling with a Gross Internal Area (GIA) of 157.8sgm.

1.3 The other four plots would each have 4 bedrooms and they range in size from 207.7sgm —
221.6sgm (GIA).

The existing field access will be closed off and two new vehicular accesses would be created,

1.4 one to serve Plots 1 and 2 and the second to serve the remaining plots. The proposal would
provide access and sufficient turning and manoeuvring space to allow for vehicles to enter and
exit in a forward gear and would also accommodate larger vehicles such as delivery vehicles.

2. Site Description

2.1 The application site is located off the Shurdington Road and is currently an undeveloped plot
between Woodbine Cottage to the north east and Shurdington House Stables and 1 Malvern
View to the south west. The site contains unmaintained grassland enclosed by mature
hedgerows and trees.

2.2 The site is located within the Cotswold National Landscape (Formerly AONB) and is also
located within the Green Belt. The site forms a gap within the village of Shurdington with
residential development either side of the site in an otherwise built-up frontage. Immediately
north-east is a narrow field entrance which continues onto open countryside to the east of the
side. There is a public footpath known as Shurdington Footpath 14 adjacent to the field
entrance. Beyond this is a continuous row of detached cottages addressing Shurdington
Road. To the south-west is a more informal layout of residential development. On the
opposite side of the road, to the north west is the main built-up core of Shurdington.

2.3 The site is shown on the Environment Agency Flood Map for Planning to be located within

Flood Zone 1 and is at lowest risk of flooding. There are no heritage or other planning
designations affecting the site.

64


http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;
http://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=%5eND,KEYVAL.DCAPPL;

3.

Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision | Decision
Number Date
89/91711/FUL | Erection of a greenhouse for storage & PER 27.10.1989

cultivation. New Access.
97/00129/0OUT | Outline application for residential development | REF 06.05.1997
00/00461/OUT | Outline application for residential development | REF 24.05.2000

3.1  Two previous applications for residential development at the site were refused in 1997 and

3.2

2000. However, it is important to note that both national and local policy has changed since
their determination.

It should be noted that there has been significant change in policy (particularly in respect of
green belt development) since that time and this application therefore stands to be
determined upon its own merits and in accordance with current local and national planning

policy.

Consultation Responses

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online
athttps://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

Shurdington Parish Council — Obijection:

The last two applications for development in 1997 and 2000 were rejected because it was
within the green belt, conflicted with the previous Local Plan and is within the Cotswolds
AONB.

Continue to object to development on the Green Belt, AONB

Possible Local Plan conflict as these do not appear to have changed since the previous
applications.

Building Control — No objections.

Severn Trent — No objection subject to further details on the disposal of foul water which
can be secured via condition.

Drainage Officer — No objection subject to a detailed drainage condition.

Tree Officer — No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to tree
protection, landscape and boundary treatment.

Landscape Officer - No objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to tree
protection, landscape and boundary treatment.

Ecology — No objection to submitted documentation subject to conditions.
Newt Officer — No objection subject to conditions.
County Highways — No objection subject to conditions relating to vehicular visibility

splays, pedestrian visibility splays, access gates, highway improvements and Construction
Management Plan (CMP).

65


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

Cotswold National Landscape Board — No objections subject to landscaping and
lighting conditions.

Environmental Health Officer — No objection subject to conditions relating to
contaminated land, noise assessment, CEMP and construction hours.

5. Third Party Comments/Observations
Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.1 The application has been publicised through the posting of a site notice for a period of 21
days.

5.2  The application has also been publicised through the posting of neighbour notifications for
an initial period of 21 days. A further consultation period was undertaken following the
receipt of amended plans. 12 objection letters have been received in response.

5.3  The objection comments are summarised as follows:

- Impact on the Cotswold National Landscape;

- Pressure on existing services and community facilities;

- Impact on traffic congestion and highway safety along Shurdington Road;

- The proposed dwellings are very modern in appearance and are out of keeping
with the rest of the village;

- Plot 5 would impact on neighbouring trees;

- Substantial fencing needed;

- Flood risk to adjacent properties;

- Harm to wildlife;

- Risk to utilities crossing the application site;

- The development should not be seen as infill development;

- No benefit to local wildlife;

- Overshadowing to neighbouring properties;

5.4 The comments and concerns raised by the neighbours will be addressed throughout the
officer report.

6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1 Statutory Duty
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise
The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

6.2 National guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG)

66


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

6.3

6.4

6.5

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

- SP1 (The Need for New Development)

- SP2 (Distribution of New Development)

- SD3 (Sustainable Design and Construction)
- SD4 (Design Requirements)

- SD5 (Green Belt)

- SD6 (Landscape)

- SD7 (AONB)

- SD9 (Biodiversity)

- SD10 (Residential Development)

- SD11 (Housing mix and Standards)

- SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
- INF1 (Transport Network)

- INF2 (Flood Risk Management)

- INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022

- RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)

- RES3 (New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries)
- RESS5 (New Housing Development)

- RES13 (Housing Mix)

- GRB4 (Green Belt)

- DES1 (Housing Space Standards)

- LAN2 (Landscape Character)

- NAT1 (Biodiversity)

- ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)

- TRAC9 (Parking Provision)

Neighbourhood Plan

- None.

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), saved
policies of the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a
number of 'made’ Neighbourhood Development Plans.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within

the National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and its associated Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

67



Evaluation

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

Five Year Housing Supply

The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year
supply of deliverable housing sites (or a four year supply if applicable). Where local
authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, Paragraph
11 of the NPPF sets out that housing policies contained within development plans should
not be considered up-to-date.

Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL),
and subsequently published Tewkesbury Borough Five Year Housing Land Supply
Statement October 2023, the Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate a
five year supply of deliverable housing land. The published position is that the Council’s
five year supply of deliverable housing sites is 3.24 years supply of housing land. Officers
consider this shortfall is significant. The Council’s policies for the provision of housing are
therefore out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.

Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies and states that where policies which are
most important for determining the application are out of date, permission should be
granted unless: i) the application of policies in the Framework that protect assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development; or ii) any
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits,
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole

Principle of development

In order to further sustainability objectives and in the interests of protecting the countryside,
the housing policies of the JCS set out a development strategy for the Borough. Strategic
Policies SP1 and SP2 of the JCS set out the scale and distribution of development to be
delivered across the JCS area in the period to 2031.

Policy SD10 of the JCS states that new housing will be planned in order to deliver the
scale and distribution of development set out in Policies SP1 and SP2. Para 4. of SD10 is
relevant to this application where, since being in a rural area, housing development on
other sites will only be permitted where:

- ltis for affordable housing on a rural exception site in accordance with Policy SD12,
or;

- Itis infilling within the existing built up areas of the City of Gloucester, the Principal
Urban Area of Cheltenham or Tewkesbury Borough’s towns and villages except
where otherwise restricted by policies within District plans, or;

- Itis brought forward through Community Right to Build Orders, or;

- There are other specific exceptions / circumstances defined in district or
neighbourhood.

Policy RES2 of the TBP states that within the defined settlement boundaries of the
Tewkesbury Town Area, the Rural Service Centres, the Service Villages and the Urban
Fringe Settlements (which are shown on the policies map) the principle of residential
development is acceptable subject to the application of all other policies in the Local Plan.

68



8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

The application site is located outside the defined settlement boundary of Shurdington as
identified on the policies map. However, the settlement boundary runs along the front
boundary of the site along Shurdington Road and along the southern western boundary of
the site. Shurdington is identified as a Service Village and paragraph 5.4 of the TBP states
that Shurdington is one of the Borough'’s largest and most sustainable service villages.

Turning to Policy SD10 of the JCS, part 4(ii) allows housing development where it is
considered to be infill within the existing built up areas. Paragraph 4.11.5 of the JCS defines
infill development as ‘the development of an under-developed plot well related to existing
built development.”

Within the submitted planning statement, the applicant has drawn the Council’s attention to
a Supreme Court decision, Julian Wood v Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government and Gravesham Borough Council (February 2015), which provides helpful
clarification of what constitutes a village. Paragraph 12 of the Judgement states:

“...while a village boundary as defined in a Local Plan would be a relevant consideration,
it would not necessarily be determinative, particularly in circumstances where the
boundary as defined did not accord with the inspector's assessment of the extent of the
village on the ground.”

This decision identified that village boundary limits should not definitively follow the
settlement boundaries set by the Local Plan and should instead be assessed by what is on
the ground, considering the physical and functional relationship of the site to the village as
a whole.

The applicant has also drawn attention to an appeal decision (APP/G1630/W/22/3291784)
within Shurdington on Land adjacent to Blenheim Way (21/01312/PIP). The Council
consider this appeal scheme to be relevant in this instance given the PIP site was on the
edge of the settlement boundary of Shurdington as per the application site. The Inspector
made the following assessment in respect of interpreting the concept of infilling at
paragraphs 8-10 of the decision notice:

“Much of the appeal site is located between two existing residential dwellings, being
Blenheim Way to the south, and Phoenix Meadow to the north. Blenheim Way comprises
part of a ribbon of houses which runs along the western side of School Lane. Phoenix
Meadow is the final house on the western side of the lane, but is sited further back than the
main ribbon of houses, owing to a bend at the northern end of the lane. Residential housing
also runs along the opposite side of the lane. The lane is therefore distinctly residential in
character, with a built-up frontage running along the substantive part of each side.

Given this location, the proposed dwelling would be flanked on either side by existing
dwellings and would also face houses on the opposite side of the road. As a result, it would
relate well to the existing pattern of development along the road, assimilating effectively
with the wider street scene. When viewed from the more open fields to the west, the
proposal would also be read within the context of surrounding residential development,
which would again allow it to integrate effectively within the existing built fabric of the village.
Given this surrounding context, | consider that the proposed development would constitute
infill development, as envisioned by the Framework.

Whilst part of the appeal site does extend into the agricultural field to the west of the lane,
the plot would broadly align with the curtilage of the neighbouring dwelling, Phoenix

69



8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

Meadow. In turn, an additional dwelling in this location would help form an effective
transition between Phoenix Meadow and the ribbon of houses to the south. Given that the
appeal site would front on to School Lane (which is within Shurdington), the new dwelling
would also be perceived as part of the built-up fabric of the village, irrespective of any
defined settlement boundaries (much like Phoenix Meadow).”

The application site is bound by Shurdington House Stables and 1 Malvern View to the
south west, 21-27 Yarnolds are located opposite the site and Woodbine Cottage is located
to the north east of the site. The site would be flanked by residential development and would
also face onto dwellings on the opposite side of the road. This section of Shurdington Road
is distinctly residential in nature.

Despite the application site not being located within a defined settlement boundary, the
proposal is considered to be infill within Shurdington as per part 4(ii) of Policy SD10 of the
JCS. The site has a clear physical and functional relationship to the Service Village and is
well related to the existing built up frontage along the A46 such that the proposal is
considered acceptable in principle and subject to assessment of other material planning
considerations set out below.

Green Belt Assessment

Policy SD5 of the JCS says that: “To ensure the green belt continues to serve its key
functions, it will be protected from harmful development. Within its boundaries, development
will be restricted to those limited types of development which are deemed appropriate by
the NPPF, unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated.”

Paragraph 142 of the NPPF 2023 states: “The Government attaches great importance to
Green Belts. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by
keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their
openness and their permanence.”

Paragraph 143 of the NPPF 2023 explains that the Greeb Belt serves five purposes which
are:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;

c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban
land.

Paragraph 152 of the NPPF 2023 states: “Inappropriate development is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances.”

Paragraph 153 of the NPPF 2023 states: “When considering any planning application, local
planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green
Belt. ‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt
by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.”

70



8.19

8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

Paragraph 154 of the NPPF provides a number of exceptions to the construction of new
buildings in the Green Belt as stated below:

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;

b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a
change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds and
allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not
conflict with the purposes of including land within it;

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in disproportionate
additions over and above the size of the original building;

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not
materially larger than the one it replaces;

e) limited infilling in villages;

f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in the
development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed

land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would:
— not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing
development; or

— not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development
would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable
housing need within the area of the local planning authority

As detailed within the principal section above, the proposal is considered to be infilling within
the village of Shurdington. The exception in Green Belt terms relates to ‘limited’ infilling.
Shurdington is a service village well supported by services and facilities, including shops,
hotels, public houses with transport links to adjoining villages as well as Gloucester and
Cheltenham. In this instance the construction of five new dwellings would be considered
limited in the wider context of Shurdington Village.

Therefore, it is considered that the construction of five new houses on this site would meet
exception 154 (e) for limited infilling in villages and would be considered as appropriate
development in the Green Belt.

With respect to openness and the purposes of the Green Belt, given that the proposal would
amount to limited infilling within a village, and is not therefore inappropriate development in
the Green Belt, the proposal would, by definition, not have an adverse impact on the
openness of the Green Belt or the purposes of including land within it. Furthermore, given
that the proposal would not constitute inappropriate development the tilted balance remains
engaged.

Design and Layout

Section 12 of the NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process
should achieve. It continues by stating that good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities. Planning decisions should, amongst other
things, ensure that developments will function well and add to the overall quality of the
area and should be sympathetic to the local character, including the surrounding built
environment. Paragraph 139 of the NPPF makes it clear that planning permission should
be refused for development of poor design that fails to reflect local design policies and
government guidance on design contained in the National Design Guide and National

71



8.24

8.25

8.26

8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

8.31

Model Design Code.

JCS Policy SD4 provides that new development should respond positively to, and respect
the character of the site and its surroundings, enhancing local distinctiveness, and
addressing the urban structure and grain of the locality in terms of street pattern, layout,
mass and form. It should be of a scale, type, density and materials appropriate to the site
and its setting.

Criterion 6 of Policy SD10 ‘Residential Development’ of the JCS states the residential
development should seek to achieve maximum density compatible with good design, the
protection of heritage assets, local amenity, the character and quality of the local
environment, and the safety and convenience of the local and strategic road network.

Policy RES5 of the TBP states proposals for new housing development should, inter alia,
be of a design and layout that respects the character, appearance and amenity of the
surrounding area and is capable of being well integrated within it and be of an appropriate
scale having regard to the size, function and accessibility of the settlement and its
character and amenity, unless otherwise directed by policies within the Development
Plan.

The proposed contemporary styled dwellings are two storey with dual pitched roofs and
single storey with green, flat roofed elements. The dwellings would face onto Shurdington
Road, with Plots 1 and 2 sharing the northerly vehicular access and Plots 3, 4 and 5
sharing the southerly vehicular access from Shurdington Road.

Following a site visit, it is clear that there is no distinct design or character for residential
development within this section of Shurdington Road. There is a mixture of detached and
semi-detached properties, there is no uniform building line for dwellings on the eastern
side of Shurdington Road and there is a mixture of roof types with half hipped roofs, gable
ends and bungalow style dwellings with front dormers.

The new dwellings will be set back from the road frontage with plots 2,3 and 4 being set
further back into the site compared within plots 1 and 5. This will ensure that the new
dwellings are not unduly prominent within the streescene. Furthermore, the staggered
building line of the 5 dwellings would create visual interest and would reflect the organic
and varied character to the existing streetscene. Each dwelling would have a large rear
garden and there is good spacing between each dwelling to ensure an appropriate
spacious appearance to the development.

Officers raised concerns with the original submission due to the prominence of the
garages being in an uncharacteristic and prominent location on the front boundary.
Amended plans have since been received which reduced the number of garages from 5
detached garages to two garage blocks which are now in line with the building line of plots
1 and 5. Plot 2 and 3 share a garage and plot 4 has its own garage.

At present, the site is well screened by mature trees and established vegetation along its
front and rear boundaries. While the proposed development of the site is not considered
to appear out of character, the vegetation on site, which will be managed and enhanced
as part of this proposal, will allow for screening to the development and provide a
transition to the open countryside beyond. This will be discussed further in the Landscape
section below.

72



8.32

8.33

8.34

8.35

8.36

8.37

8.38

8.39

The properties would be finished in brick to the ground floor and metal standing seam
cladding to the first floor and roof, with framed vertical timber cladding to the front and rear
elevations, providing contemporary use of traditional building materials.

Given the varied character of development in the area it is considered that the
contemporary design of the dwellings is considered to be acceptable for this location and
the site layout is in keeping with the scale and informal layout of neighbouring
development in the local area. As such, it is considered that the proposed development is
of an appropriate high-quality design, which respects the semi-rural character of its
immediate context and is therefore compliant with JCS Policy SD4, TBP Policy RES5 and
the provisions of the NPPF for achieving a well-designed place.

Landscape and Visual Amenity

The NPPF sets out that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural
and local environment by, inter alia, protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, and by
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and the wider benefits
from natural capital and ecosystem service.

Policy SD6 of the JCS states that development will seek to protect landscape character
for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, environmental and social well-
being. Proposals will have regard to local distinctiveness and historic character of different
landscapes and proposals are required to demonstrate how the development will protect
landscape character and avoid detrimental effects on types, patterns and features which
make a significant contribution to the character, history and setting of a settlement area.

Policy SD7 states that all development proposals within the setting of the Cotswolds
AONB (now Cotswold National Landscape) will be required to conserve and, where
appropriate, enhance its landscape, scenic beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and other
special qualities.

Policy LANZ2 of the TBP sets out that all development must, through sensitive design,
siting, and landscaping, be appropriate to, and integrated into, their existing landscape
setting.

Policy RES5 bullet point 3 of the TBLP states that new housing development should —
where an edge of settlement is proposed — respect the form of the settlement and its
landscape setting, not appear as unacceptable intrusion into the countryside and retain a
sense of transition between the settlement and the countryside.

The site is located within the Green Belt and the Cotswold National Landscape. The site
lies within the Settled Woodland Vale character type (LCT 18). The Board’s Landscape
Strategy and Guidelines (LS&G) identifies well maintained hedgerows forming a strong
landscape pattern and major transport corridors as two key features of this character area.
The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Appraisal (‘LVA’, LVIA Ltd., July
2023) to provide an assessment of the potential landscape and visual effects of a
proposed development upon the receiving landscape.

73



8.40

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

The Cotswold National Landscape Board (CNLB) have reviewed the submitted
information and are of the opinion that due to the current suburban fringe setting the site is
considered to be medium resulting in an overall high landscape sensitivity. However, due
to the existing local area, the proposed scheme would not be out of character with its
surroundings when considered as part of the local landscape with development of a
similar nature in close proximity to the site to the north, south and west. They concur that
the magnitude of change is small, therefore resulting in a level of landscape effect of
moderate/minor (i.e. not a material change).

Six representative viewpoints have been assessed, including from public rights of way
ASH14 and ASH15 within the National Landscape where receptors would be of high
sensitivity. These demonstrate that views of the site are quite limited and the site is only
clearly visible from the A46 and footpath ASH14 where it travels past the site’s northern
boundary (viewpoint 3). Whilst the proposal development would substantially alter the
views towards the National Landscape, including the Cotswold escarpment, when
travelling past the site on the A46, this would principally be experienced by motorists in
transient views and only over a short distance. The CNLB agree that this would result in a
moderate/minor visual effect on views of the National Landscape from the A46.

The CNLB believe that the significance of visual effect from most viewpoints on nearby
public rights of way within the National Landscape would be no more than minor, except
for where footpath ASH14 passes the site’s northern boundary (viewpoint 3) where the
development would result in a noticeable change in the view that would be clearly visible
to an observer. The CNLB agree that this would constitute a material change (at least
moderate adverse significance) without mitigation. However, the proposed mitigation
(section 7 of the LVA) should help to reduce the visual impact of the proposal to result in a
less than moderate adverse visual effect and this could be secured via planning condition
in the interests of the conservation and enhancement of the landscape and scenic beauty
of the National Landscape.

In summary, the CNLB agree with the conclusions of the Landscape and Visual Appraisal
that although development would encroach into the National Landscape, it would be
viewed in the context of the adjacent built development and the significant local influence
of the A46. The site is well contained and the addition of five dwellings and associated
landscape mitigation would comprise a minor element in the more elevated views from the
east. They conclude that the proposal would be consistent with the requirements of JCS
Policy SD7 and Cotswolds Management Plan Policy CE1.

Taking the above into account and subject to compliance with conditions, it is considered
that the proposals would conserve the scenic beauty and special qualities of the Cotswold
National Landscape and would protect its landscape character, in accordance with
Policies SD6 and SD7 of the JCS, Policy LAN2 of the TBP and relevant provisions of the
NPPF.

74



8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

Residential Amenity

In respect of the impact of the development upon residential amenity, paragraph 135 of
the NPPF specifies that planning decisions should ensure development creates places
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. This advice is reflected in
JCS policies SD4 and SD14 which require development to enhance comfort, convenience
and enjoyment through assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy and external
space. Development should have no detrimental impact on the amenity of existing or new
residents or occupants. Policy RES5 of the TBLP also sets out the proposals should
provide an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupiers of the proposed dwellings
and cause no unacceptable harm to the amenity of existing dwellings.

Policy DES1 (Housing Space Standards) of the TBP requires all new residential
development to meet the Government’s national space standards as a minimum, to
ensure that high quality homes are delivered that provide a sufficient amount of internal
space appropriate for occupancy of the dwelling. The proposed dwellings exceed the
space requirements under Policy DES1 and therefore appropriate internal space will be
provided for future occupants.

Each dwelling would have a large rear garden which provides suitable private amenity
space for future occupants. In relation to intervisibility and overlooking between the
proposed dwellings, all first floor side facing windows will be obscurely glazed as
annotated on the proposed elevations. This will be secured via condition.

In relation to the existing neighbouring dwellings, Plot 5 would be set off the boundary with
1 Malvern View and Shurdington House Stables by circa 6 metres. Furthermore, there is
an existing outbuilding within the rear garden of 1 Malvern View which is located on this
site boundary. The separation distance would ensure there is no adverse impact by way
of loss of light/over shadowing or overbearing impacts and the obscure glazing of side
facing windows will ensure there is no loss of privacy.

With regards to Woodbine Cottage, the dwelling at Plot 1 would be separated by the
PROW and the narrow field entrance which continues onto the open countryside to the
east of the site. The separation distance will ensure there is no adverse impact by way of
loss of light/over shadowing and the obscure glazing of side facing windows will ensure
there is no loss of privacy.

The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has reviewed the scheme and has no objections
subject to conditions. These conditions include a noise assessment to ensure there are no
unacceptable noise levels for future occupants of the five dwellings. Further conditions will
provide information relating to construction hours and a Construction Environment
Management Plan (CEMP) to protect the amenity of existing neighbouring residents.

Trees and Landscaping
Paragraph 136 of the NPPF states that trees make an important contribution to the

character and quality of urban environment and can also mitigate and adapt to climate
change.

75



8.52

8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

8.59

Policy INF3 of the JCS states that existing green infrastructure will be protected in a
manner that reflects its contribution to ecosystem services including biodiversity,
landscape/townscape quality and the connectivity of the green infrastructure network.
Development proposals that will have an impact on hedges and trees need to include a
justification for why this impact cannot be avoided and should incorporate measures
acceptable to the Local Planning Authority to mitigate the loss.

The application site is not within a conservation area and there are no Tree Preservation
Orders within the site or on its boundaries. However, there are mature trees located in the
neighbouring properties one of which is an A grade Yew tree situated at Malvern View
which overhangs the application site and a group of trees that are within the ownership of
Shurdington House Stables on the southern boundary of the site. The mature sycamore
tree within the hedgerow adjacent to the road is also shown to be retained.

The application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AlA). It is shown
within the Arboricultural Impacts Plan 194 SHU-DRW-AIP the trees and part of the
hedgerow proposed to be removed. The scheme would also entail tree pruning/crown
lifting works that are also justified in report.

The Council’s Tree Officer has reviewed the AIA and has advised that the main impact
from the development will be to the boundary/neighbouring trees where they overhang
and where the rooting environment encroaches into the application site. The Arboricultural
Impact Assessment and preliminary Arboricultural Method Statement clearly states the
measures that are required to protect the retained trees throughout the construction of the
development which the tree officer is satisfied and this can be controlled by condition.

Amended plans have been submitted to address initial concerns raised by the tree officer
and the soakaway to plot 5 has been re-sited further away from the retained trees and the
garage to plot 5 has been removed to ensure the existing hedgerow can be retained.

The applicant has submitted a Soft Landscape Proposals plan ZES1356-11 dated
October 2023 which is considered to be acceptable in principle subject to a detailed
landscaping condition. Following further discussions with the Tree Officer and the
Landscape Officer, these details will be secured via condition in relation to tree protection,
landscape and boundary treatments. Subject to compliance with conditions the application
is considered acceptable in relation to trees and landscaping.

Access and highway safety

The NPPF sets out that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary
between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making
and decision-making. Further, development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds where there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the
residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.

JCS Policy INF1 states that developers should provide safe and accessible connections to

the transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. All proposals
required to ensure safe and efficient access to the highway network.

76



8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

8.66

8.67

Shurdington is considered to be a sustainable location and the application site is situated
within 180 metres walking distance to the nearest bus stops on Shurdington Road with
frequent services to Gloucester and Cheltenham. In addition, there are amenities in the
village including a primary school, nursery, local shop and post office as well as several
public houses within reasonable walking distance according to Manual for Streets. This
reduces reliance on private vehicle trips according Local Plan Core Strategy policy INF1,
Local Transport Plan policies PD 0.1 and 0.4 as well as National Planning Policy
Framework paragraph 110 and 112.

In terms of the proposal, the existing access will be closed off and two new vehicular
accesses would be created, one to serve Plots 1 and 2 and the second to serve the
remaining plots. The County Highways Officer has reviewed this element and has no
objection to the two accesses, which while increasing possible conflict would not warrant a
refusal of planning permisison.

The proposed vehicle visibility splays have been provided which are considered to be
acceptable. However, the pedestrian visibility splays are presently inappropriate and this
would need to be secured by way of a condition. A condition is also sought for the existing
footway width to be widened to the standard 2 metres with planting cut back with 200mm
clearance from the footway.

In conclusion, the Highway Authority have advised that they have undertaken a robust
assessment of the Application and based on the analysis of the information submitted,
conclude that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway Safety or a severe
impact on congestion subject to compliance with conditions.

Drainage and flood risk

Policy INF2 of the JCS seeks to minimise the risk of flooding from development and to
provide resilience to flooding. ENV2 of the TBLP outlines a series of principles in order to
avoid and manage the risk of flooding to and from new development. Policy CHIN1 of the
NDP — Blue Infrastructure — states that new development should adopt a blue
infrastructure approach to the design of water and flood management and Policy CHIN 12
states that proposals are expected to demonstrate that they will not worsen the existing
risks to the drainage network.

The proposed development is located within Flood Zone 1 as defined by the most up-to-
date Environment Agency flood risk maps. The application is accompanied by a Drainage
Statement and indicative surface water and foul water proposals are shown on the site
plan.

In relation to surface water, the site shows that surface water will be dealt with via
soakaways in the rear garden of each plot. Furthermore, it is intended that water will be
collected from roofs via water butts, which will be used to water the site in general. The
drainage officer has reviewed the proposals and has no objection subject to a drainage
condition.

By way of foul drainage, the proposal seeks to connect to the existing foul water

connection on the main road. Severn Trent have reviewed the proposal and have no
objection subject to condition.

77



8.68

8.69

8.70

8.71

8.72

In light of the above, and subject to compliance with conditions it is considered that the
site is at a low risk of flooding and the development would not increase the risk of flooding
within the site or elsewhere.

Biodiversity

The NPPF sets out, inter alia, that when determining planning applications, Local Planning
Authorities should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity by encouraging opportunities
to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments, especially where this can secure
measurable gains for biodiversity. Policy SD9 of the JCS seeks to protect and, wherever
possible enhance biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats. Policy NAT1 of the TBLP
states that development proposals that will conserve, and where possible restore and/or
enhance, biodiversity will be permitted.

The application was originally supported with a Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA)
(Ecology By Design September 2022). Following discussions with the Council’s Ecologist
an Ecological Impact Assessment was submitted. This report identified the potential
ecological impacts, mitigation, compensation, and enhancement measures for a proposed
development. Surveys of the site were conducted from August 2022 to October 2023
including an extended UK habitat survey, daytime tree assessments for bats and badger
monitoring. The report identified the following:

- Atree with low potential to support roosting bats within the north of the site;
- Opportunities for foraging and commuting habitat for bats within the site;

- Opportunities for nesting birds within the hedges and trees;

- Suitable habitat for reptiles within the rough grassland/ hedge margins;

- An outlier badger sett within the site;

- Suitable foraging and resting habitat for hedgehogs and common toad; and
- Negligible opportunities for other protected or priority species.

The report identified the following measures to avoid and/or reduce impacts:

- Acquire a licence for closure of the badger sett under an agreed mitigation
strategy;

- Habitat creation to improve the biodiversity value of the site;

- Implementation of a sensitive lighting scheme to avoid disturbing bats;

- Vegetation clearance undertaken outside of the nesting bird season (March to
August inclusive) or be preceded by a check from a suitably experienced ecologist;

- Phased and directional vegetation clearance to avoid killing or injuring reptiles; and

- Implementation of appropriate site management practices.

The Council’s Ecologist has reviewed this report in full and has no objections to its
findings subject to further information being provided within a Landscape and Ecological
Management Plan (LEMP) and a Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) via
condition.

/8



8.73

8.74

8.75

8.76

The Cotswolds Beechwoods SAC lies within 5km of the site and therefore a shadow
Habitat Regulations Assessment was submitted to consider whether the development will
significantly impact on the SAC. The Council’'s Ecologist has reviewed the sHRA and
agrees with the conclusions that there are unlikely to be any significant effects from the
proposed development on the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC. However, due to the proximity
of the SAC to the site (i.e. 3.7km) it is recommended that a Homeowner information Pack
(HIP) is distributed to new residents and this should detail locations of local greenspaces
(that are of low nature conservation value, i.e. not designated sites) and highlight
foot/cyle-trails and public transport links to these greenspaces. Details for the HIP will be
secured via condition.

In relation to impact on Great Crested Newts (GCN), a District Licence report and Impact
Plan have been submitted following discussions with NatureSpace Partnership. The
Gloucestershire District Licencing Officer has confirmed that should permission be
granted there are mandatory conditions that should be attached to ensure compliance and
afford appropriate protection to newts.

The Council’s Ecologist have reviewed the scheme, the submitted reports and has no
objection to the proposal subject to conditions relating to a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP), ecological enhancements plan and a Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP).

Overall, and subject to the imposition of conditions to secure ecological mitigation
strategies, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of
ecological and biodiversity matters and is in accordance with development plan policies
and the NPPF.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70(2)
of the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of
the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

The application site is not allocated for housing development and does not fall within a
defined settlement boundary as required by Policy RES 2 of the TBP. However, as set out
above, the application site is considered to be infill development in accordance with part
4(ii) of Policy SD10 of the JCS. There is no conflict with the adopted development plan
policies in relation to principle which is the starting point for decision making.

Furthermore, the Council cannot at this time demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable
housing sites, having a significant shortfall at 3.24 years of deliverable supply, the most
important policies for determining the application are deemed to be out of date and less
weight can be given to them. Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF therefore applies.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the presumption in favour of sustainable development
indicates that permission should be granted unless policies for protecting areas or assets
of particular importance in the NPPF provide a clear reason for refusing the development
proposed, or any adverse impacts of permitting the development would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF as a
whole.

79



9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

10.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF confirms that policies in the Framework that protect areas or
assets of particular importance includes land designated as Green Belt.

Green Belt Conclusion

The proposed development is considered to meet exception ‘limited infilling in villages’
under paragraph 154 (e) of the NPPF 2023 and as such the proposal is not considered to
be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

In light of this, there is no clear reason to refuse the application in accordance with
paragraph 11d and footnote 7 of the NPPF. The tilted balance is therefore engaged.

Benefits

The public benefits of the proposal relate to, amongst others, the delivery of 5 dwellings
houses in a highly sustainable location, new construction jobs, increased economically
active population, and the associated social and economic benefits through construction
and tree planting through the soft landscaping proposals.

Given that these benefits are directly related to the development, to make the proposal
acceptable in planning terms, officers afford these benefits limited weight and the
deliverey of housing is afforded moderate weight.

Harms

The only harm arising from the proposal is the loss of a small parcel of undeveloped
agricultural land and the conflict with RES 2 of the TBP in that the site is not located within
the defined settlement boundary. However, as set out above, the application site is
considered to be infill development in accordance with part 4(ii) of Policy SD10 of the JCS
and this harm is limited.

Neutral

It has been established through the submission documents that subject to the imposition
of appropriate planning conditions, the development would not give rise to unacceptable
impacts in terms of design, highway safety, ecology and residential amenity

Overall Conclusion

The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the development plan and there are
no clear reasons for refusal in accordance with paragraph 11di and footnote 7 of the
NPPF. The proposed development is considered to be infill development in relation to
Policy SD10 of the JCS and would meet exception 154(e) of the NPPF 2023 which
regards the constructions of buildings in this instance to be appropriate development in
the Green Belt. The proposal is located in a highly sustainable location and would
contribute to the Council’s 5YHLS position. The benefits of the scheme would therefore
clearly outweigh the harms identified.

Recommendation

10.1

It is recommended that the application should be PERMITTED subject to conditions.

80



11. Conditions
1 The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this consent.
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved documents:
- Site Location Plan 100
- Proposed Access Arrangement & Visibility Assessment (Plots 1-2) 3200 Rev P02
- Proposed Access Arrangement & Visibility Assessment (Plots 3-5) 3201 Rev P02
- Proposed Site Plan Layout 300 Rev G
- Plot 1 Plans and Elevations 301 Rev C
- Plot 2 Plans and Elevations 302 Rev D
- Plot 3 Plans and Elevations 303 Rev C
- Plot 4 Plans and Elevations 304 Rev F
- Plot 5 Plans and Elevations 305 Rev C
- Proposed Site Sections & Perspective Views 306 Rev B
- Garage Plot 4 307 Rev B
- Garage Plot 2&3 308
- Soft Landscape Proposals ZES1356-11
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment prepared by Tree Frontiers 10" October 2023
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by ecologybydesign September 2022
- Landscape Visual Assessment prepared by LVIA Ltd July 2023
- Drainage Statement prepared by Zesta Planning October 2023
- Shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment prepared by ecologybydesign January 2024
- Ecological Impact Assessment (Non EIA) prepared by ecologybydesign November 2023
except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
Plans
3 No work shall start on the construction of the buildings hereby approved until details of

floor

slab levels of each new building, relative to each existing building on the boundary of the
application site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Thereafter the new buildings shall be constructed at the approved floor slab
levels.

Reason - To protect the amenity of neighbouring properties and to ensure that the

proposed development does not have an adverse effect on the character and appearance
of the area.

81



No work above floor plate level shall be carried out until samples of all external materials
proposed to be used on facing materials, windows, doors, roof and architectural detailing
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that materials are in keeping with the surrounding area and to provide
for high quality design

No development shall start until a detailed design, maintenance and management
strategy and timetable of implementation for the surface water drainage strategy
presented in the Drainage Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details must demonstrate the technical
feasibility and viability of the proposed drainage system through the use of SuDS to
manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the measures taken to manage the
water quality for the lifetime of the development. The scheme for the surface water
drainage shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and timetable and
shall be fully operational before the development is first put in to use/occupied.

Reason: To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage
and thereby reducing the risk of flooding. It is important that these details are agreed prior
to the commencement of development as any works on site could have implications for
drainage, flood risk and water quality in the locality.

No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the design, implementation,
maintenance and management of foul water drainage works have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out,
and the drainage maintained/managed, in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure development would not result in unacceptable risk of pollution or harm
to the environment

Notwithstanding the submitted Soft Landscape Proposals Plan (ZES1356-11), no work
above floor plate level shall be carried out until there has been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing, a comprehensive scheme of
landscaping which shall include details of all hard-surfacing materials, proposed planting
and proposed boundary treatments to secure the residential curtilage. The development
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

All planting comprised in the approved details of tree/hedgerow planting shall be carried
out in the first planting season following the occupation of any building or the completion
of the development, whichever is the sooner. If any trees or hedgerows, which within a
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others
of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to
any variation. If any trees or hedgerows fail more than once they shall continue to be
replaced on an annual basis until the end of the 5 year period.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the Cotswold National
Landscape.

82



10

11

No development including demolition, site clearance, materials delivery or erection of site
buildings, shall start on the site until measures to protect trees/hedgerows on and
adjacent to the site have been installed in accordance with details that have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

These measures shall include:

1. Temporary fencing for the protection of all retained trees/hedgerows on and
adjacent to the site whose Root Protection Areas (RPA) fall within the site to be
erected in accordance with BS 5837(2012) or subsequent revisions (Trees in
Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction). Any alternative fencing type or
position not strictly in accordance with BS 5837 (2012) shall be agreed in writing
by the local planning authority prior to the start of development. The RPA is
defined in BS5837(2012).

2. Construction Exclusion Zone (CEZ): The area around trees and hedgerows
enclosed on site by protective fencing shall be deemed the CEZ. Excavations of
any kind, alterations in soil levels, storage of any materials, soil, equipment, fuel,
machinery or plant, site compounds, cabins or other temporary buildings, vehicle
parking and delivery areas, fires and any other activities liable to be harmful to
trees and hedgerows are prohibited within the CEZ, unless agreed in writing with
the local planning authority.

The approved tree protection measures shall remain in place until the completion of
development or unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate protection measures for existing trees/hedgerows to be
retained, in the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

No removal of trees/scrub/hedgerows shall be carried out on site between 1st March and
31st August inclusive in any year, unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the nature conservation interest of the site is protected.

The Project Arboriculturist shall provide advice and undertake a watching brief onsite
during construction as detailed within the Arboricultural Method Statement contained
within the Arboricultual Impact Assessment dated 10th October 2023.

Reason: Required to safeguard and enhance the character and amenity of the site and
locality and to avoid any irreversible damage to retained trees

No development shall take place until a Construction Ecological Management Plan
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The CEMP shall include, but not be limited to the following:

- Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities including provisions for
protected species,

- Identification of ‘biodiversity protection zones’ including (but not exclusively) hedgerows
and mature trees,

- Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or
reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements),

83



12

13

14

- The locations and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features (e.qg.
daylight working hours only starting one hour after sunrise and ceasing one hour after
sunset),

- The times during construction when ecological or environmental specialists need to be
present on site to oversee works,

- Responsible persons and lines of communication,

- The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similar
person,

- Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs; and

- Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by a competent person(s) during
construction and immediately post-completion of construction works.

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction
period in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure proper provision is made to safeguard protected species and

No development shall take place until a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
(LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The LEMP shall cover the first ten years of management following the commencement of
construction and enabling works. Enhancement measures shall be included for existing
natural habitats and created habitats, as well as those for protected species. All Ecological
enhancements outlined in the LEMP shall be implemented as recommended in the LEMP
and the number and location of ecological features to be installed shall be specified.

Reason: To ensure proper provision is made to safeguard protected species and their
habitats.

Prior to the first use/occupation of the development hereby approved, full details of the
biodiversity enhancements as set out within Section 5.5. of the Ecological Impact
Assessment (non EIA) prepared by Ecology by Design (November 2023) shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The approved details shall be
installed prior to the occupation of the dwellings and shall be retained thereatfter.

Reason: To ensure the development contributes to the conservation and enhancement of
biodiversity within the site and the wider area.

Prior to installation, details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall clearly demonstrate that lighting
will not cause excessive light pollution or disturb or prevent bat species using key
corridors, forage habitat features or accessing roost sites. The details shall include, but
not be limited to, the following:

i. A drawing showing sensitive areas and/or dark corridor safeguarding areas.

ii. Description, design or specification of external lighting to be installed including shields,
cowls or blinds where appropriate.

iii. A description of the luminosity of lights and their light colour including a lux contour
map.

iv. A drawing(s) showing the location and where appropriate the elevation of the light
fixings.

v. Methods to control lighting control (e.g. timer operation, passive infrared sen-sor (PIR)).

84



15

16

17

18

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations
set out in the approved details. These shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with
these details.

Reason: To ensure proper provision is made to safeguard protected species and their
habitats and ensure there is no undue impact on the dark skies of the Cotswold National
Landscape.

No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Council’s Organisational Licence (WML-OR138, or a ‘Further
Licence’) and with the proposals detailed on plan Land Adjacent to Shurdington Road:
Impact Plan for great crested newt District Licensing (Version 1) Dated: 19th February
2024.

Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately
mitigated and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the
Organisational Licence (WML-OR138, or a ‘Further Licence’), section 15 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005 and the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

No development hereby permitted shall take place unless and until a certificate from the
Delivery Partner (as set out in the District Licence WML-OR138, or a ‘Further Licence’),
confirming that all necessary measures regarding great crested newt compensation have
been appropriately dealt with, has been submitted to and approved by the planning
authority and the authority has provided authorisation for the development to proceed
under the district newt licence.

The delivery partner certificate must be submitted to this planning authority for approval
prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved.

Reason: In order to adequately compensate for negative impacts to great crested newts,
and in line with section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Circular 06/2005
and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

Prior to first occupation, a Homeowner Information Pack (HIP) setting out the location and
sensitivities of the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The HIP shall include reference to the sensitivities
of the sites, messages to help the new occupiers and their families enjoy informal
recreation at the site and how to avoid negatively affecting it, alternative locations for
recreational activities and off-road cycling and recommendations to dog owners for times
of year dogs should be kept on lead when using the site (i.e. to avoid disturbance to
livestock). Two copies of the HIP shall be provided to all future residents prior to
occupation of each dwelling.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied/brought into use until visibility
splays are provided from a point 0.6m above carriageway level at the centre of the
access(es) to the application site and 2.4 metres back from the near side edge of the
adjoining carriageway, (measured perpendicularly), for a distance of 58.3 metres in each
direction measured along the nearside edge of the adjoining carriageway and offset a
distance of 0.6 metres from the edge of the carriageway. These splays shall thereafter be
permanently kept free of all obstructions to visibility over 0.6m in height above

85



19

20

21

22

carriageway level.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

Notwithstanding the submitted plans Proposed Access Arrangement & Visibility
Assessment (Plots 1-2) 3200 Rev P02, Proposed Access Arrangement & Visibility
Assessment (Plots 3-5) 3201 Rev P02, the Development hereby approved shall not be
occupied until details of the pedestrian visibility splays of 2m x 2m measured
perpendicularly back from the back of footway shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The pedestrian splays shall be provided on both
sides of the access. These splays shall thereafter be permanently kept free of all
obstructions to visibility over 0.6m in height above the adjoining ground level.

Reason: To ensure motorists have clear and unrestricted views of approaching
pedestrians when pulling out onto the adopted highway, in the interest of highway safety.

The Development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the proposed access gates
have been set back as shown on submitted plans from the adjoining carriageway edge
and made to open inwards only with any subsequent gates subject to the same
requirements.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety according to INF1 of the Local Plan
Core Strategy, PD 0.1 and 0.4 of the Local Transport Plan.

The Development hereby approved shall not occupied or use commenced until highway
improvements comprising: Widening of footway across the site frontage to 2 metres have
been carried out.

Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic onto the highway.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted a construction management
statement shall be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The statement shall
include but not be restricted to:

- Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures taken to
ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing occupiers of neighbouring
properties during construction);

- Advisory routes for construction traffic

- Any temporary access to the site

- Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and construction
materials;

- Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;

- Arrangements for turning vehicles;

- Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;

- Highway Condition survey;

- Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, visitors
and neighbouring residents and businesses;

- Dust mitigation

- Noise and vibration mitigation (Including whether piling or power floating is
required. White noise sounders will be required for plant operating onsite to
minimise noise when in operation/moving/ reversing)

- Mitigation of the impacts of lighting proposed for the construction phase

86



23

24

25

26

27

- Measures for controlling leaks and spillages, managing silt and pollutants
- Plans for the disposal and recycling of waste

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into
development both during the demolition and construction phase of the development.

During the construction phase (including preparatory groundworks), no machinery shall be
operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries shall be taken at or dispatched
from the site outside the following times: Monday-Friday 8.00 am-6.00pm, Saturday 8.00
am-1.00 pm nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: To protect the amenity of adjacent properties.

Prior to the installation of solar panels on any of the dwellings hereby approved, full
specification details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To protect the noise climate and amenity of local residents.

No dwelling shall be occupied until any necessary noise attenuation measures have been
installed to protect the living conditions of future occupiers which shall be in accordance
with details which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. These measures shall be informed by a Noise Impact Assessment
(NIA). The NIA. The noise should be assessed in accordance with relevant standards.

The NIA should include the following:

- A baseline noise survey to assess the existing noise levels at proposed receptors.

- An assessment of likely impact.

- Predicted internal noise levels on each floor.

- Modelled sound map

- Where appropriate, mitigation measures to reduce the noise to within acceptable levels
at the proposed development.

Road traffic noise from the A46 will need to be considered on the proposed development.
Reason: To protect the noise climate and amenity of local residents.

If, during the course of development, any contamination is found which has not been
identified in the site investigation, measures for the remediation of this source of
contamination shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The remediation of the site shall incorporate the approved measures.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

All side facing windows at first floor level on each dwelling shall be obscure glazing as
stated on approved plans Plot 1 Plans and Elevations 301 Rev C, Plot 2 Plans and
Elevations 302 Rev D, Plot 3 Plans and Elevations 303 Rev C, Plot 4 Plans and
Elevations 304 Rev F, Plot 5 Plans and Elevations 305 Rev C. The obscure glazing shall
be installed prior to the occupation of each dwelling hereby approved.

87



12.

Reason: To protect the privacy of adjacent properties.

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought
to determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing the to the Council’s
website relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus
enabling the applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

Trees in neighbouring properties

There are tree(s) in the neighbouring properties. Although it is your right to remove
parts of the tree overhanging your property any cuttings should be returned to your
neighbour if they so wish and consent must be gained regarding access to their
property. You have a legal duty to exercise reasonable care in carrying out any works
to the overhanging trees. In the interest of good neighbour relationships, it would be
helpful to consult with your neighbour on the proposed works if you have not already
done so. Further information is available on Guide-to-Trees-and-the-Law

Wildlife

1. If at any time nesting birds are observed on site then certain works which might
affect them should cease and advice sought from a suitably qualified ecological
consultant or Natural England. This is to comply with the Wildlife & Countryside
Act 1981 (as amended) and avoid possible prosecution. You are additionally
advised that tree or shrub removal works should not take place between 1st
March and 31st August inclusive unless a survey to assess nesting bird activity
during this period is undertaken. If it is decided on the basis of such a survey to
carry out tree or shrub removal works then they should be supervised and
controlled by a suitably qualified ecological consultant. This advice note should
be passed on to any persons/contractors carrying out the development.

2. The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) makes it an offence to
kill, injure or take any wild bird, and to intentionally take, damage or destroy the
nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. It is also an offence
to take or destroy any wild bird eggs. In addition the Act states that it is an
offence to intentionally or recklessly disturb any wild bird listed in Schedule 1
while it is nest building, or at (or near) a nest containing eggs or young, or
disturb the dependent young of such a bird. This advice note should be passed
on to any persons/contractors carrying out the development

It is recommended that the NatureSpace Best Practice Principles are considered and
implemented where possible and appropriate.

It is recommended that the NatureSpace certificate is submitted to this planning
authority at least 6 months prior to the intended commencement of any works on site.

It is essential to note that any works or activities whatsoever undertaken on site
(including ground investigations, site preparatory works or ground clearance) prior to
receipt of the written authorisation from the planning authority which permits the
development to proceed under the District Licence (WML-OR138, or a ‘Further

88



Licence’) are not licensed under the great crested newt District Licence. Any such
works or activities have no legal protection under the great crested newt District
Licence and if offences against great crested newts are thereby committed then
criminal investigation and prosecution by the police may follow.

The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted
highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you
must enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980
with the County Council, which would specify the works and the terms and conditions
under which they are to be carried out.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management
Team at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk allowing sufficient time
for the preparation and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to
cover the Councils costs in undertaking the following actions:

Drafting the Agreement

A Monitoring Fee

Approving the highway details
Inspecting the highway works

Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement
under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured
and the Highway Authority’s technical approval and inspection fees paid before any
drawings will be considered and approved.

It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate Constructors
scheme and comply with the code of conduct in full, but particularly reference is
made to “respecting the community” this says:

Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours and the
Public

- Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the work;

- Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public highway;

- Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and

- Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting the
Code.

The CMS should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with the
local community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. Contractors should
also confirm how they will manage any local concerns and complaints and provide
an agreed Service Level Agreement for responding to said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information
shared with the local community relating to the timing of operations and contact
details for the site coordinator in the event of any difficulties. This does not offer any
relief to obligations under existing Legislation.

89






woo'pyINjosiyosexade@alinbus  WoO"p}eIN}os}ydIexadE MMM
€2°1090 INJWANOD £v00szh:)
ajeq anss| S
VIN 001 ISgZIHO
uoIsnay ‘oN Bumelq *ON gor

ue|d uojeao

oML
weyusysyo
uojbuipinys
peoy uojbulpinys je pue oolond
sjuawdojaraq yuomBim woro
0860S92VZL0 L6 4SO "WeYuSliayD ‘P MAIA UBSOUD bZ ‘BHS YL
101008 00940 ¥SE SZdN "YINOWON “Yie SSaUISNg QUOISeAM
191915 V6540 1S9 G119 "@4Iys12180n0}9 ‘uongly ‘3SI0H YeQ

3dNLO3LIHDYY N

XddVNK

*S20UBWILIOD
oM pajoaye ay) 8J0jaq aIos)Iysy Xady 0) palliou 8q 0} 81 SuolelieA Jo sapuedassip Aue
pue M uogounfuoo u peal 8q of sf Bumesp siy1

*JUaSU0O JNoLIM paonpaidal Jo pasn aq jou Aew
pue eimosyyo1y Yedy Jo Aadoid oy} ase utaiou) Sueled pue SIyBUAdD oY) pUE BUIMEID SIyL

*Bupelp sjy) woy afeas jou og

8IS U0 }I0M JO JUSUIBIUALLILID
pue sBumesp doys Jo uoesedaid o} Joud JopeRUCS Aq BJIS UO PBYIBYD 8q O} SUOISUSLUIP [l

0S¢i:L 3TvOS

[y — -

00l 06 08 0L 09 05 Oy 0 0C 0L O
SIFHLAN

Ueld UOjeooT 05Z):)

¢€¥¢c0001 Jaqunu
80ua9IT "paniasal sybu | €20z WybuAdon umoi) (9) ‘Aeaing aoueupiQ

NOLONIQINHS

Aejsug

91



€207 INNT ANIWNOD 00ZT | poeog wro

a1eq onss)
I
o (3 uszzTHY b I I I I
oSy oN Bumeiq ON GO woz or o H v 00z apes
pasodosd
noAey ueld ays pasodon, N vaL-Asepunog Hnos o TNOAVTNVTG 3165
noAn USEREERY g Sunue(d saads paxi M MoJaBPaY 20URYUS 0} UORAD AL
1SyT510
‘weyuayRy) ‘uoButpinys
‘peoy uoyduipinys je puey
wddoid NMOHS NOLLYDOT NI G3INV1d 38 OL 3341 MIN

‘P Suawdojaraq JuaMaN
P ! e "NOLLYWYOANI JHOI Y04 NOLYDIIDIdS
ONLLNV1d MOYIOQ3H NYOHLMVH 335 ‘ONIONI4

08608921210 176 1570 WRUIIRHO P MAIN USSOYO § SIS UL 31V153 40 LNOY4NI G3LNV1d 38 OL MOY3IDAIH MIN
101008 00910 'USE SZAN "UIOLOY "YJed SSauisng auosedm
191915 ¥6510 1595119 2ySIRIS N 'UOUNGAY '38N0H YO
N9ISIA NV SISATYNY 30VNIVYQ
JINLIDOILIHOAY TIN4 OL 19318NS SNOLLYDOT AYMYAVOS ALLYIIANI
8NOV 3HL OL SMIIA N3O
ONIGIAOY AYVANNOE NYILSYI-HLNOS IHL
OL WS'T-Z'T AYYANNOS ¥¥3Y OL ONION34 31V1S3
9
mar Mvr sy moup oot ige V2021001
e 4
MO M| el | 12021050
mar Mvr popuewe budeospua pey'paewo | $Z0Z'L0P0 El
soentouns poa S0P
mar Mvr £202°04'€0 a
‘oo oty
nar | me s | O
o sopr g
nar | me cawwo | 8
o sopariag
oo v
Mar | mw o Smpyporsemm by | 000 S31¥YANNOE 101d N3IMLIE (S3IS HLOE A00D)
apopang s sz

woTwsE  3DN34 Y38WIL WE'T AILLYIS ATIVLNIZISOH SSIA 8 LIH
N o

81 19N1A0Yd 1VX3 -SONITIZMA 3HL NO SINOL
A3¥D INJWIJINOD OL ONIAYA AJUD AYVHOJINIINOD.
“Ajlenuue vy

13121 ‘UOI1e11 1eBA 3014} JO OM] € UO WL "SPA BuLRIIM AG
pasn aq 0} dox Auaq Aue MOe pue ‘Sisau s, i JO UoRINLIS3P|
a3 pione o) Aseniga 1o Asenuef uj pawwL aq 03 sa8paH
ONININL3OQ3H

~da3p WILIOOT 15€3] 3e 34 1SN Jake] YW ‘yImo;3
paam ssaiddns 03 13p.0 uj eae paseayo 320 sBuddiy) 0 Yueq
pa150dUI02 40 JaKe] UDINIA © 3PIN0Id "38PaY MaU B Y Ul
Ul UoIe3aBaA (12 40 3BPaY JO BUI| SSOIDE 2R3 T J0 LR JEB])

041NOJ G3IM

52168 papieoq yim 12y uq W'
Aem 38e111Ed WOLY WQ'S UIW Y78 135 SS3IIE Pajes

(51834 G-€ x0.dde) paysijqesss |

12 318 S3ueld 3y} 30UO PaROWIBI 3G UEI YdIYM ‘BumaU Hages
10 5p1en8 321 [eads yim aBewiep 1UBPOI WL M0IABPAY
1921014 Wiy T J0 1S3 € 0) ‘211M pue BUMAL OIS pasiuened

NOILD3TI0D NIg

Yum sisod uapoom paleai Buisn 20ua) 1313 "iede SI1213W 7 Jo| p SAV14S ALIISISIA WE'BSXY'Z

YIPIM WNWIUIW € 3 1sNW $39U3} 3y ‘aqeydde duay 3|gNop SONITIEIMA FHL HOLVIN OL , JOVHOIS NIF
213y “Sjewue Suizes pim wouy payatoid aq o) a8pay man| SHIIdNHOMYDINE HLIM SILYD ONIGNS AYVHOJINLNO:
NOLD3LO¥d By RETEN
4 3 3 ANNOYS d3SOdOYd
(-2 40 sdno ul usaped su3 U poleld % 8153 28eules 13 01 13(GNS SUOIBULOD M3 OM|
2q pinoys siuedsues /sdiym 1ueidia)ur 41 ‘Smos UM S ¢ UBIER 9BRUIE1P PAIISI2P.03 Heiqns SO L

L0000 PUE ‘#04 31eS 343 Ut SueKd U5A93q W0RY, - Aem aBe111ed ay) 1[N0} JO UONEO| PALINSSY. 144 035040¥4

A@rewxosdde ym 4210w sad syueid a8pay ey ssa|
10U Jo Aysuap e1e smoJ pasaBBels ‘om) ui pajuerd aq 01 38paH
NOILYOIJID3dS ONILNVId 107d HOV3 404 INIOd

ONIDYVHI MWHO'L

A3 40 NOLLYDO1

“3oueuaIUIRW BULINP U JaU3pI J13y3 Mojle 0}
s1ayys 2311 35N Ing ‘s1ue(d 38pay AU Ym Buoje 38paY Mau
34340 3ul| 33 Ut parueld 3q ued A3y} ‘533.3 ysiigelsa oL "38pay
3 BumOpeySIaN0 W) uaAaId ) 1ede WOE Isea) e padeds|
2q pInoys 353y} ‘papnoul 3q 0} aJe 5331} M0JABP3Y 1AM,

141 03 Buusas pue
05 ule3a: 03 g1 Bunueyd sa1ads paxiw
M3U Yy PRdUEYU 3 0) MOJaBPRY Bunsha

AVM3IOVI¥YYD IHL NI MOYdONILSIX3 = = = = =
¥IM3S IV OL S1LNOY I9NIVHA TN04 IALLYIINI
“Jay1e3M 39M 10 Pjod Asan uf Bupueid
PIOAY “JUEWLIOP |15 2. Sue[d BIUM ‘YR PUE JAQUIBAON JOVNIWa T
uaamaq pajued aq Ajuo pjnoys saBpap ‘Bunueid Suunp Jajem 1N04 JAILYDIANI
01242nq € U J0 Y10 1510w e Japun wiay) daay o} 3|qesinpe|
5121 N0 AIp 10U Op 51001 34} 31N 3Yew 0} uepiodul s| AL - Alepunog usaise3 yuoN o) Bunueld sarpads SN3Q¥VO
1 ‘uawiads 1001 aJeq e se payddns si Jueid BuiBpay J Jayream| Paxiw Yam moaBpay 33ueyUS 03 uoRdO: YY3IY NI SAYMVIVOS
Aip Buunp uf pasajem pue Bunueld Jae Ul pafasy [|aM| OLIOVNIVYQ¥ILYM e

2q 0 paau swued |y “Asasinu ay) Uy umoJS Alsnomaid usaq pey
A3up p1ym e yadap awes ay) 1e punoud ay) ojul Ind suerd

U1 YUM “WILIOOS JO UIPIM PUE WILIOOY JO Ydap WL

0} 80P 3 p|noys s3yaua.} 38PaH ‘Pa1ueld YauaI o)

pajue(d U3lou 3G JBUYB PINOYS SANIYS MOJRBPaH “suonesado|
adeaspue) [esaua8 o} 3d112e1d JO 3P0 ‘6861 8TYYST

M 39UEPI09I UI IO PalLIed 3q pinoys Bunueid moJaspay [V

3OV44NS JAILVIIANI

VYV QISSVYO / NMV1

"ONILNYd MOYIOAIH NYOHLMYH
SOILVd / SHLVd Q3AVd

‘ssoueu0
AVM3AIYA Q3AVd

Joo s ot oo oaptie

FONVYLINI DVNYVL

00 S0SIBUIp AID DL} BN 0 VS LB RGNS

4004 N3349 ]
A

a5 10 you oswBID SAV1dS ALIIGISIA WE'SSXY'T




ELOZAVN gop | INFWWOD 0 | 0OTT \paens

2 08 4szZTHY
oSy oN Bumeiq ONGof.

SUO1IeAd]|3 g Sueld -
onerdIBsueld T

1571519
‘weyuayiay) ‘uojBuIpINyS
‘peoy uoyduipinys je puey

Jodfoid

PIT SIUWAO[AAIT JUSMIN

086092240 1761979 WEUBNRUD ‘PeMAIA UBSOUO §Z U OUL
101008 00910 'USE SZAN "UIOLOY "YJed SSauisng auosedm
191915 ¥6510 1595119 2ySIRIS N 'UOUNGAY '38N0H YO

JAdNLIDOILIHO AV

XddV

mar T 2021060 O
oo mon
swonm a
mar Mvr [EP—— ¥202'10'50
S p—
mar Mvr on £202°0'6)
et L e [

sajijoud uappiy g [ejaw A28 :SQ00D MY
wnuwnie A38  A¥INIOF
weas Suipuels [elew 3

Buippep Jaqui} [eIIAA mvm
¥ouq Jeauyy mvm
weas Suipues 3w 400y

SNIZY¥19 G34N2SE0 38 OL MOTNIM HOOT4 LSHH

2085000 Uy FonpOgas 0P 09 p o
i

00 S0SIBUIp AID DL} BN 0 VS LB RGNS

a5 10 you oswBID

oovt fess
pasodosd

oovt e
pasodosd

NV1d 3008

uosiad § pag € g ST T 30ld

(piopuys
200ds paquosap Ajououou o1)
(¥ID] €377 1003 PUISIUSS010

J00uWNazs

NOLLJ310¥d AYE 135
HN3E 0L 4008 Q3ZY19 11 dOL

s
pasodold
TSIA §V38 IALLVIIONT

ootz aRss
pasodold

SNIZY19 3NDSH0 38 0L MOANIMHOO ISHH

oouiT e
pasodosd

NV1d 90013 1585

oort s
pasodosd

@V NV1d 90013 ANNO¥D

400y Wnas

oNIAn
ONINIG
NIHOLIY

siw
pasodoig
WNSIA INOE3 SAIVIIANT

X08 ONILSIN VUL
MOUNYS dST ¥TIOINHOS



ELOZAVN gop | INFWWOD 0 | 0OTT \paens
a 43 4szZTHY
oSy oN Bumeiq ONGof.
suonena[3 B sueld -  10ld
3B sUeld-2I0d
1571519
‘weyuayiay) ‘uojBuIpINyS
‘peoy uoyduipinys je puey
Jodfoid
P SUIWOAAI IUIMIN
08608921240 176 1570 URLUSIRUO P MAIA USSOUD IS OUL

191915 6510

'USE GZdN UMOWUOY "Yieq SSaUSNG AUOISEAW
1595119 "QAUSIEIS0NY 'WOUNGIAY ‘210K YO

JAdNLIDOILIHO AV

XddV

mer | mvr vaewoeo | @
‘Paromo swopum 45

mer | mvr saioso | O
unots swp v .

mer | mvr saeoro | 8
ogenoro 1) voupuouy

ﬂ Sueuco 061 | V.

mer | mwr op 2072061
rpopey | ey wosn W s

sajyoid uappiy 3 (1w A28 :SA00D MY
wnuwnie A8 A¥INIOF

weas Supuers oW g
Buippep Jaqui [eaNIaA
$ouq Jeaul|

weas Bupuers ejow

2085000 Uy FonpOgas PO 09 p o
i

00 0SIBLIp AID D) BN 0 IS LA RN

a5 10 you oswBID

s
pasodoig
TISTA §V34 IALLVOIGNT

oot afes

oor:Tarss
pasodoid uosiad § pag v .W9'TTZ 7I0Id pasodougd
NV1d 3008 NV1d 90013 1591
(piopupis
20005 paguusap |jpuonou 03)

[VI5] 581 J00[4 [EUa1UI 55070

A0 1HOMH008

(aNO¥00a L3N 0 »

s
pasodold
TISIA INOH3 INLVIINT

4004 Wnas

40

ootz a5
pasodosg

SNIZY19 0342580 38 OL MOGNIM HOOTS 15Ul

ootz aRss
pasodold

X0B ONILSIN IDVHIIL
MOUNYS dST ¥TIOINHOS

Wooy
ANV

g
3

oont s
pasodosd
Nv1d 80013 GNNOES

w0

'
wzoT

(

wore




ELOZAVN gop | INFWWOD 0 | 0OTT \paens
El £0€ 4szZTHY
voishay ‘ON Bumeq ‘oNgor
suonena[3 B sueld - € 10ld
3B SURld-€100d
1571519
‘weyuayiay) ‘uojBuIpINyS
‘peoy uoyduipinys je puey
Jodfoid
P SUIWOAAI IUIMIN
08608921240 176 1570 URLUSIRUO P MAIA USSOUD IS OUL

101008 00940
191915 6510

'USE GZdN UMOWUOY "Yieq SSaUSNG AUOISEAW
1595119 "QAUSIEIS0NY 'WOUNGIAY ‘210K YO

3dNLD

J1IHOdV

XddV

mer | mvr vz | O
‘Paroso swopum 45

mer | mr cazoreo | 8
opero ) SUsupry

mer | mvr o | g7z, |V
0 Gumorey popiowe tuesq

i oo e osrer

sajyoid uappiy 3 (1w A28 :SA00D MY
wnuwnie A8 A¥INIOF

weas Supuers oW g
Buippep Jaqui [eaNIaA
$ouq Jeaul|

weas Bupuers ejow

2085000 Uy FonpOgas PO 09 p o
i

00 0SIBLIp AID D) BN 0 IS LA RN

a5 10 you oswBID

s
pasodoig
TISIA §V34 IALVOIGNT

oott a5
pasodosd

Nv1d 3008

oo 225 oot afe3s

uosiad g pag ¥ ;WL 'LOZ €301d pasodoig pasodoid
NV1d 90013 1581 v NV1d 90013 GNNO¥D
(piopuois
220ds paqL2sap Ajpuonou 03)
VI5] Sealy J00[] [EUISIU[SS0TD 1 - — - :

¥3A0 HOI14008

wooz

3N0 LHOIHO0H

wzre

“““ ONINIG
e — NIHOLY

4008 Wa3s

oot apos
SIN pasodoid
pasodoig
TVNSIA INO¥3 IALVIIANT

ootz aRss
pasodold

SNIZY19 G34NJSE0 30 0L MOGNIM OO 15H1 X08 ONILSIN VUL
MOUNYS dST ¥TIOINHOS



ELOZAVN gop | INFWWOD 0 | 0OTT \paens

4 90€ sszzTHD
oSy oN Bumeiq ONGof.

SUO11eAd]|3 g Sueld -
onendI B sueld-piod

1SyT510
‘weyuayiay) ‘uojBuIpINyS
‘peoy uoyduipinys je puey

woddoig

PIT SIUWAO[AAIT JUSMIN

086092240 1761979 WEUBNRUD ‘PeMAIA UBSOUO §Z U OUL
101008 00910 'USE SZAN "UIOLOY "YJed SSauisng auosedm
191915 96510 15951719 SAIRISQONOD WAy 'S10H YO

JAdNLIDOILIHO AV

XddV

mar | mvr woeoe | 4
Poroso swopm 4

mer | mvr wozos | 3
s scpan ot

mer | mvr szoreo | 0
g0 @ svsupisy

mar | e saoveose | O
wospaiunog

mar | e sezaooe | 8
wospeiuneg

ner | mve swons | gz 06, |V
15 o) e tumeig

L o <o

sajyoid uappiy 3 (1w A28 :SA00D MY
wnuwnie A8 A¥INIOF
weas BuIpuels [ejaw B

Buippep Jaqui [eIIA TYM
$ouq Jeaul| TYM
weas Suipues [eraw 4008

2085000 Uy FonpOgas PO 09 p o
i

00 0SIBLIp AID D) BN 0 IS LA RN

a5 10 you oswBID

uosiadg pag y T'6TZ b 30ld

wro 00T:T 2835

L pasodold (paopuoas
W T T T T Nv1d 3008 290ds paqusap Ajouoiiou 03)
T T T T T Se31V J00T] [PUISIUT S5O
wor 8 9 v H (VIO] Sea1y J00H TSS01D

4008 WNazs

sin sin
pasodosg pasodolq
TVNGIA 9V3Y JAIVOIGNT TVNGIA INGU3 IALVOIGNT

aortomss
pasodosd

oy
Nl
- o SHANOT SANCT
S 3QVHSYVIOS 3QVHS W05
B e Pt
B L ESeD L MO AT 5
Sty 3 o

oonitams
pasodoiy
pasodosd 4

NV1d 4004 1581 @ NV1d ¥0OH GNNO¥S

Wooy
AIAvS

aoromss
pasodoid

AL

NOLIYAZTE 305 SIHL

oot oS

pasodoi

MOUUVAS dSTUTISIMHDS




ELOZAVN gop | INFWWOD 0 | 0OTT \paens
El 3 4szZTHY
voishay ‘ON Bumeq ‘oNgor
suonena[3 B sueld - § 10ld
3B SURld-§10d
1571519
‘weyuayiay) ‘uojBuIpINyS
‘peoy uoyduipinys je puey
Jodfoid
P SUIWOAAI IUIMIN
08608921240 176 1570 URLUSIRUO P MAIA USSOUD IS OUL

191915 6510

'USE GZdN UMOWUOY "Yieq SSaUSNG AUOISEAW
1595119 "QAUSIEIS0NY 'WOUNGIAY ‘210K YO

3dNLD

J1IHOdV

XddV

mar | M waioen | O
]

mar | M sazwoso | 8
0 oS Swpm v U

mer | mvr oo | gz, | V
W0 Oumors popious e

sajyoid uappiy 3 (1w A28 :SA00D MY
wnuwnie A8 A¥INIOF

weas Supuers oW g
Buippep Jaqui [eaNIaA
$ouq Jeaul|

weas Bupuers ejow

2085000 Uy FonpOgas PO 09 p o
i

00 0SIBLIp AID D) BN 0 IS LA RN

a5 10 you oswBID

s
pasodoig
TISTA §V34 IALLVOIGNT

oott a5 oortaRos
pasodosd pasodoig
NV1d 300y U0siad § pag b L L02 § 30K NV1d 00T LS8H
(piopuois
a00ds paquosap Ajjouonou 01)
[VID] Sealy 100]4 [eWSU] SS019
WEP'E WEP'E
so08mnazs — — .
» € v o
g I00¥03 00¥a 3 5
’ |
4380 OO0
ONIONYT
a.aM 7
WaNBHOLN OL E——
400Y Q3ZV19 LN dOL - ! 1}
I | W SHE I _
g ] | wooutuve -
G-I O |
N ]
o
&I 2uns! s (AL
| N3
3 N3 N 3
(W oyT e
e
3
3
—Is
@ e wl
8 T 3 8
3 I00ya3g WOO0YO3:s 3 400y WNG3IS
WEP'E WeEp'
s
pasodold
TVNSIA INOES IALLVIIANT

e
pasodoid

X08 1v8 003 LvuavH

SNIZY1D G34N2SH0 38 OL MOGNIM HOOTS 15Ul

ONINIG
NIHOLIY

HINO LHOITH00Y

aortomss
pasodosd




£20TAVIN

ANIWNOD

anssy | 00OTT

B00ZT

aeq 1DwRos

g 908 sszzTHD
vosnay N Bumeig oNgor

SM3IA 3AR23sIad 1§ SUORIIS 3N pasodold SN

pasodolg

SIN

pasodold
TAIAIAII33583d INIVOIANT

1SYTS10 € MIIA INLOIISEId INIVIIANT
‘weyua)jay) ‘UorBuipinys
‘peoy uojBuIpINyS 1e puel

Toddosd

PIT SIUWAO[AAIT JUSMIN

08608926240
101008 00940
191915 6510

1761979 WEUBNRUD ‘PeMAIA UBSOUO §Z U OUL
'USE SZAN "UIOLOY "YJed SSauisng auosedm
15951719 SAIRISQONOD WAy 'S10H YO

JAdNLIDOILIHO AV

XddV

a
prsevpapiomamoomag | 0%
mar M swostme | grozopgo | V
128 muapiolposes bowesg-
wro [
” f
R e oo
woot 08 ] or oz 0 F—
pasodolq

737 INOAVINV1d 315

\A

98

wriroess

I 1 pasodoig

f I f ] f | oozt ¥V NOILVATTS IN305- 33955
woz 9T (43 8 v o

us800 oy ponpades 0 po 0q e

00 S0SIBUIp BB DL} BN 0 VS LB RENISIED

28 10 yom oeusote0




wr'o 0

woo ' , woo ) M - ﬁ.z
€7°S0°€E0 | NOISSNDSIA 00T:T [ ] | I 00T:T pasodold
aea anss &0 a5 J I I I MITA FAIIDIdSEId JAILVOIANI

wot 8 9 4 z 0

V/N 80€ | JSTZTHD
uosney "N Bumeiq “ON gor we', 7 aSeses
€3 710|d-a5etey ¢
ISt 1519 (pappupis

200ds paqliosap Ajjpuoiipu 03)

‘Weyualay) ‘uoidulpin
HueUSHO panus [VID) Sealy 1004 |euJaiu] S5019

‘peOY UOISUIPINYS 1B PUBT wdod

‘P¥] SIUBWAO|IASQ JUBMIN  ero

; | . mar My ¥202°10°0b <
Tolomioslo " 5oe sz ot e somserg uasein pousua Bupeig
191915 ¥6S10 159 6119 "aulysielsaonol9 ‘uopng|Ay ‘asnoH yeo L) AqUMEIq HAosSq ojeg | oISy
JINLDOFLIHDOAY ﬂ
00T:T 3|eds 00T:T 3[eds 00T:T 3(eds 00T:T 9[eds
pasodold pasodoud pasodold pasodold
NOILVAITT (¥) 34IS NOILVATTT dV3Y NOILVATTT (¥) 34IS NOILVAITI LNOYS

A
il

it

A

00T:T 3|eds 00T-T 3|e3s
|e1ow Asu3 :SA00D MY pasodold pasodold
NV1d 4004 NV1d 40014 ANNOYO

wniujwnie Asug ‘A¥INIOr

Bulppepd Jaquiry [ea1uaA oe|q VM
wnpas 4004

‘SE0UBLLIID
oM ajoeye auy} 210jaq ainjeyyly Xady o} PeyloU 8q 0} aJe SUOELEA JO Sejouedalosip Aue
P /2 YiM UOROUN[UOO U Peal o 0} | BUMEIP SIUL

1U8sU0D JnoLj pecnpoxial 10 pesn q jou kew
pue anpsioy xedy Jo Auedoxd ay) ok ujaiay) sualed pue sjuBuAdoo ay) pue Bumeip sy

“BUMEIp SI WOy 9[e9S ou 0

9115 U0 IOM 0 UBIBUBUIIOO 4004 WNa3s
‘pue sBumesp doys Jo uojjesedaid 0} Joud J0}oeIOD Aq BYS L0 PEXOBYD B O} SUOISUBWP I




wr'o 0

— , ————— - ﬁ.z
€2'S0E0 | NOISSNOSIA |  00T'T _ I _ _ 0T pasodo.d
980 s . MITA A58 IAVOIANT

wot 8 9 ¥ z 0

8 LO€ | JSTZTHD
uorsnoy oN Buweig ‘oNgor w7 oS
y10|d - 98esen WS'LT 5
ISt 1519 (pappupis

200ds paqliosap Ajjpuoiipu 03)

‘Weyualay) ‘uoidulpin
HURAIPHO panus [VID) Sealy 1004 |euJaiu] S5019

‘peOY UOISUIPINYS 1B PUBT wdod

'Y s)udWdo|aADQ JUBMBN  aro

mar Myr . ¥202°10°0b d
0860892240 176 1579 "WeyuB}euD Py MOIA USSOU 7 ‘9US UL poweua buwe.q
101008 009L0 use mNn_z “ypnowuopy J_._m,n_ wmm=_>m=,m auojseAm <
191916 #6510 18961719 "ailysialsaonol9 ‘uopnq|Ay ‘asnoH yeo mar MYP $202'10°'€0
*pabueyo apy bumesq
Aqpenoeu] Aqumerq dioseq sjeg | oISy
JINLDOFLIHDOAY ﬂ
00T:T 3|ess 00T:T 3[eds 00T:T 3(ess 00T:T 3[eds
pasodold pasodoud pasodold pasodold
NOILVAITT (¥) 34IS NOILVATTT dV3Y NOILVATTT (¥) 34IS NOILVAITI LNOYS

00T:T 3|eds 00T-T 3|e3s
|e1ow Asu3 :SA00D MY pasodold pasodold
NV1d 4004 NV1d 40014 ANNOYO

wniujwnie Asug ‘A¥INIOr

Bulppepd Jaquiry [ea1uaA oe|q VM
wnpas 400

‘SE0UBLLIID
oM ajoeye auy} 210jaq ainjeyyly Xady o} PeyloU 8q 0} aJe SUOELEA JO Sejouedalosip Aue
P /2 YiM UOROUN[UOO U Peal o 0} | BUMEIP SIUL

108500 JnoLjm peanpoxtal 1o pasn aqjou Aew
pue anpsioy xedy Jo Auedoxd ay) ok ujaiay) sualed pue sjuBuAdoo ay) pue Bumeip sy

“BUMEIp SI WOy 9[e9S ou 0

9115 U0 IOM 0 UBIBUBUIIOO 4004 WNa3s
‘pue sBumesp doys Jo uojjesedaid 0} Joud J0}oeIOD Aq BYS L0 PEXOBYD B O} SUOISUBWP I

100



4dr PexpRuD 08 :umeiq
LYD0SZ:| 2le0s
‘ou
€202 1290R0 @ea 11-99€153Z  Bumeig
s|esodoid adeospue] yos :Bumeiq
Buuueld e)sez  ueld
uojbulpinys ‘peoy uojbulpinys eweyos
W sieea ]
adr Swewwovdl  bZI0% ¥

pavorse kpious0

ooyt decspuen 105 B 08 U KD 0155 YoM Iy
NOLLYOI3I03dS

Y

sue|d ABojoos pue Buleauibue apisbuole peas aq o] ‘g'N

poirtas B 10U o0 ) P 88 U

o0 1950 01K 024 0 uorsieuiy

fosd ojuoneoposds

510228053 UM oun U Tordor
1o Ukicos pu posans wiuogs
Ponpoed 5a 3 0 (end woins

eale uspleb Jesy

|

@ tep WoopE PN oM D
1950 oD P D e 0 s w0 PocmyCe
poweaop pawutasdusamssaid
wus o udepe o "aBuoioeinbes 01 oS
0410 9565 o poyide 90 8 R

om0 o8 st a puna oo
‘weynsjos o 1 oxaen oq o sen

Jejuis

1o eulwiag Aq paiddns se xiw sealy papeys pue +

SM0JSBPOH 8D M YUM papass aq o) ease pasodoid

Jejuis Jo [euiwed Aq
payddns se xiw pass sseib sealy soueUSJUIB|Y MO
PV Wim papass aq o} ‘seale puejsselb pasodoid

seopoeid [eInynofoy
e| sanin) ssesb Ajuowe
ea.e sselb pasodoid

deospue iog w0911

suonesado Bunueld Jaye
YoInw seq WG/ en1ecal o} Bunueld qnuys pesodaid

-G Jo sdnoub ui pajueid
2q 0} saipadg ‘suonesado Bunueld Jaye yonw seq
wwg, aAeoal ease Bujueld qruys pexiw pasodoid

spienb sa1) [eaidS |8} WOQ9 YyM paIsnoo pue

se) a1 Jaqqn s|qepuedxe YIMm pal} pue peyels aq -
a} sdiym ||y “paioads sebejusosed je -G Jo sdnob ul V74

pajueld aq 0} saiadg ‘Buibpay aajeu pexiw pesodold

payeds
se pejueyd aq o} Buyueld abpay aAelooep pesodoid

11evep
90g "adeospue| yos uiyym Bugueld eay pasodoid

uoponsuco Bupinp pajosjosd
pue pauigal aq 0} uopeleban pue ssel Bunsixg

puaber

a Bpau 5 pousIAT PR PRIV B AN = e WA
% e pouEIaT P porvE: B A = ]
T e pouEIaT P porvea: B AN = wsouds snunid
o e poumiae pe poveg: G sng w08 Snosdoie snuAOT3
%08 SBpou 5 poURIUEL pUE PO G AT ) wuABouow woTD
obmusaseg woneeds wston owey soreds
V)LJ [BuiBpoH oaseN poxin
o g s waeor 1opep nunan
5 g W wweor
= o g S wwoor
R St o
B W wweor
B % oo
B W e
B W e
5 g W wwoor
5P % poUEIEL PUE PRV 3 ST W woeon
— uaeoyoeds msios  woion
(5%, v R UBgL1-051 s 190 PEPURS: Ponnoy  wgrose _ uenia
v s popns: pounoy  w0e0sz__ uenia
0 G UDSL1-03) WeKS 10 PEPUBS pone)  w0e0sz___ uenia
B 5% UD0S) RIS SR pIEPURS: PO w0sz00z__ uezio
v P03 5 Wt 1o0: pepuRS: PO wSz00z__ Uezio
on wopeoyoeds Arswa wtion wio

npeuos Buguerd

epednone snqos o

%

101







Agenda Iltem 6¢

Planning Committee

Date

19 March 2024

Case Officer

Erica Buchanan

Application No.

22/01220/FUL

Site Location

Land Off Old Gloucester Road and South Part Parcel 5800, Old
Gloucester Road, Boddington

Proposal Change of use of land to private Gypsy/Traveller site.
Ward Badgeworth

Parish Staverton

Appendices TDA.2807.01 Site Location Plan

TDA.2807.02 Existing site plan
TDA.2807.03 Proposed site layout and landscaping
TDA.2807.04 Proposed dayroom

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Parish Council objection

Recommendation

Permit

Site Location

103




The Proposal

11

1.2

1.3

Full application details are available to view online at:

tewkesbury-

central.oncreate.app/w/webpage/apptracker?context record id=2805049&webpage token=5233c3
723ce69149afeb5f09d21f2bb281a648f4a7d98e700cf0d3900e9e1814

The application proposes the change of use of equestrian stables and associated land to
create a pitch for a single family in order to site a mobile home, a touring caravan and on
which to construct a day room. The family is made up of Romany gypsy parents and their
three sons.

The site layout plan shows that the existing buildings on the site would be removed and the
rear of the proposed mobile home would be sited parallel to the road and the proposed day
room would be constructed at right angles to the mobile home and facing onto the
proposed driveway and parking area. The layout would incorporate lawned garden areas
adjoining the access track and native tree and hedgerow planting is proposed on the
boundaries of the site and to separate it from the adjoining paddock land.

Site Description

2.1

2.2

2.3

The site is a roughly rectangular parcel of land which is located directly to the south east of
the B4634. The site adjoins a larger triangular shaped field, traditionally used for grazing
that adjoins the M5 motorway to the east. The field is bound by trees and hedges and
there is a mature and substantial hedge on the boundary with the B4634 so that the site is
only visible in glimpsed views.

The site is located within the open countryside and Green Belt. There is an existing field
access in the southwestern corner of the field with an internal access road leading to two
existing stable buildings. The site has been used for equestrian use for at least 30 years.

The nearest neighbouring dwelling is located approximately 150 metres to the southwest of
the site. The site is within Flood Zone 1 as identified by the Environment Agency indicating
the lowest probability of risk for surface water flooding.

Relevant Planning History

3.1

There is no recorded planning history for the access into the site however it is apparent
that the site and buildings have been in use for a significant number of years.

Consultation Responses

4.1

4.2

Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

County Highway Authority — Object

- The proposed access arrangements would provide safe and suitable vehicular access

- The impact on highway network is also accepted and considered negligible.

- Site is not in a sustainable location

- Services are not readily accessible other than by private car.

- B4634 is a 50mph highway with no street lighting and footways are of poor condition.

- There are bus stops within an acceptable distance of the application site.

- Poor environment connecting the application site will likely discourage walking or cycling
- Increased dependency on private vehicle

Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer — Supports the application.

104


https://tewkesbury-central.oncreate.app/w/webpage/apptracker?context_record_id=2805049&webpage_token=5233c3723ce69149afeb5f09d21f2bb281a648f4a7d98e700cf0d3900e9e1814
https://tewkesbury-central.oncreate.app/w/webpage/apptracker?context_record_id=2805049&webpage_token=5233c3723ce69149afeb5f09d21f2bb281a648f4a7d98e700cf0d3900e9e1814
https://tewkesbury-central.oncreate.app/w/webpage/apptracker?context_record_id=2805049&webpage_token=5233c3723ce69149afeb5f09d21f2bb281a648f4a7d98e700cf0d3900e9e1814
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

4.3

4.4

4.5

Staverton Parish Council — Object

- Inappropriate development in the Green Belt

- This section of the B4634 has 4 fields in a line occupied by travellers including a newly
developed Showpersons site

- Issues at other sites with removal of vegetation and closure of footpaths

- Cumulative impacts on Parish from this and other sites of which 7 are listed

- The area floods and the form inaccurately states that it does not

- Dangerous access

- Visible from M5

Environmental Health — Concerns about noise from M5 however proposes a condition for
the acoustic fencing details to be submitted and approved prior to occupation.

Drainage Officer — Further details need to be submitted relating to surface water run-off
and foul water drainage.

Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1

5.2

Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

The application has been publicised through the posting of site notices and via a neighbour
notification letter allowing for a period of 21 days and 19 representations were received.
The contents are summarised below:

Inappropriate development within the Green Belt.

Not allocated for this use.

Very Special Circumstances not demonstrated

Not a sustainable location

Impact on agricultural/ rural character

Impact on wildlife

Site prominently visible from road and visible from M5

Cumulative impact on area when considered along with other gypsy/ traveller sites

which are located in close proximity

e The village of Staverton has already accommodated significant development and
more is proposed, including a large Cheltenham expansion and Cyber Park with
associated traffic levels and disturbance

e Lack of detail provided for proposed sewerage treatment plant

e Accessibility of site to education, healthcare and employment in accordance with
PPTS

¢ Highway safety at access onto busy main road with other accesses/ junctions in
vicinity

e Precedent for development of rest of field and erosion of the Green Belt

e Site is closer to Staverton village than stated

e Although the council has a responsibility to house all communities, there is a
disproportionately high amount of static caravan sites and gypsy sites in the
immediate vicinity.

e Increase in noise and light pollution

105


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

Statutory Duty

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strateqy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

Policy SP1 (The Need for New Development)
Policy SP2 (The Distribution of New Development)
Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)

Policy SD5 (Green Belt)

Policy SD6 (Landscape)

Policy SD9 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)

Policy SD10 (Residential Development)

Policy SD12 (Affordable Housing)

Policy SD13 (Gypsy, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople)
Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
Policy INF1 (Transport Network)

Policy INF2 (Flood Risk Management)

Policy INF3 (Green Infrastructure)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022

Policy RES2 (Settlement Boundaries)

Policy RES3 (New Housing Outside Settlement Boundaries)
Policy RES4 (New Housing at Other Rural Settlements)
Policy RES5 (New Housing Development)

Policy GTTS1 (Site Allocations for Gypsies and Travellers)
Policy GRB4 (Cheltenham — Gloucester Green Belt)

Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character)

Policy NAT1 (Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features)
Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)

Policy TRAC1 (Pedestrian Accessibility)

Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision)

Relevant Case Law

Lisa Smith v Secretary of State for Levelling UP, Housing & Communities [2022] EWCA
Civ 1391. Full details of the judgement are available online at: Microsoft Word - Smith
judgment 31 October 2022.docx (gypsy-traveller.org)

106


https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Smith-judgment-31-October-2022.pdf
https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Smith-judgment-31-October-2022.pdf

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals
be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides
that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development
Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of 'made'
Neighbourhood Development Plans.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within
the National Planning Policy Framework 2023 and its associated Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG), the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS), the National Design
Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

Evaluation

8.1

8.2

Principle of Development (including Green Belt)
Policy SD13 of the JCS states that:

“Proposals for new permanent and temporary, residential and transit Gypsy, Traveller and
Travelling Showpeople sites will be assessed against the following criteria:

i. Proposals on sites in areas of sensitive landscape will be considered in accordance with
Policy SD6 (Landscape Policy) and Policy SD7 (The Cotswolds Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty). In all other locations the proposal must not have an unacceptable impact
on the character and appearance of the landscape and the amenity of neighbouring
properties, and should be sensitively designed to mitigate any impact on its surroundings;
ii. The site has safe and satisfactory vehicular and pedestrian access to the surrounding
principal highway network;

ii. No significant barriers to development exist in terms of flooding, poor drainage, poor
ground stability or proximity to other hazardous land or installation where other forms of
housing would not be suitable;

iv. The site is situated in a suitable location in terms of access to local amenities, services
and facilities, including schools, shops, health services, libraries and other community
facilities;

v. The site can be properly serviced and is supplied with essential services, such as water,
power, sewerage and drainage, and waste disposal. The site should also be large enough
to enable vehicle movements, parking and servicing to take place, having regard to the
number of pitches / plots on site, as well as enabling access for service and emergency
vehicles, including circulation space along with residential amenity and play areas.”

Gypsy status

The legal definition of gypsies and travellers for the purposes of planning has recently
changed. The former definition was set out within the PPTS however this definition has
recently been found to be discriminatory by the ‘Lisa Smith’ Judgement (referenced
above). The judgement confirms that there are now three separate definitions for Gypsies
and Travellers which is dependent on their lifestyles; 1) the ethnic identity; 2) the PPTS
definition (which encompasses the needs of families who have not permanently ceased to
travel); and 3) the travel to work (TTW) identity.

107



8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

The applicant’s supporting statement confirms that the proposed occupiers of the site are
Romany Gypsies. The Council has no reason to doubt their gypsy status and thus accept
that the applicants meet the definition and are gypsies for the purposes of the
determination of this application.

The principle of development / whether the proposal represents appropriate development
in the Green Belt

Policy SD5 states that: “To ensure the green belt continues to serve its key functions, it will
be protected from harmful development. Within its boundaries, development will be
restricted to those limited types of development which are deemed appropriate by the
NPPF, unless very special circumstances can be demonstrated.”

Paragraph 142 of the Framework says: “The Government attaches great importance to
Green Belts. The fundamental aim of green belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by
keeping land permanently open.”

Paragraph 143 says that: “The green belt serves five purposes:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;

b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;

c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;

d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban
land.”

Paragraph 152 says: “Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the green belt
and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.”

Paragraph 153 says: “When considering any planning application, local planning
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the green belt.
‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the green belt by
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.”

In relation to the application site, as it has been used for equestrian purposes and the
existing buildings are associated stables, the site is considered to constitute previously
developed land.

Paragraphs 154 of the NPPF list several forms of development which are not inappropriate
within the Green Belt. Of relevance to this application is development comprising:

“g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed land,
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would:

— not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing
development; or

— not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development
would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable
housing need within the area of the local planning authority”.

Whilst traveller sites either temporary or permanent in the Green Belt are typically
inappropriate development the proposal in this instance would result in the re-development
of previously developed land and is not therefore inappropriate development and the
principle of development is acceptable subject to other material planning considerations
set out below.

108



8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

8.18

8.19

Impact on openness

The proposed development seeks a change of use of land to comprise a single pitch for a
gypsy family. The pitch would accommodate a static home, a day room and a touring
caravan. There would also be parking and likely other paraphernalia associated with the
residential use.

The proposed pitch and associated caravans and dayroom would be set to the
southwestern part of the site and would occupy a smaller area than the existing stable yard
at present. The caravan and dayroom would replace two substantial stable buildings at the
site and would not have a greater impact on openness than the existing use.

The site is relatively enclosed by trees and hedges along the B4634 and further planting is
also proposed along the eastern boundary of the site to provide screening. The site
comprises only part of an existing open field and it contributes only modestly to the
network of fields that surround the wider area which prevent the merging of Cheltenham
and Gloucester.

The proposal would introduce low lying structures and associated development which
would be partially screened from the roadside by existing vegetation and would replace
existing equestrian buildings. As stated above as the site is previous developed land it falls
within the exceptions set out in Paragraph 154 (g) and it is considered that the associated
development and use of the land would not have a greater impact on the openness of the
Green belt than development already present on the site.

Housing land supply

Further to the recent Trumans Farm, Gotherington Appeal decision (ref. 22/00650/FUL),
and subsequently published Tewkesbury Borough Five Year Housing Land Supply
Statement October 2023, the Council’s position is that it cannot at this time demonstrate a
five year supply of deliverable housing land. The published position is that the Council’s
five year supply of deliverable housing sites is 3.24 years supply of housing land. Officers
consider this shortfall is significant. The Council’s policies for the provision of housing are
therefore out of date in accordance with footnote 8 of the NPPF.

Furthermore, Footnote 41 to Paragraph 77 of the NPPF states that ‘for the avoidance of
doubt, a five year supply of deliverable sites for travellers as defined in Annex 1 of the
PPTS - should be assessed separately, in line with the policy in that document. Therefore,
although the Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply, the
absence of such a supply is not relevant to this application and the need for pitches in the
District is outlined below.

Need for pitches

Policy GTTS1 of the Local Plan provides site allocations for gypsies and travellers with a
total of 38 pitches allocated until the end of the plan period in 2031. The policy was
adopted based on the Gloucester Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment
(GTAA) which was published at the end of 2017. This informed that an additional 2 pitches
per annum through criteria-based Policy SD13 of the JCS would be required to meet the
total need for travellers over the plan period, including those of ‘unknown’ status.

109



8.20

8.21

8.22

8.23

8.24

8.25

8.26

Since the adoption of the policy, the GTAA was updated in November 2022 which changes
the projected need moving forwards. This assessment is different for two reasons: 1) the
definition of Gypsy and Traveller has changed since the previous GTAA and thus the need
is now assessed differently; and 2) based on the different definitions, the shortfalls have
changed.

Tewkesbury Borough has an identified need for an additional 96 Gypsy, Roma and
Traveller pitches, over the GTAA (November 2022) period up until 2041. 29 of those
pitches are to be delivered within the period 2021 — 2026, as well as an additional 21
between 2026-2031.

Paragraph 27 of the PPTS states that ‘If a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an
up-to-date 5 year supply of deliverable sites, this should be a significant material
consideration in any subsequent planning decision when considering applications for the
grant of temporary planning permission. The exception is where the proposal is on land
designated as Green Belt; sites protected under the Birds and Habitats Directives and / or
sites designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Local Green Space, an Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, or within a National Park (or the Broads).’

There is therefore, a significant identified shortfall of pitches and this should be afforded
significant weight. It should also be noted that while Green Belt sites would not typically be
appropriate for such development, as the current site comprises previously developed
land, the proposed use would therefore not be inappropriate development as the proposal
would comprise the complete redevelopment of previously developed land and is an
identified exception.

Other considerations

The Human Rights Act establishes a right to respect for private and family life and the
Public Sector Equality Duty requires that a public authority must foster good relations
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not. The
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, under Article 3, requires a child’s
best interests to be a primary consideration, and no other consideration must be regarded
as more important or given greater weight than the best interests of any child.

In this context, the implications of Article 3 of the UNCRC in planning decisions is
addressed in Stevens v Secretary of State [2013] EWHC 792 concerns the implications of
Article 3 of the UNCRC in planning decisions. Hickinbottom J said at paragraph 69: 'From
these authorities, in respect of the approach of a planning decision-maker, the following
propositions can be derived.

Given the scope of planning decisions and the nature of the right to respect for family and
private life, planning decision-making will often engage article 8. In those circumstances,
relevant article 8 rights will be a material consideration which the decision-maker must take
into account. Where the article 8 rights are those of children, they must be seen in the
context of article 3

of the UNCRC, which requires a child's best interests to be a primary consideration.

This requires the decision-maker, first, to identify what the child's best interests are. In
planning context, they are likely to be consistent with those of his parent or other carer
who is involved in the planning decision-making process; and, unless circumstances
indicate to the contrary, the decision-maker can assume that that carer will properly
represent the child's best interests, and properly represent and evidence the potential
adverse impact of any decision upon that child's best interests.

110



8.27

8.28

8.29

8.30

8.31

8.32

8.33

Once identified, although a primary consideration, the best interests of the child are not
determinative of the planning issue. Nor does respect for the best interests of a relevant
child mean that the planning exercise necessarily involves merely assessing whether the
public interest in ensuring planning controls is maintained outweighs the best interests of
the child. Most planning cases will have too many competing rights and interests, and will
be too factually complex, to allow such an exercise.

However, no other consideration must be regarded as more important or given greater
weight than the best interests of any child, merely by virtue of its inherent nature apart from
the context of the individual case. Further, the best interests of any child must be kept at
the forefront of the decision-maker's mind as he examines all material considerations and
performs the exercise of planning judgment on the basis of them; and, when considering
any decision he might make (and, of course, the eventual decision he does make), he
needs to assess whether the adverse impact of such a decision on the interests of the
child is proportionate.

Whether the decision-maker has properly performed this exercise is a question of
substance, not form. However, if an inspector on an appeal sets out his reasoning with
regard to any child's interests in play, even briefly, that will be helpful not only to those
involved in the application but also to the court in any later challenge, in understanding
how the decision-maker reached the decision that the adverse impact to the interests of
the child to which the decision gives rise is proportionate. It will be particularly helpful if the
reasoning shows that the inspector has brought his mind to bear upon the adverse impact
of the decision he has reached on the best interests of the child, and has concluded that
that impact is in all the circumstances proportionate ...'

The application sets out that family are Romany Gypsies and the parents formerly travelled
but then travelling became limited to school holidays due to the educational needs of their
children. The family now no longer travel due to the health needs of their youngest child.
The family currently reside on an extended family site with their relatives in Twyning;
however, the pitch is too small for the family and not appropriate for their specific care
needs.

The youngest son of the family has healthcare needs and will require full time care
throughout his lifetime including safe and suitable outdoor space. The supporting
information advises that this cannot be provided effectively on the family’s current site due
to the scale of the site and the vehicle movements associated with other occupiers. These
circumstances and needs are corroborated in several documents provided by appropriate
professionals associated with the child’s welfare.

It is considered that the submitted healthcare and specialist education needs make a
compelling case that providing a settled home on the application site would be in the best
interests of the child. As detailed above the rights of a child are a primary consideration
and great weight should be given to the best interests of any child in accordance with the
provisions of the Human Rights Act and UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.

While the application site lies outside of a defined settlement, within the green belt and
away from local services, the proposal would allow the family to be located closer to
support services than their present site and would allow for the specific needs of the family.
The principle of the use of the site is considered acceptable on balance and subject to
other considerations set out below.

111



Highways and Accessibility

Suitability of the site’s rural location

8.34  The PPTS states that issues of sustainability should not be considered narrowly solely in
terms of transport mode and distances from services.

8.35  Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that: “Significant development should be focused on
locations which are or can be made sustainable through limiting the need to travel and
offering a genuine choice of transport modes.”

8.36  Paragraph 25 of the PPTS states that: “Local planning authorities should very strictly limit
new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from existing settlements
or outside areas allocated in the development plan. Local planning authorities should
ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest
settled community, and avoid placing an undue pressure on the local infrastructure.”

8.37  Concerns have been raised by the local community that the cumulative impact of the
proposal when considered along with other gypsy and traveller sites within the Parish and
immediate vicinity of the site would dominate the community. However, the application is
for a single pitch for a single family and the proposed pitch would not be located within
immediate proximity to any neighbouring dwellings and separated from the settlement of
Staverton by the B4634 and open fields.

8.38  Joint Core Strategy Policy SD13 seeks a suitable location in terms of access to local
amenities, services and facilities, including schools.

8.39  The Local Highway Authority (Gloucestershire Council County) has objected to the
proposed location of the development based on the fact that services and facilities are not
readily accessible from the site other than access via private car.

8.40  The site is located along the Old Gloucester Road (B4634), which is a busy road that
connects Staverton and west Cheltenham as well as providing links to the M5 motorway.
The site is not well served by footways and street lighting and it is therefore likely that the
occupiers of the site would be reliant on the use of the private motor vehicle to reach the
majority of community facilities and other services. The fairly remote location of the site is
therefore considered to be a disadvantage to the application.

8.41  However, the site is significantly closer to the special school attended by the youngest son
than where the family currently resides in Twyning and given the nature of the case that
has been submitted the private car would have to be used for all trips for the youngest
child to school and medical appointments regardless of the location of the family’s pitch.
The site is located in relatively close proximity to Cheltenham and all facilities required by
the family would be only a short journey away.

8.42 A cycleway linking Cheltenham and Gloucester has recently been created along the B4063
which is under half a mile from the application site and there is also a regular bus service
running along the B4063 although pedestrian access from the site to the B4063 is not ideal
with no footways or street lighting.

8.43 In conclusion, the location of the site is considered suitable for the siting of a new Gypsy

and Traveller pitch given the particular circumstances that have been outlined within the
application.

112



8.44

8.45

8.46

8.47

8.48

8.49

8.50

8.51

8.52

Access

Paragraph 114 of the NPPF states that: “In assessing specific applications for
development, it should be ensured that safe and suitable access to the site can be
achieved for all users.”

Paragraph 115 states that: “Development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds if there would be un unacceptable impact on highway safety or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”

The Local Highways Authority have stated ‘In terms of safe and suitable vehicular access
to this site, the proposed arrangements are deemed acceptable and the impact on highway
network is also accepted and considered negligible.’ It is therefore considered that the
proposed access is acceptable in terms of highway safety.

Landscape Impact

Policy SD13 of the JCS states, amongst other things, that: “Proposals for new permanent
and temporary, residential and transit Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites
will be assessed against the following criteria: i. Proposals on sites in areas of sensitive
landscape will be considered in accordance with Policy SD6 (Landscape Policy) and Policy
SD7 (The Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty). In all other locations the
proposal must not have an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the
landscape and the amenity of neighbouring properties, and should be sensitively designed
to mitigate any impact on its surroundings.”

Section 15 of the NPPF relates to “Conserving and enhancing the natural environment”
and, at paragraph 184, specifies that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance
the natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the
countryside, and protecting and enhancing valued landscapes.

Policy SD6 (Landscape) specifies that development will seek to protect landscape
character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, environmental and
social well-being. It also states that all applications for development will consider the
landscape and visual sensitivity of the area in which they are to be located or which they
may affect.

Policy C of the PPTS states that: “When assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-
rural settings, local planning authorities should ensure that the scale of such sites does not
dominate the nearest settled community.”

Policy H of the PPTS states that: “When considering applications, local planning authorities
should attach weight to the following matters: a) effective use of previously developed
(brownfield), untidy or derelict land b) sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a
way as to positively enhance the environment and increase its openness c) promoting
opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate landscaping and play areas
for children d) not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences,
that the impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated
from the rest of the community.”

113



8.53

8.54

8.55

8.56

8.57

8.58

A Landscape Design document has been submitted with the application which proposes:

e The removal of existing surfacing and the re-instatement of the paddock area to the
north east of the site to improve the amenity value of the land.

e The introduction of 8 no. native trees, in-keeping in character with those already
present, to provide landscape structure/screening and enhance the arboricultural
fabric and value of the site.

e The introduction of 63 linear metres of new native hedgerows to provide landscape
structure, define the proposed pitch and improve the sites landscape fabric and bio-
diversity value.

e The introduction and careful positioning of 77 square metres of new native
understorey planting to improve screening provided by existing peripheral
vegetation and further filter views of the development from Old Gloucester Road

e The utilisation of post and rail fences and gates sensitive to the setting of the site
and in-keeping in character with those already present in the locality, to define the
proposed residential area.

e The creation of new lawn areas for general amenity and the development of a
sensory garden between the mobile home and day room for use by an autistic child
resident at the site.

The site is located within a rural location in green belt land west of Cheltenham and the
land currently comprises an open field surrounded by trees and hedging and with two
buildings to the northern end of the site. The proposed caravans and day room would be
positioned to the north of the site adjoining the boundary hedging alongside the B4634 and
would replace the existing buildings. The site is not currently prominently visible from the
road due to the existing boundary treatment and as outlined above additional native
planting and landscaping is proposed to define and screen the site from the M5.

Whilst the proposal will result in some harm to the rural landscape, it is not considered that
the proposed pitch would result in significant landscape impact such that would warrant a
refusal of planning permission. Furthermore the provision of additional soft landscaping as
proposed is appropriate with regards to Policy H of the PPTS as detailed above and would
enhance the site over time.

Residential Amenity

Policy SD14 states that: “New development must: i. Cause no unacceptable harm to local
amenity including the amenity of neighbouring occupants; ii. Result in no unacceptable
levels of air, noise, water, light or soil pollution or odour, either alone or cumulatively.”

Policy SD4 states that: “New development should enhance comfort, convenience and
enjoyment through assessment of the opportunities for light, privacy and external space,
and the avoidance or mitigation of potential disturbances, including visual intrusion, noise,
smell and pollution. New development should be designed to contribute to safe
communities including reducing the risk of fire, conflicts between traffic and cyclists or
pedestrians, and the likelihood and fear of crime.”

The nearest neighbouring dwelling is located over 150 metres from the site and the

proposed development will not result in any harm to the amenity of neighbouring occupiers
by virtue of loss of privacy or light.

114



8.59

8.60

8.61

8.62

8.63

8.64

8.65

8.66

The proposed scale of the pitch is considered sufficient to ensure a good standard of
amenity for future occupiers and the layout of the pitch would provide an appropriately
sized outside amenity space. However, the site is located in close proximity to both the
B4634 and the M5 which could result in noise disturbance for future occupiers.
Environmental Health have been consulted and have raised a concern regarding the noise
from both the M5 and the B4634 and have noted that the applicant is proposing an
acoustic fence along the boundary however more details are needed and have
recommended a condition for the details to be submitted.

In addition to the above Environmental Health have raised concerns relating to potential
contamination from the historic agricultural uses however this can be addressed by a
suitably worded condition to deal with any potential contamination from the use of the
buildings as stables.

Design and Layout

Policy SD4 of the JCS requires that new development should respond positively to, and
respect the character of, the site and its surroundings including through its layout, mass
and form.

As stated above the proposed layout is considered acceptable given the replacement of
existing equestrian buildings and the existing screening of the site which is to be enhanced
with additional native planting. The development is for a single pitch and the scale and
form of the development is considered acceptable with regards to the provisions of Policy
SD4 of the JCS.

Drainage and Hydrology

Policy SD13 of the JCS states that: “Proposals for new permanent and temporary,
residential and transit Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites will be assessed
against the following criteria: No significant barriers to development exist in terms of
flooding, poor drainage, poor ground stability or proximity to other hazardous land or
installation where other forms of housing would not be suitable.”

Policy ENV2 states that: “In order to avoid and manage the risk of flooding to and from new
development in the Borough, proposals should incorporate sustainable drainage systems
where appropriate and proportionate to the scale of the development.”

The scheme proposes surface water drainage to soakaway and installation of a package
treatment plant for foul drainage. Following consultation with the Council's Land Drainage
Officer, it is advised that the applicant needs to submit a plan showing how the surface
water runoff from the proposed site will be drained and clearly showing the location of
outfall.

Additionally, details will need to be submitted for foul water drainage as the applicant is
proposing to use a non-mains drainage (Package treatment plant) and a drainage field, the
package treatment plant will discharge into the drainage field, and therefore the following
information needs to be provided:

e A plan with dimensions showing the location and position of the key elements,
package treatment plant and drainage field.

e A scaled map showing the nearest public sewer connection point to the site.

e An environmental permit may be required depending on the distance from the site
to the public sewer connection point.

e Applicant is proposing a drainage field which is a system of infiltration pipe placed

115



8.67

8.68

8.69

in trenches and arranged so that effluent can be discharged into the ground.
Ground percolation tests to BRE365 is required to ensure that ground conditions
are suitable for infiltration.

e A written explanation of why it is not feasible to connect into the public foul sewer.

These details can be secured by condition.
Planning Balance

The site lies within the open countryside and within the green belt where such
development would be considered inappropriate. However, the council can not presently
demonstrate an up to date 5 year supply of sites and this weighs heavily in favour of the
development as does the personal circumstances of the applicant. The green belt location
is considered acceptable as the proposal would constitute appropriate development as
defined in Paragraph 154(g) of the NPPF in that it would entail the redevelopment of
previously developed land and would not have a greater impact on the openness of the
green belt than the existing development.

There would be some landscape harm from the proposed development and associated
domestication of the site however this would be localised and the harm would reduce over
time as the proposed landscaping establishes.

Matters in respect of drainage, contamination and noise would have a neutral impact as
they can be adequately addressed by condition.

Overall Conclusion

9.1

9.2

10.

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2)
of the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of
the development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

The Council cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of gypsy and traveller sites; and this
lack of available sites weighs in favour of the proposal. Furthermore, the proposal
constitutes a green belt exception category under Paragraph 154 (g) and would meet the
specific needs of a child. These benefits clearly outweigh any harms identified.

Recommendation

10.1

11.

Given the above, the recommendation is to PERMIT the application subject to the following
conditions:

Conditions

The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this consent.

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

116



The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved documents: -

TDA.2807.01 Site Location Plan

TDA.2807.02 Existing site plan

TDA.2807.03 Proposed site layout and landscaping

TDA.2807.04 Proposed dayroom

except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans.

There shall be no more than one pitch on the site and no more than two caravans (of
which no more than one shall be a static caravan), as defined in the Caravan Sites and
Control of Development Act 1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968, shall be stationed on
the pitch at any time.

Reason: To protect the character of the area and openness of the Green Belt.

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme (hereafter
referred to as the Site Development Scheme) shall be submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority, which shall include:

a) details of external lighting within the site;

b) a hard and soft landscaping scheme. Hard landscaping shall include means of
enclosure and surfacing materials. Soft landscaping (to be broadly in accordance with
details shown on TDA.2807.03) shall include identification of all trees, shrubs, and hedges
to be planted and retained showing their species, spread and maturity; new tree, hedge
and shrub planting including details of species, plant sizes and proposed numbers and
densities; and a schedule of landscape maintenance for a period of 5 years following initial
planting;

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Site Development Scheme
which shall be implemented in full prior to the occupation of the pitch hereby permitted.
Following implementation of the approved Site Development Scheme, that scheme shall
thereafter be maintained.

No lighting, hardstandings or means of enclosure other than those forming part of the
approved scheme shall at any time be constructed or erected on the site.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the character of the area.

All planting, seeding or turfing in the approved details of landscaping within the Site
Development Scheme, the subject of condition 4 shall be carried out in the first planting
and seeding season following the first occupation of the site or completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner, and if any trees or plants which within a period of
four years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased they shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any
variation.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

117



12.

Prior to first use of the site, an acoustic fence shall be constructed in accordance with
details which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The details of the fence shall be outlined on a map and should enclose the site
and outdoor living area.

Reasons: to protect the living conditions of future occupiers.

Prior to commencement of works, details shall be submitted and approved in writing
showing how the surface water runoff from the proposed site will be drained and clearly
showing the location of outfall. Details will need to be submitted for foul water drainage as
the proposed use is for a non-mains drainage (Package treatment plant) and a drainage
field.

The following will need to be included in the details:-

e A plan with dimensions showing the location and position of the key elements,
package treatment plant and drainage field.

¢ A scaled map showing the nearest public sewer connection point to the site.

e An environmental permit may be required depending on the distance from the site
to the public sewer connection point.

¢ Ground percolation tests to BRE365 is required to ensure that ground conditions
are suitable for infiltration.

e A written explanation of why it is not feasible to connect into the public foul sewer.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of drainage

Informatives

In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has worked
with the applicant in a positive and proactive manner in order to secure sustainable
development which will improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the
area by negotiating amendments and additional information to support the proposal.

118



NY1d NOILYOQ1 3US

NOLY3AVLS 'GVOY ¥31S30N0719 410 440
ANV NO 31IS SHITI3AVYL R ASdAD omwOaOumuu
1o

2202 ¥38W3AON ouy
3iva

N w \ NM
/
/V\\ ev@osziL 10°2082vaL
3v:

’ 10 M13L
é NOS 5140
NYONYTY
WaVA VS ONVINSN
4 ANVYNYYO THL
YaL

7 2UON

diusIBUMO JUBHD UIIM DUET JAUIO m

Asepunog uoneorddy m

A3

M5 Motorway

119




NVd 31IS ONILSIX3

U DAMVEO

NOLYIAVLS 'GVOY ¥3LSIONOTO 0710 440
ONY1 NO 3LIS SHITISAVHL 8 ASAAD Dwmonﬁhm!

uva Nwvao

202 NAWNANON o
Q Mw v 805z 20708 VaL

e \\ \ewppan S

P
i N wn\ \\wn;ww‘

120




IN3HOS 3dVOSANYT 3NITLNO
® INOAYT 3US 0350d0¥d
3 DaMvE0
NOLYIAVLS 'AVOY ¥ILSIONOD 010 440
ANY1 NO 31IS SHITINVHEL § ASdAD meOﬂOOW.m!

Z0Z HANAAON o
/ uva Nwvao
v B0z £O°LRZ VAL
v BN DEMVIQ
I i
a0 | MO | RO 296694 91910 TTAL
i NOS S0
G ovoren
_—d VS WMV ONVIMEN
’ )y ANVNAIO FHL
Y o
e | m saion | na

ol
D118 IWGPIS PO FEANG 18 AQ 65 J0j URIEE A0SUGS? 58 PICONIND
0q 0] WOoo: ABD PUL DLOK SO LOOMNG LAsLLWE| PoSOd0I]

Z (310N 1398VL) N1

paAOWS 8Q 0F XOOK SIS PiE Weq Bupspy
L (3LON 139¥VL) NL

T B

ONLLNVId ASYOLSHIONN JALLYN 03S0dONd E
ONLINY1d MOY3DQ3H JALLVN 03S0d0¥d H

ANV INIWLYINL 03S0d0Nd B

S3ALVD
ONIHOLYI HLIM ONIONZS VY ® LS04 HOIH WZ'L 03S0d0Nd

UINOWIY STUNLOMULS
-gs.gv.-.-m_kd.-uo:wug!w

Uwmnoms o sagoss o ¢ g
QINIV134 ONIINIS WYY ¥ LSOd HOIH WZ'} ONLLSIXE

SR———

.v ...I
SAVMIAING ¥ OVDY SS3DIV 03S0JO¥d I

(watpe panro powcy woous ge [T
%ﬁggﬁt — .x..x...r.

A3 3dVISINY OUVH
A

121




(SNOILVYAZT3 2 NV1d)
WOOY AVA A3S0d0¥d

UL ONIMVED

NOLY3AVLS ‘avOd ¥31$30N019 @70 40

ANV NO 3LIS SH3T13AVH1 B ASJAD 03S040¥8d

U3 1 303500 1 JBULOIAIY

Ydlb
-

aiva

103°0%d
2202 ¥38W3AON ouy
IUva NMV3O
£V @ 0014 $0°2082vaAL
VIS HIGNIN ONIMVEC

wand

052122 9¥P10 1AL

NQS 6140

NYONYTY

WYV HMYS ONVINSN
AYYNYNO SHL

vaL

e SION A3Y

@sivueyjo [9jels
$S3JUN SaNBWI||IW U| UMOYS SUOISUBWP IV

‘910N

eV © 001:L eV © 00L:) i - G
wy wg wo
e ™ ™
/AQ\
a-a uoneas|3 0-0 uoneas|3

eV @ 00L:L eV © 00L:1

wy wg E.c
wg wi

[l
[l

\—

/
\

{

g-9g uolleas|3

il

[T

LI

S100p Jequil} pljos umo.q 3Jeg
si00p oped puz smopuim paze|B ajduy DAJN UMoIq ieqg

‘S¥00a ' SMOANIm

saje|s a1qy JusWaD

400y

*Ajleuss)xa Buippe|o Jaquily pue A||eussjul s300|q paoe; Jie) Jo Bupnsisuco s|em AiaeD

STIVM

sielad [edale

uejd 10oj4 pesodoid

122




Planning Committee

Agenda Iltem 6d

Date

19 March 2024

Case Officer

Mrs Emily McKenzie

Application No.

23/01132/FUL

Site Location

12A Beverley Gardens, Woodmancote

Proposal First floor extension and single storey rear and side extension.
Ward Cleeve Hill

Parish Woodmancote

Appendices Existing and proposed site plan

Existing floor plans

Proposed floor plans

Existing elevations and roof plan
Proposed elevations and roof plan

Reason for Referral
to Committee

Objection from the Parish Council

Recommendation

Permit

Site Location

Apple
) (Ph
Home Farm
~ Cottage
Rose
Cott o
<
| I
Home bbo‘
Farm
rable E“d

123



The Proposal

11

1.2

13

Full application details are available to view online at:
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?active Tab=documents&keyVal=S58P1ZODMTR00

The development subject of this application seeks two elements as follows:

1. First storey extension to the north-eastern part of the dwelling comprising two parts;
a connecting flat roofed element adjacent to the existing first storey protrusion, and
a further mono pitched roof mimicking the style of the existing dwelling. Both of
which would be finished in timber cladding (walls) and metal sheeting (roof) to
match existing; and

2. Single storey mono pitched extension to the north-eastern part of the dwelling
which would be finished in brick colour matched to the Cotswold stone facade.

Seemingly, no changes are proposed to the boundary treatments and as such the eastern
boundary would remain as a post and rail, and close boarded fence.

Site Description

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

This application relates to 12A Beverley Gardens, a recently constructed dwelling finished
in a contemporary style. To facilitate its construction, the curtilage of No.12 was subdivided
and No.12A occupies the eastern segment of that land. Both No.12 and No.12A share the
same access via Beverley Gardens.

The dwelling is bordered to the east by open agricultural fields and in all other directions by
residential neighbours.

The site itself is located within the residential settlement boundary however is not directly
affected by any further constraints or designations. Notwithstanding this, it is noteworthy
that the eastern border forms a boundary with the Cotswolds National Landscape, and just
beyond the southern border lies the Woodmancote Conservation Area.

The site is located within Flood Zone 1 as defined by the Environment Agency, indicating
the lowest probability of risk for surface water flooding.

Relevant Planning History

Application Proposal Decision Decision
Number Date

Demolition of ancillary buildings and erection of a
new two storey dwelling in the subdivided existing

15/00981/FUL curtilage. Minor alterations to the existing bungalow PERMIT 25.11.2015
to be retained and associated external works.
Erection of a new two storey dwelling within

16/00363/EUL existing curtilage and minor alterations to the PERMIT 06.07.2016

existing bungalow (amendment to previously
approval - 15/00981/FUL).

124



https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S58PIZQDMTR00
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=S58PIZQDMTR00

4. Consultation Responses

4.1  Full copies of all the consultation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

4.2  Woodmancote Parish Council — Objection on the following grounds:

- The original house is incongruous

- The cladding and balcony of the original house do not assimilate well with the
surrounds

- The original house is unwarranted suburban design

- The scheme is contrary to RES5

- The roof line of the original house is out of keeping with existing bungalows in the
area

- Adding to the design of the original house would make the house look even more out
of place

- The WNDP says that 2 storey dwellings are out of character in this area

- Large windows and glazed balconies are contrary to RES5 and would be visible from
the footpath

- Further alterations would erode the character of the area even further

- This would set a precedent

- Unacceptable intrusion into the countryside contrary to Policy RES5

- More accommodation will result in a need for more parking which is already
overstretched in this area

- The boundary treatment of a close boarded fence would be replaced with a wall
which should be Cotswold stone

- The scheme is contrary to Policy 1 of the WNDP because it does not conserve or
enhance the AONB

4.3  Conservation Officer — No objection.

4.4 Highways Officer — No objection.

5. Third Party Comments/Observations

5.1 Full copies of all the representation responses are available online at
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/.

5.2  The application has been publicised through the neighbour notification letters and two letters
of representation have been received (one in support and one in objection) Comments are
summarised below:

- The development would encourage on street parking, on an already busy road
- The roof extension is out of keeping with other properties in the area
- The extension would overshadow and result in a loss of light to the gardens of No’s
14 and 16
6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations
6.1 Statutory Duty

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

125


https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this
application:

National quidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) — Adopted 11
December 2017

Policy SD4 (Design Requirements)

Policy SD7 (AONB)

Policy SD8 (Historic Environment)

Policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality)
Policy INF1 (Transport Network)

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (TBLP) — Adopted 8 June 2022

Policy RES10 (Extensions and Alterations to Existing Dwellings)
Policy LAN2 (Landscape Character)

Policy ENV2 (Flood Risk and Water Management)

Policy TRAC9 (Parking Provision)

Policy HER1 (Conservation Areas)

Woodmancote Neighbourhood Development Plan 2020-2031 — Adopted 20 June 2023

Policy 1 (Cotswolds Ares of Outstanding Natural Beauty)
Policy 5 (Water Management Statements)

Policy 6 (Design of SUDS)

Policy 7 (Natural Flood Management)

Policy 8 (Flooding on roads in the AONB)

Policy 9 (Design)

Cotswold National Landscape Management Plan 2023-2025

Policy Context

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that proposals be
determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the Local
Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as
material to the application, and to any other material considerations.

The Development Plan currently comprises the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2017), the
Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan to 2011-2031 (June 2022) (TBLP), and a number of 'made'
Neighbourhood Development Plans.

The relevant policies are set out in the appropriate sections of this report.

Other material policy considerations include national planning guidance contained within the

National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and its associated Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG), the National Design Guide (NDG) and National Model Design Code.

126



Evaluation

8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

8.8

Design and Visual Amenity

JCS Policy SD4 of the Joint Core Strategy sets out requirements for high quality design while
Local Plan Policy RES10 provides that development must respect the character, scale and
proportion of the existing dwelling and the surrounding development. Policy 9 of the WNDP
echoes the same requirements.

The existing dwelling is of a contemporary design, which is generally a departure from the
character and appearance of dwellings within the local area which typically features
bungalows and other traditional-style homes.

The ground floor extension would assimilate well with the layout and design of the dwelling,
marginally increasing the internal floor space and creating a utility room, as well as changing
the covered parking area into a formal garage. The extension is proposed to be stepped in
from the boundary and thus the eastern boundary fence would remain intact, and the
elevations are proposed to be finished in a buff coloured brick. Whilst this is a departure from
the materials exhibited on the remainder of the dwelling, given the position of the extension
which would be concealed from views by virtue of its scale, orientation and boundary
treatments, this is considered to be acceptable.

Turning to the first storey extension, this would be constructed in two main parts; a flat roofed
connecting feature which would be a landing, and a mono-pitched addition — both of which
would be constructed within the envelope of the existing building. The extension would be in
keeping with the style and form of the existing dwelling, and its proportions would create
sufficient balance and dimension which would respect the character and appearance of the
existing dwelling. Furthermore, the use of materials would match that of the existing dwelling
and thus the extension would assimilate well within this context.

As referenced above, the extensions would be in keeping with the existing dwelling and
would thus accord with Policies SD4, RES10 and Policy 9 of the NDP in this regard.

Impact on the Cotswold National Landscape

JCS Policy SD7 of the Joint Core Strategy sets out that developments are required to
conserve and, where appropriate, enhance the landscape, scenic beauty, cultural heritage
and other special qualities in an AONB.

Whilst the site is not located within the Cotswold National Landscape, the eastern boundary
directly abuts its extents and thus the development has the potential to affect its setting. In
any event, when viewed within the context of the existing dwelling it is considered that the
extensions would appropriately conserve the special qualities of the National Landscape in
accordance with Policy SD7 and Policy 1 of the NDP.

Impact on Heritage Assets (Listed Building and Conservation Area)

Whilst the site is not located within Woodmancote Conservation Area, it is in close proximity
to it. In determining planning applications, Section 16(2) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 require the Council to have regard to the
desirability of preserving listed buildings and their features of special architectural or historic
interest and to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of the conservation area. The proposal must also be assessed
against section 16 of the NPPF, JCS Policy SD8 and Policy HER1 of the Local Plan.

127



8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

When viewed within the context of the existing modern dwelling, it is not considered that the
extensions would result in any harm to the setting of the nearby Conservation Area thereby
safeguarding its historic significance in accordance with Policies SD8 and HER1 The

Councils Conservation Officer has been consulted and raises no objection to the proposals.

Residential Amenity

Policy SD14 of the JCS requires that new development must cause no harm to local amenity
including the amenity of neighbouring occupants. Local Plan Policy RES10 provides that
extensions to existing dwellings should not have an unacceptable impact on adjacent property
and residential amenity.

The site is surrounded to the south, west and north by residential neighbours and as such
the impact of the development upon their amenity has been carefully considered. By virtue of
the scale of the single storey extension, it is not considered that this would result in any
adverse impact to any nearby neighbours.

Likewise, the first storey extension which would be built within the envelope of the existing
building would not overshadow nor result in a loss of light to neighbouring properties or their
gardens and neither would there be any further concerns in terms of bulk, scale, massing
(overbearing), loss of privacy or overlooking.

As referenced above, it is considered that the development would appropriately safeguard
the amenities of nearby neighbours in accordance with Policies SD14 and RES10.

Highways Impact

Policy INF1 of the JCS sets out that permission shall only be granted where the impact of
development is not considered to be severe. It further states that safe and efficient access to
the highway network should be provided for all transport means.

Whilst the development would result in the reconfiguration of the existing parking
arrangement, by changing the covered parking area into a formal garage, there would still be
sufficient space for the applicant to park vehicles within their property.

Furthermore, although the extension would result in the creation of an additional ensuite
bedroom resulting in a 4-bedroom dwelling, it is not considered that the use would intensify
to such a degree to warrant justification for additional parking. The Local Highway Authority
have been consulted who raise no objection to the development as proposed; and likewise,
no conditions have been proposed.

As referenced above, it is considered that the impact of the development upon the highway
network would not be severe in accordance with Policy INF1.

Conclusion

9.1

9.2

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that, if regard is to be
had to the development plan, the determination must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless other material circumstances indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of
the Act provides that the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to the provisions of the
development plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material
considerations.

This report finds that the development would be acceptable and in accordance with the
relevant policies of the Development Plan.

128



10. Recommendation

10.1 Given the above, the recommendation is to PERMIT the application subject to the below
conditions.

11. Conditions

1. The works hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date
of this consent.
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved documents:
- Existing and proposed site plan: 813-05, received 6" December 2023
- Proposed floor plans: A668P-813-03, received 6" December 2023
- Proposed elevations and roof plan: A668P-813-04, received 6" December 2023
;except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached to this permission.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans

3. The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the first floor extension
shall match those used in the existing dwelling.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is in keeping with the existing dwelling.

4, The brick colour to be used in the external elevations of the ground floor extension shall match
in colour to the stones used in the facade of the main dwelling.
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is in keeping with the existing dwelling.

5. The first floor ensuite window on the eastern elevation shall be fitted with, and retained in,
obscure glazing (Pilkington Level 4 or equivalent).
Reason: To protect the privacy of host dwelling.

12. Informatives

1 In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to

determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application
advice, publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing to the council's website
relevant information received during the consideration of the application thus enabling the
applicant to be kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.

129






S0-€18

Nsd W3

AINOIHD NMYMa

€v © 00G:L €2 0L 8L
IIVOS 31va

pasodo.d puy bunsix3 sy
Sueid %00|g B 8IS

suonesaly [euie| pue
uoisua}x3 pasodoid

NOILJIEOS3a

aose 2519
weyusypyg
8)0OUBLUPOOAA
suspie Asl1aaag vz |
Juu
LrP0C TIZI0 0L
OHL £5719
WeUH )
peoy ueg iy
P WRWRINUD NS¢
NS Seean2 ey v
10931yd4e
suoisiney orQ |9y
anss| jsd €20

P i AR

£V O 0054

wos

00S: 1 (NV1d MD019) NV1d 3LIS - pasodoid

=

N S S R

00S:1 (NV1d ¥D019) NV1d 3LIS - Bunsix3a

e
| 1 ,u\)/\v
,ﬁl,,\

\

=
s

131

E S = 5




05 NYd 30074 (14'1+) LS4 - Bugsng @ 1574 NY'1d 300714 (140 ONNOYD - Bursay @

: ; wEIRY Yum paaisibas
e 920001 PAIURYD © S| PIT WRYUINYD HSd _ % <m — m
MSd

132

L
A




054 NV 30014 (143+) 1544 - pasodoy @ 054 NV1d 4004 (15°0) ONIOYD - posodaig @

§ ; VEIY Yum paiaisibar
i A0 PAIURYD @ | P WeYUAND HSd _ ;*‘F <m —.m
NSd




20-€18-d899v

Asd HA
ODOIHO NS0

we £202 903
AVIR04 uva

ONILSIX3
ONINNYId

SUOLEIGE PUON| U
uosLaNa desodud

NOWLIRIDS 30
Qo6 2519
weyuapLD

8J0OUBWIPOOM
suapien AaiPaeg vzZ1L

U

e —— r— o,

uuoa_:u._a.

S84

=
s vty | >
-0y DRy ™Y
23 s -
AU SIS
] - -

001:4 —
wg § v n zZ v w
SNF 0 e P e ";*i g e P wag Swon) fnd
]“] Il bumyl hoseg . g e o0 ey s
we 2 ' wo
T e ey s o |
rtmy i o et v
e o R e et o 1% ot
o b e i s e nlll.""
e e o)
s o st o410 v 8 s b .

YD NSd

VAT

008 ¥-¥ NOLLO3S - Buns3

0044 NOLLVAZNS (HINON) INOY: - unisg

e
[

0014 NOILVAZT3 (HLNOS) M3y - Bunsy

00K NV1d d00Y - Bujena | .
mw

.........................

S (g

I
n
i
)
|5
\l}‘\l :
134

........................

wow | woogpemam g
oyl N lag v EL L e
001} NOLLYA3 13 (Lsv3) 3ars - Bunsk"
L3
s - T B § L
MY L) —d
T -

EEEE |

.J- —;
. o | ol ot | -
Do oy - W ) e ey gyl S oy QA o) wegy e,

0044 NOLLYAZ T3 (1S3M) 3018 - Bunea




$0-€18-d899V VOl G pasifar |
DNORIC PAIIURYD €SI PIT WeYUdRYD WSd |

ASd HA
AIOIHO NMYHO

we £202 do3

AVIE04 uUvo

Q3S0d0o¥d #
ONINNYd

SuoteIale PusB| pue
UOBUBND DEsOdUId

NOLLIRIZSI0

Q06 2519
weyuapyd
SJ00URWIPOOM
suapies Asianeg vzL

Juu

carvs ok m
oL 510
]
ey well iy

) D

e m— r—,

32931ydaE

S84

T il

T

€044 NOLLVAZT3 (LS3M) 301S - pasodid

135







PLANNING APPEALS RECEIVED (05/02/2024 - 01/03/2024)

Appeal TBC Planning .
Start Date Number Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address Appeal Procedure
Retention of the change of use of existing paddock to Paddock Cottage .
. . . . . Written
13-Feb-24 22/01217/FUL | APP/G1630/W/23/3330019 residential curtilage. Erection of a carport with home Church Lane .
) . Representations
office above. The Leigh
. . Paddock Cottage .
h f fl f | I w
13-Feb-24 | 23/00212/ENFC | APP/G1630/C/23/333a967 | Unauthorised change of use of land from agricultural use Church Lane ritten
to residential garden. . Representations
The Leigh
Land Adjoining 21 Written
16-Feb-24 22/01108/FUL | APP/G1630/W/23/3330525 Erection of self-build bungalow Wenlock Road .
Representations
Tewkesbury
(.3 The Cott
~ . N . . e Cottage .
I | hTh w
19-Feb-24 22/00378/FUL APP/G1630/W/23/3330110 Erection of storage building on land associated wit e Buckland rltten.
Cottage Broadway Representations

/. Wa}| epuaby



PLANNING APPEALS DECIDED (05/02/2024 - 01/03/2024)

description).

ATIEEEL TBC Plannin
Decision Appeal Decision J Inspectorate Number Proposal Site Address
Number
Date
The erection of up to 85 dwellings with public
open space, landscaping and sustainable
21-Feb-24 App.eal AIIOV\{ed 22/01343/0UT APP/G1630/W/23/3326538 drainage system (SuDS)..AII matters reserv.ed Land At Che.stnut Tree Farm
planning permitted except for means of vehicular and pedestrian Twigworth
access from Sandhurst Lane and a pedestrian
access on to the A38.
Unauthorised residential use of timber Plot 8 Warren Fruit Farm
26-Feb-24 Appeal Withdrawn 19/00141/ECOU APP/G1630/C/23/3330892 agricultural building - s191 CLE application in Evesham Road
progress Greet
IC'B Unauthorised residential use of timber Plot 7 Warren Fruit Farm
Qo26-Feb-24 Appeal Withdrawn 19/00139/ECOU APP/G1630/C/23/3330890 agricultural building - s191 CLE application in Evesham Road
progress Greet
Lawful Residential use of an agricultural building Plot 7 Warren Fruit Farm
26-Feb-24 Appeal Withdrawn 23/00329/CLE APP/G1630/X/23/3331024 for a period in excess of four years (amended Evesham Road
description). Greet
Lawful Residential use of an agricultural building Plot 8 Warren Fruit Farm
26-Feb-24 Appeal Withdrawn 23/00285/CLE APP/G1630/X/23/3332492 for a period in excess of four years (amended Evesham Road

Greet




	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6a 23/00930/OUT - Part Parcel 4256, Homedowns, Tewkesbury
	23.00930.OUT - Part Parcel 4256 Homedowns Tewkesbury - Plans

	6b 23/00964/FUL - Land Adjacent Shurdington House Stables, Main Road, Shurdington
	23.00964.FUL - Land Adj Shurdington House Stables - Plans

	6c 22/01220/FUL - Land Off Old Gloucester Road and South Part Parcel 5800, Old Gloucester Road, Boddington
	22.01220.FUL - Land Off Old Gloucester Road - Plans

	6d 23/01132/FUL - 12A Beverley Gardens , Woodmancote
	23.01132.FUL - 12A Beverley Gardens Woodmancote - Plans

	7 Current Appeals and Appeal Decisions Update



